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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_NFE+_A=+—HILFE

Notes 2024 2023 % Change
M —B-mE —T-o=4 SHEHL

Results E
HK$'000 FAETT
Revenue g %5 110,776 101,560 9.1%
Loss before income tax brETSH AT BE (6,715) (2,085)  N/AT i A
Loss for the year attributable REERRQ AR

to equity shareholders of the IR R FE (GBS 1R

Company (7,496) (8,290) N/AMEF
Assets and Liabilities EEHAE
HK$'000 FHET
Total assets wEE 109,979 120,380 (8.6%)
Total liabilities FEE=R 145,657 143,833 1.3%
Shareholders’ deficit % B At (35,678) (23,453) N/AT @A
Per share data BREE
HK cents Bl
Basic loss HAREE (0.69) (0.76) (9.2%)
Diluted loss BEEE NATER  NATEB NATERB
HK$ BT
Net asset value BEFHE (0.03) (0.02) NATEM
Financial Ratio Bt
Current ratio mENLE = 1 0.15 0.13 15.4%
Quick ratio RB) B K 2 0.15 0.13 15.4%
Notes: B
1) Current ratio represents current assets divided by current liabilities. 1) B RIERBEERIUARHAER -
2)  Quick ratio represents current assets excluding inventories divided by 2) RELRIETBRIEFENRDEERIARBERE -

current liabilities.
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DNREH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS Exg
Executive directors HITES

Mr. Choi Yun Chor (Chairman) BB E (FE)
Mr. Chen Jian PR {2 % &

Mr. Tai Kwok Keung Kenny o8 S A&
Ms. Hung Wang Kai Grace HEREZLT
Independent non-executive directors BAFEHITES
Ms. Lai Cheuk Yu Cherrie Rzt
Mr. Huang Xiangyang mMGEE
Mr. Ngok Ho Wai AR E
AUDIT COMMITTEE EREEg
Mr. Ngok Ho Wai AR
Ms. Lai Cheuk Yu Cherrie Rzt
Mr. Huang Xiangyang E=RGEE
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE FNEEE
Mr. Huang Xiangyang mmGEE
Ms. Lai Cheuk Yu Cherrie Rt
Mr. Ngok Ho Wai AR E
NOMINATION COMMITTEE IRBELTET
Ms. Lai Cheuk Yu Cherrie Rzt
Mr. Huang Xiangyang E=RGEE
Mr. Ngok Ho Wai AR
COMPANY SECRETARY NEME

Mr. Lam Yiu Cho PRRAE S A



AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Choi Yun Chor
Mr. Lam Yiu Cho

REGISTERED OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE
OF BUSINESS

Unit 3002, 30/F, Workington Tower,
78 Bonham Strand East,
Sheung Wan, Hong Kong

AUDITORS

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors
8/F ., Catic Plaza, 8 Causeway Road
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

STOCK CODE

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited: 2310

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.timesuniversal.com

RRRREEEZERERAR | —F-NFRH

CORPORATE INFORMATION
ANCI-EE

BEHERE

EHEIKE
Mg T

RMBERER T BRI
BELR

SRR 78 5%
EREHEANE301E3002 =
1% 25 B
AR (EE) @AM EBHBRAT
#ﬂ% D

2 RN 52 B R 2D

Eﬁéfﬂf@/a
SLEBSEMEAESE

i P ERE

—$—1:t %ﬁuaﬁﬁﬁ

BE

BERE 165

ERETRPL17E

B 4 X 5%
EBBERIABR AR 2310
YNESTEBiS

www.timesuniversal.com



TIMES UNIVERSAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2024

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ETREHRES

YEAR UNDER REVIEW

Times Universal Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) faced
a lot of challenges from the external market environment in
the past year. Resulted from the slow economic recovery, the
Group still recorded a loss. However, through the efforts of the
managements, the steady growth of the operation of a resort
(the “Hotel Operation”) in Canada and new development of
properties management (the “Properties Management”) in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and the management of
kitchen for, management of delivery quality ingredients to, PRC
customers (the “Catering Management”) have strengthened
the confidence of the Group to become an integrated property-
related service provider and investor. Management will continue
to pursue new projects and expand the feature through different
investment methods. Upon the full recovery of the hospitality
industry, the Group will continue to explore new opportunities
of Hotel Operation, Properties Management and Catering
Management.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Revenue represents mainly the revenue from Hotel Operation
and Properties Management, which account for approximately
54.6% and 37.1%, respectively, of total revenue of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 (“FY2024").
Revenues increased by approximately 9.1% or HK$9.2 million
from approximately HK$101.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 (“FY2023") to approximately HK$110.8 million
for FY2024. Such increase was mainly due to the increase in
revenue from the Hotel Operation. The net loss of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$7.5 million for FY2024, as
compared to approximately HK$8.3 million for FY2023.
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PROSPECTS

The revenue from Hotel Operation in Canada increased by
approximately 7.6% and the Hotel Operation occupancy rate
remained relatively stable of approximately 83.9% in FY2024
(FY2023: 83.8%), while the average daily room rate improved
by approximately 4.5% from approximately CAD310 in FY2023
to approximately CAD324 in FY2024. Meanwhile, the Properties
Management continues to expand its business and grow steadily
in revenue, with annual increment of approximately 5.9%.
With the recovery of the PRC economy, the market potential
is increasing, bringing us various business opportunities. Our
management team will seize the chance and explore new
business opportunities constantly to deliver stable returns to our
shareholders.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”), | would like to
express sincere thanks and appreciation to our Shareholders,
business partners, and dedicated senior management, as well as
staff, for their continued support and valuable attributions to the
Group.

CHOI Yun Chor
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEN R DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue and Segment Information

The revenue of the Group represents the revenue from operation
of a resort in Canada (the “Hotel Operation”), properties
management (the “Properties Management”) in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) and the management of kitchen
for, and management of delivering quality ingredients to, PRC
customers (the “Catering Management”). Revenue increased
by approximately HK$9.2 million or 9.1% from approximately
HK$101.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
(“FY2023") to approximately HK$110.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (“FY2024"). Such increase was
mainly due to the increase in revenue from the Hotel Operation.
The revenue from Properties Management and Catering
Management also recorded an increase in FY2024.

Gross Profit

The gross profit of the Group increased by approximately
HK$2.8 million or 11.2% from approximately HK$25.5 million
for FY2023 to approximately HK$28.3 million for FY2024. The
increase in gross profit, with better control on direct costs by
the Hotel Operation was mainly due to the increase in revenue,
while the gross profit margin of the Group maintained stable at
approximately 25.1% for FY2023 and approximately 25.6% for
FY2024.

Other Income, Gain and Losses, net

Other income, gain and losses of the Group amounted to a net
gain of approximately HK$0.06 million for FY2024 as compared
to a net gain of approximately HK$2.5 million for FY2023. The
change was mainly due to no recognition of gain on settlement
of bond for FY2024 and also a decrease in net exchange gain of
approximately HK$1.1 million for FY2024.

Administrative Expenses

The administrative expenses of the Group increased by
approximately HK$1.6 million or 5.8% from approximately
HK$27.1 million for FY2023 to approximately HK$28.6
million for FY2024, which was mainly due to the increase in
depreciation expenses of property, plant and equipment incurred
in the segment of Hotel Operation.

Bt %55 1o FR

W & K 5 B & #

REBEMBEEENERLEE —BERBEE
(BERKE]) EHPEARLME ([FE])
ETUXERE ((MEEBR) LATPEEFREE
BRELREREEERMMEE (EBREE) W
Wi - WEREBE T _=F+_A=+—H
HFFE(ZZ2-=MBFE]) £101,600,000
7 TTIE AN 499,200,000 TEK9.1% BE = —
“TWNFE+_A=+—BUEFE(=Z==-0
BEE]) #110,800,000/8 7T c ZEMEE 2
ARNBELEERNREIEMAAR - MEBTERE
REEHRER NP RFENEREIEERE -

EF

AEENENB T _ZHRFED
25,500,000 7% 7T 48 71 49 2,800,000 7% JT 8
11.2% %= = F — P4 & BR 4 € %9 28,300,000 7
TCo MMM MIEHIBEEENEERAN £
FI3E 0 222 e A MRS IR 0 - T A SR A K
BRERE R-T_=MRBREFEOR251% KR
R-ZF N BFEL525.6% °

Hidg N\ ~ W & R G185 8

AAEENHEMBWA  KEkEBEAEME  ©
— T BB E A R aE% BR 4 /5 60,00078
T MR T =MBRFEARREFED
2,500,000/ T - ZEHETERHAN —FT -

MRFELERREEGEF RS M _F M
R B 6 T2 BE 3 Wes % B8 TR 2> 49 1,100,000 78
T e

1T B 32

AEBNTBRRAXA T _=—FRFED
27,100,000 7T 3% A1 49 1,600,000 7% 7T 3% 5.8%
2T M HFEL 286000008 T 8
HRNBEERE D MEENYE BB RRET
EREmM -



RRRREEEZERERAR | —F-NFRH

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Provision/Reversal of Impairment Losses under
Expected Credit Loss Model, Net

The provision of impairment loss recognised under expected
credit loss model of the Group amounted to approximately
HK$3.7 million for FY2024 as compared to the reversal of
impairment losses recognised under expected credit loss of
the Group of approximately HK$1.4 million for FY2023. The
change was due to the factors including the age and nature of
the accounts and historical payment collection pattern, and also
the changes in business, financial, and economic conditions
anticipated to increase in the credit risk by the Properties
Management segment and Catering Management segment.

Impairment Loss Recognised on Intangible
Assets

No impairment loss on intangible assets was recognised for
FY2024. The impairment loss recognised on intangible assets of
the Group of approximately HK$0.2 million for FY2023 was due
to one of the cash-generating units, comprising Nuofute Property
Management Co., Ltid.* (EE# B FWEEEBR A F]) (the
“Nuofute CGU") under the Properties Management segment has
been underperformed.

Impairment Loss Recognised on Goodwill

No impairment loss on goodwill was recognised for FY2024. The
impairment loss recognised on goodwill for FY2023 was due to
one cash-generating unit of the Group, comprising Chongging
Ailuojia Technology Service Limited* (B E & /8 X B & R 1E
B BR A &) (“Chongging Ailuojia”) and its subsidiaries in the
Properties Management segment (the “Chengging Ailuojia CGU”)
was underperformed during the FY2023.

Finance Costs

The finance costs of the Group decreased by approximately
HK$0.4 million or 11.2% from approximately HK$3.1 million
for FY2023 to approximately HK$2.8 million for FY2024, which
was mainly due to the reduction in the principal of the secured
loan and a decrease in effective interest rate during FY2024 as
compared to FY2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEN R DN

Income Tax Expense

The income tax expense of the Group amounted to approximately
HK$0.8 million for FY2024, as compared to approximately
HK$6.2 million for FY2023. Income tax expense mainly
represented the PRC enterprise income tax for our properties
management business in the PRC.

Loss for the Year

As a result, the Group recorded a net loss of approximately
HK$7.5 million for FY2024, as compared to approximately
HK$8.3 million for FY2023.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s net current liabilities
and current ratio were approximately HK$118.0 million and
0.15 times, respectively (net current liabilities and current ratio
in 2023: approximately HK$117.3 million and 0.13 times,
respectively).

Trade receivables

The net trade receivables of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$8.4 million as at 31 December 2024, as
compared to approximately HK$5.6 million as at 31 December
2023. As at 26 March 2025, being the latest practicable date for
ascertaining subsequent settlement of trade receivables of the
Group as at 31 December 2024, approximately HK$3.3 million
was settled.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s trade receivables
amounted to approximately HK$23.3 million and the allowance
for credit losses amounted to approximately HK$14.9 million,
representing approximately 64.1% of the trade receivables (31
December 2023: 69.1%). The Group considered that the loss
allowance were adequate due to (i) the credit loss allowance was
made based on the experiences of the management of the Group
and past default rate of customers; (ii) for trade receivables
which is overdue for more than 151 days, the Group has adopted
expected loss rate of approximately 100%. For further details of
credit risk and impairment assessment of the Group, please refer
to note 6b to the consolidated financial statements of the Group
as set out in this annual report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

For all the outstanding trade receivables, including those fully
written off and fully impaired, the Group has performed the
following procedures, including but not limited to, (i) visiting
the customers physically for the collection of outstanding
trade receivables; and/or (ii) commencing legal proceeding
procedures.

Net Gearing Ratio

The Group recorded total deficit of approximately HK$35.7
million as at 31 December 2024 and approximately HK$23.5
million as at 31 December 2023. The net gearing ratio was
measured by net debt (including secured loan, loans from a
controlling shareholder, and bonds, and deducting cash and
cash equivalents) over total equity.

Charge on Assets

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s land and buildings
held for own use of approximately HK$71.8 million (2023:
approximately HK$79.5 million) were pledged to secure banking
facilities granted to the Group.

Capital Structure

For FY2024, the Group financed its liquidity requirements
through a combination of cash flow as generated from
operations, secured loan, bonds and loans from the controlling
shareholder.

Capital Commitment and Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has capital commitments in
relation to unpaid registered capital for subsidiaries amounted to
approximately HK$17.0 million (2023: HK$15.3 million).

The Directors confirm that there were no material contingent
liabilities as at 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$NIl).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEN R DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

Hotel Operation

Revenue from Hotel Operation accounted for approximately
54.6% of the total revenue. Hotel occupancy rate remained
relatively stable at 83.9% in 2024 and 83.8% in 2023 and
the average daily rate increased from Canadian Dollar (“CAD”)
310 in 2023 to CAD324 in 2024. The revenue of the Hotel
Operation was increased by approximately HK$4.3 million from
approximately HK$56.2 million in FY2023 to approximately
HK$60.5 million in FY2024.

Properties Management

Revenue from Properties Management amounted to
approximately HK$41.1 million in FY2024, representing an
increase of 5.9% comparing to approximately HK$38.8 million in
FY2023.

Catering Management

Revenue from Catering Management amounted to approximately
HK$9.2 million, representing an increase of approximately
40.9% comparing to approximately HK$6.6 million in FY2023.

Staff and Remuneration Policy

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had approximately 436
employees, including 263 based in the PRC, 8 based in Hong
Kong and 165 based in Canada. Staff costs of the Group were
approximately HK$47.6 million for FY2024, representing an
increase of approximately HK$0.4 million as compared to
approximately HK$47.2 million of FY2023, which was relatively
stable.

Employee remuneration is determined in accordance with
prevailing industry practice and employees’ performance and
experience. Employees are also entitled to other staff benefits
including medical insurance and mandatory provident fund.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Foreigh Exchange Fluctuation and Hedge

The Group is not subject to material foreign currency exposure
since its operations in the PRC and Canada are mainly
denominated in RMB and CAD respectively and the Group’s
revenue and operating costs in the PRC and Canada are
denominated in the functional currency of the Group’s entity
generating the sales or incurring the costs. Accordingly, the
Directors consider that the currency risk is not significant. As
such, no hedging instrument is considered necessary by the
Board during the year. The directors will monitor the Group’s
exposure on an ongoing basis and will consider hedging the
currency risk should the need arise.

During FY2023 and FY2024, the Group did not enter into any
forward foreign currency contracts.

The Auditor’'s Report

The Company’s auditor has issued a qualified opinion on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements for FY2024. The
basis of the qualified opinion referred to limitation of scope on
comparative figures and related disclosures in relation to the
inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
share of loss of an associate and impairment loss reversed on
interest in an associate for the year ended 31 December 2023.
Please refer to the independent auditor’s report as set out in this
annual report for further details. The Group hereby sets forth the
response to the basis of qualified opinion.

Limitation of scope on comparative figures and
related disclosures

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2023, which form the basis for the
comparative figures presented in the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024, was modified
by the Company’s auditor because of the possible effect of the
limitation of scope as follows.
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EEEN R DN

The carrying amount of the Group’s interest in an associate, Total
Blossom Sdn Bhd (“Tetal Blessom”), amounted to approximately
HK$Nil as at 31 December 2023, and share of loss of an
associate amounted to approximately HK$1,115,000 and
reversal of impairment loss recognised on interest in an associate
amounted to approximately HK$1,115,000 for the year ended 31
December 2023. For the details please refer to the section “basis
for qualified opinion” of the independent auditor’s report on page
97.

The Company’s auditor concurred with the view of the Directors
and the Audit Committee that if the result for the coming audit
is satisfactory, the qualified opinion regarding limitation of scope
on comparative figures and related disclosures will be removed
in the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
financial year ending 31 December 2025.

Prospects

The revenue from Hotel Operation in Canada increased by
approximately 7.6% and the Hotel Operation occupancy rate
remained relatively stable of approximately 83.9% in FY2024
(FY2023: 83.8%), while the average daily room rate improved
by approximately 4.5% from approximately CAD310 in FY2023
to approximately CAD324 in FY2024. Meanwhile, the Properties
Management continues to expand its business and grow steadily
in revenue, with annual increment of approximately 5.9%.
With the recovery of the PRC economy, the market potential
is increasing, bringing us various business opportunities. Our
management team will seize the chance and explore new
business opportunities constantly to deliver stable returns to our
shareholders.

*

For identification purpose only
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE AND
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Corporate Governance Code

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance to safeguard the interests of shareholders
of the Company and to enhance corporate value and
accountability. The Company has adopted the code provisions
set out in Part 2 of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code”) contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules on the
Stock Exchange as its own code of corporate governance. The
Company has been in compliance with the code provisions of the
CG Code during FY2024.

Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of
conduct for securities transactions by Directors. The Company
has made specific enquiries to all Directors and all Directors
have confirmed that they have strictly complied with the Model
Code during FY2024.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this report, the overall management of the
Company is vested in its Board, which comprises seven
members, coming from diverse businesses and professional
backgrounds. The biographical details of the directors are set
out under the section “Directors” on pages 83 to 86 of this
annual report. The Board currently comprises executive directors
Mr. Choi Yun Chor (Chairman), Mr. Chen Jian, Mr. Tai Kwok
Keung Kenny and Ms. Hung Wang Kai Grace, and independent
non-executive directors Ms. Lai Cheuk Yu Cherrie, Mr. Huang
Xiangyang and Mr. Ngok Ho Wai.

The Board meets at least four times annually to review business
development and overall strategic policies.

TRERRES

"

i

>
of
: }
&
>
i3
1
of
ik
&

%
SEBNEFSKINEEER  ARER
RIBCRM A - WRACEEERBEEE -
NAEDRAB R ETARAMERCIAE
XERTA(TREEARTHD F_MoHT
IR EREBEMEEERTH - ARF]
—ECNMBFEAE BEETERER
T Rl E <7 AR ST

m

1

32 o
ii=larn

>

N

7

ZOME B M

A %

EEETRSFSRINEFETH

ARR DA LT RS C3FrEt o L &
TAERETEFRRZNEEST ) ([FRESF
Al - EREEFETEFR SR TER -
ARBICAMBESFHEEER MHEE
EYER HER_ZT_NHRFEERKRE
SPIRAEST A -

EEg

RAREAY  ARRZERBREEREFER
B B EFShtEKEEAK  REHEA
TRTERBRER - EFBREFRHNALFE
WEBIEBAIES| - -EFEKERA
BRATESSFBENELE(XFE)  Rigxs -
HEREE MR RERL  ARBYIFRITE
ERSMEL BRBEEREANREE

EZgEFRLBTHREE U EKE



TIMES UNIVERSAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2024

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERKRES

To facilitate the operation of the Board, the Board has
established a schedule of matters reserved for its approval.
The specific responsibilities reserved for the Board include (a)
setting the Group’s strategy and dividend policy; (b) approving
budgets and reviewing operational and financial performance; (c)
approving major investments and divestments; (d) reviewing the
internal control system of the Group; (e) ensuring appropriate
management development and succession plans in place; (f)
approving appointments of and remuneration policy for Directors
and other senior executives; (g) approving corporate social
responsibility policies; and (h) ensuring effective communication
with shareholders.

For the financial reporting accountability, the Board has an
ultimate responsibility for preparing the consolidated financial
statements. In preparing the consolidated financial statements,
the Board has ensured that (a) the generally accepted
accounting standards in Hong Kong have been adopted; (b)
appropriate accounting policies have been used and applied
consistently; and (c) reasonable and prudent judgments and
estimates have been made.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group incurred
a loss of approximately HK$7.5 million and, as of 31 December
2024, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets
by approximately HK$118.0 million, and the Group has net
liabilities of approximately HK$35.7 million. Such conditions
indicate the existence of material uncertainty which may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, and thus, the Group may not be able to realise its
assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of
business.

The Group continues to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing its consolidated financial statements. In order to
improve the Group’s financial positions, liquidity and cash flows,
the directors have adopted or shall adopt the following measures:

(i)  reviewing the business operations of the Group to improve
our efficiency;

(i) negotiating with creditors to extend repayment period;
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(i) reviewing its existing investments and business
opportunities and actively considering to develop new
business in order to enhance the cash flow of the Group;

(iv) actively considering to realise other loss making investment
or terminate loss making businesses;

(v) obtained a confirmation from the immediate holding
company not to demand repayment of the amount due
from the Group to the immediate holding company, which
is wholly-owned by the Controlling Shareholder, as at 31
December 2024, unless the repayment would not affect the
ability of the Group to repay other creditors in the normal
course of business; and

(vi) obtained a loan agreement for facilities of up to
HK$65,000,000 from the immediate holding company in
favour of the Group to provide continuing financial support
to the Group.

The Directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow projections
prepared by the management, which covers a period of not
less than twelve months from 31 December 2024, on the
basis that the Group’s aforementioned plans and measures will
be successful, the Directors believe that the Group will have
sufficient cash resources to satisfy its future working capital
and other financing requirements as and when they fall due in
the next twelve months from the end of the reporting period.
Accordingly, the Directors believe that the Group will continue as
a going concern and therefore consider it is appropriate to adopt
a going concern basis in preparing its consolidated financial
statements.

Being part of good corporate governance practices, a number
of board committees have been established. These committees
include four corporate governance related committees namely
the Remuneration Committee, the Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee, as well as one ad hoc committee namely
the Independent Board Committee, which is responsible for
advising the matters in relation to the continuing connected
transactions. These committees operate within specific terms of
reference as prepared by the Company and report their work and
findings to the Board regularly.
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APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL
OF DIRECTORS

The Nomination Committee as a whole is responsible for
reviewing the Board composition, developing and formulating
the relevant procedures for nomination and appointment of
directors of the Company, monitoring the appointment and
succession planning of directors of the Company and assessing
the independence of independent non-executive directors of the
Company. Each of the executive directors is appointed with no
fixed term of service. The appointment may be terminated by not
less than one months’ written notice or payment in lieu of such
notice. Each of the independent non-executive directors has
entered into a service contract with the Company for a specific
term of three years and is subject to retirement by rotation
once every three years. And they should be re-appointed at any
annual general meeting of the Company during their term of
office. The appointment may be terminated by not less than one
month’s written notice or payment in lieu of such notice.

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association, one
third of the directors of the Company are subject to retirement
by rotation every year and any new director appointed to fill
a causal vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall submit
himself/herself for re-election by shareholders at the first general
meeting or the first annual general meeting respectively after
appointment. The Nomination Committee reviews the structure,
size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and
experience) of the Board regularly to ensure that the Board has
a balance of expertise, skills and experience appropriate for the
requirements of the business of the Company. Where vacancies
on the Board exist, the Nomination Committee will carry out the
selection process by making reference to the skills, experience,
professional knowledge, personal integrity and time commitments
of the proposed candidates, the Company’s needs and other
relevant statutory requirements and regulations. An external
recruitment agency may be engaged to carry out the recruitment
and selection process where necessary. The recommendations
of the Nomination Committee are then put to the full Board for
decision.

The Nomination Committee recommended the re-appointment of
Mr. Tai Kwok Keung Kenny, Ms. Lai Cheuk Yu Cherrie and Mr.
Huang Xiangyang standing for re-election at the next forthcoming
annual general meeting. The Company’s circular contains
detailed information of the director standing for re-election will be
despatched to shareholders for consideration.
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DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE RECORDS EEHESLH

The attendance records of the directors at Board Meetings, BE_T_MF+_A=+—HLEFEREZE
Audit Committee Meetings, Remuneration Committee Meetings, AFEBHRN BUBENESSER  BZ
Nomination Committee Meetings and General Meetings during ZEgeR FMNEEegR REZEEE
the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this EERRARG 2 HFELEAT

report are set out below:

Audit Remuneration  Nomination General
Board Committee Committee Committee meeting

Exg ENXZEEE FMEEE REZEE® KRRAKE

Executive directors HITES

Mr. Choi Yun Chor 2HYIEE 6/6 N/A N/A N/A 11
i i A i A

Mr. Chen Jian PR o £ 6/6 N/A N/A N/A 1/1
iE A i A NiE A

Mr. Tai Kwok Keung Kenny BT AE 6/6 N/A N/A N/A 1/1
i A i A i A

Ms. Hung Wang Kai Grace HERERZ L 5/6 N/A N/A N/A 11
TiE A i A NiE A

Independent non-executive BYFHTES

directors
Ms. Lai Cheuk Yu Cherrie REIN+ 6/6 3/3 2/2 2/2 1/1
Mr. Huang Xiangyang =M LA 5/6 3/3 2/2 2/2 11

il

Mr. Ngok Ho Wai 24T] B o 6/6 3/3 2/2 2/2 1/1

€
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four board committees, namely,
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the Independent Board Committee,
for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All
board committees should report to the Board on their decisions
or recommendations made.

A. Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises three
independent non-executive directors, namely, Mr. Ngok Ho
Wai (Committee Chairman), Ms. Lai Cheuk Yu Cherrie and
Mr. Huang Xiangyang.

The main responsibilities of the Audit Committee are:

1. to monitor the integrity of financial reporting of the
Company;

2. 1o review the internal control and risk management
systems of the Group; and

3. to review the corporate governance practices of the
Company.

There were three Audit Committee meetings held in
FY2024 and up to the date of this report to discuss and
review the following matters:

1.  the annual report and accounts for the years ended
31 December 2023 and 31 December 2024;

2. the interim report and accounts of the Group for the
six months ended 30 June 2024;

3. the Group’s financial controls, internal control and
risk management systems;

4.  the financial reporting and relevant compliance with
external auditor; and

5.  the auditor’'s remuneration and recommended the
Board to re-appoint Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited
as the auditor of the Company for the financial year
ended 31 December 2024, and for the financial year
ending 31 December 2025 which is subject to the
approval of shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.
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The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources
to perform its duties. Latest terms of reference of the Audit
Committee can be viewed on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three
independent non-executive directors, namely, Mr. Huang
Xiangyang (Committee Chairman), Ms. Lai Cheuk Yu
Cherrie and Mr. Ngok Ho Wai.

The major responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee
are:

1. to review the remuneration packages of and
assess the performance of the directors and senior
management;

2. to approve the terms of the executive directors’
service contracts;

3. to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration structure;

4. to review and guide the formulation of the Group’s
remuneration policy for directors and senior
management attributable to performance-driven
compensation commitment as well as market trend
and industry norms;

5. to ensure that no director or any of his associates is
involved in deciding his own remuneration; and

6. to review and/or approve matters relating to share
schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

There were two Remuneration Committee meeting held
in FY2024 and up to the date of this report to review
the remuneration packages of directors and senior
management according to the Group’s employment policy,
nomination policy, remuneration policy, and training and
development policy.

The Remuneration Committee is provided with sufficient
resources to perform its duties. Latest terms of reference
of the Remuneration Committee can be viewed on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Details of the remuneration to the directors on named
basis and five highest paid employees are disclosed in
notes 14 and 15 to the consolidated financial statements,
respectively.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises three
independent non-executive directors, namely, Ms. Lai
Cheuk Yu Cherrie (Committee Chairlady), Mr. Huang
Xiangyang and Mr. Ngok Ho Wai.

The major responsibilities of the Nomination Committee
are:

1. to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of directors;

2. to review the structure, size and composition of the
Board and to ensure fair and transparent procedures
for the appointment or re-appointment of directors;

3. to propose the appointment of such candidates to the
Board for consideration; and

4. to review the qualifications of the relevant candidates
for determining the suitability to the Group on the
basis of his/her qualifications, experience and
background.

There were two Nomination Committee meeting held in
FY2024 and up to the date of this report to discuss and
consider the following matters:

1. the composition of the Board with reference to certain
criteria. These criteria included qualifications required
under the Listing Rules or any other relevant laws
regarding characteristics and skills of the directors,
professional ethics and integrity, appropriate
professional knowledge and industry experience, as
well as ability to devote sufficient time to the work of
the Board and its committees and to participate in all
Board meetings and shareholders’ meetings;

2. the re-appointment of the retiring directors for
re- election at the previous general meeting and the
forthcoming annual general meeting;
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3. procedures for election of directors and by
shareholders; and

4. independence of the independent non-executive
directors.

The Nomination Committee is provided with sufficient
resources to perform its duties. Latest terms of reference of
the Nomination Committee can be viewed on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate
governance duties as required under the CG Code:

1.

to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the directors and senior
officers of the Group;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the codes of conduct
applicable to employees and the directors; and

to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date
of this report, the Board considered the following corporate
governance matters:

1.

review of the compliance with the Code Provisions of the
CG Code; and

review of the effectiveness of the internal controls and
risk management systems of the Group through the Audit
Committee.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company engaged an external professional company
secretarial services provider, AE Majoris Corporate Services
Company Limited, to provide compliance and full range of
company secretarial services to the Group in order to assist the
Group to cope with the changing regulatory environment.

Mr. Lam Yiu Cho, the representative of AE Majoris Corporate
Services Company Limited, was appointed as the Company
Secretary.

Mr. Choi Yun Chor, the chairman and executive Director of
the Company, is the primary corporate contact person at the
Company for the Company Secretary.

According to the requirements of Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules,
Mr. Lam Yiu Cho had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training in FY2024.

TRAINING, INDUCTION AND CONTINUING
DEVELOPMENT FOR DIRECTORS

Each newly appointed director receives a comprehensive and
formal induction to ensure that he/she has an appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Group, his/
her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and
relevant regulatory requirements, the CG Code of the Company
and the Model Code.

Directors are continually updated on developments in the
statutory and regulatory regime and the business environment
to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities. Continuing
briefing and professional development for directors will be
arranged at the expenses of the Company whenever necessary.
The directors are committed to complying with Code Provision.
All directors have participated in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
and provided their training records to the Company.
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The Separate Roles of the Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer

Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. During the year
ended 31 December 2024. Mr. Choi Yun Chor was chairman
of the Company during the period from 1 January 2024 to 31
December 2024. The Company does not maintain the office
of CEO and the duties of CEO have been taken up by other
executive director and senior management of the Company.
As such, the Board considers that sufficient measures have
been taken to ensure that the Company’s corporate governance
practices are comparable to those in the CG Code.

Directors’ Independence

There are no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship(s) among members of the Board.

The directors are given access to independent professional
advice at the Group’s expense, when the directors deem it
necessary in order to carry out their responsibilities.

The Board also advocates the participation of independent non-
executive directors and non-executive directors in various board
committees to safeguard objectivity and independence.

The Company has received the confirmation letters from each
of the independent non-executive directors, confirming their
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers all independent non-executive directors are
independent.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board is overall responsible for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving
the Group’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Group
established and maintained appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems.
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The Audit Committee reviews the risk management and internal
controls that are significant to the Group on an on-going basis.
The Audit Committee would consider the adequacy of resource,
qualifications and experience and training of staff and external
advisor of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting function.

The management of the Group is responsible for designing,
maintaining, implementing and monitoring the risk management
and internal control system to ensure adequate control in place
to safeguard the Group’s assets and stakeholder’s interest.

The Group has established risk management procedures to
address and handle all the significant risks associated with the
business of the Group. The Board would perform an annual
review on any significant change of the business environment
and establish procedures to response to the risks result
from significant change of business environment. The risk
management and internal control systems are designed to
mitigate the potential losses of the business.

Management would identify the risks associated with the
business of the Group by considering both internal and
external factors and events which include political, economic,
technological, environmental, social and staff factors. Each risk
has been assessed and prioritised based on its relevant impact
and occurrence opportunity. The relevant risk management
strategy would be applied to each type of risks according to the
assessment results, and the type of risk management strategy
has been listed as follow:

— Risk retention and reduction: accept the impact of risk or
undertake actions by the Group to reduce the impact of the
risks;

— Risk avoidance: change business process or objective so
as to avoid the risk;

— Risk sharing and diversification: diversify the effect of the
risk or allocate to different location or product or market;

— Risk transfer: transfer ownership and liability to a third
party.
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The internal control systems are designed and implemented to
reduce the risks associated with the business accepted by the
Group and minimise the adverse impact results from the risks.
The risk management and internal control system are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

For FY2024, the Group has engaged an external advisory
firm to undertake the internal audit function to ensure the
effectiveness and efficiency of the risk management and internal
control system of the Group. There is no significant deficiency
and weakness on the internal control system which has been
identified by the external advisory firm for FY2024.

The Board considered that, in FY2024, the risk management
and internal control system and procedures of the Group
covering all material controls including financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management functions were
reasonably effective and adequate.

HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Group has put in place the procedures and internal controls
for the handling and dissemination of inside information. The
Group complies with requirements of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)
and the Listing Rules. The Group discloses inside information
to the public as soon as reasonably practicable unless the
information falls within any of the safe harbours as stated in the
SFO. Before the information is fully disclosed to the public, the
Group ensures the information is kept strictly confidential. If
the Group believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality
cannot be maintained or that confidentiality may have been
breached, the Group would immediately disclose the information
to the public. The Group is committed to ensure that information
contained in announcements or circulars are not false or
misleading as to a material fact, or false or misleading through
the omission of a material fact in view of presenting information
in a clear and balanced way, which requires equal disclosure of
both positive and negative facts.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the Company’s financial statements for FY2024 which reflect
true and fair view of the financial position of the Company and
the Group and in compliance with relevant law and disclosure
provisions of the Listing Rules. The Board is responsible for
presenting a balanced, clear and comprehensible assessment
extends to annual and interim reports, other inside information
announcements and other financial disclosures required under
the Listing Rules.

The Group appointed Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited as the
Group’s external auditor. The statement by Asian Alliance (HK)
CPA Limited regarding their reporting responsibilities to the
shareholders on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group is set out in the Independent Auditor's Report on pages
96 to 108 of this annual report.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited (“Asian Alliance”) is appointed
as the external auditor of the Company and the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the fees paid/payable
to the auditor in respect of audit and non-audit services provided
by Asian Alliance was as follows:
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has the discretion to declare and distribute dividends
to the shareholders of the Company. Any declaration of final
dividends for the year will be subject to the approval of the
Company’s shareholders. In proposing any dividend pay-out, the
Board shall take into account the following factors:

— the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;

— the Group’s expected working capital requirements, capital
expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

— retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Company and each of the members of the Group;

— the Group’s liquidity position;

— general economic conditions and other internal or external
factors that may have impact on the business or financial
performance and position of the Group; and

— any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining effective
communications with shareholders. Annual reports and interim
reports provide shareholders with comprehensive information
of the Group’s operational and financial performances, while
general meetings offer a platform for shareholders to state and
exchange views with the Board directly.

The management continually communicates with analysts and
institutional investors and provides them with up-to-date and
comprehensive information regarding the Group’s development.
The Company practices timely dissemination of information
and makes sure its website www.timesuniversal.com contains
the most latest information, including but not limited to annual
reports, interim reports, announcements, monthly returns and
press releases, and is updated in a timely manner to ensure
transparency.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There were no changes in the articles of association of the
Company during the year under review. The latest version of
the articles of association is available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

A. Convening an Extraordinary General
Meeting by Shareholders

In accordance with section 566 of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong) (the
“Companies Ordinance”), shareholder(s) holding at the
date of the deposit of the requisition at least 5% of the
voting rights at general meetings of the Company, may
request the directors of the Company to convene an
EGM. The written requisition must state the objects of
the meeting and must be signed by the shareholder(s)
concerned and deposited at the registered office of the
Company for the attention of chairman of the Board or the
Company Secretary. The requisition may consist of several
documents in like form, each signed by one or more of the
shareholders concerned.
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If the directors of the Company do not within 21 days from the
date of the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene
an EGM for a date not more than 28 days after the date on
which the notice convening the EGM is given, the shareholder(s)
concerned, or any of them representing more than one-half of
the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene an
EGM, provided that the EGM so convened shall not be held after
the expiration of 3 months from the said date.

The EGM convened by shareholders shall be convened in the
same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which general
meetings are to be convened by the directors of the Company.

B. Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board in
writing to the principal office of the Company in Hong
Kong.

The Company Secretary will forward the shareholders’
enquiries and concerns to the Board and/or relevant board
committees of the Company, where appropriate, to answer
the shareholders’ questions in writing.

C. Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals
at General Meetings by Shareholders

Shareholders are requested to follow sections 551 to 554
(written resolutions), section 579 (notice of resolutions),
sections 580 to 583 (statements), section 615, section
616 (resolutions for AGMs) of the Companies Ordinance
for including a resolution at AGM of the Company. The
requirements and procedures are set out as follows:

1. A member of a Company may request the Company
to circulate a resolution that —

(a) may properly be moved; and

(b) is proposed as a written resolution under
section 549(b) of the Companies Ordinance.
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If a member requests a Company to circulate a resolution,
the member may request the Company to circulate with the
resolution a statement of not more than 1,000 words on the
subject matter of the resolution.

However, each member may only request the Company to
circulate one such statement with respect to the resolution.

2. A company must circulate a resolution proposed
as a written resolution under section 549(b) of the
Companies Ordinance and any statement mentioned
in section 551(2) of the Companies Ordinance if it
has received requests that it do so from the members
of the Company representing not less than 5% of the
total voting rights of all the members entitled to vote
on the resolution (or a lower percentage specified for
this purpose in the Company’s articles).

A request —

(a) may be sent to the Company in hard copy form
or in electronic form;

(b) must identify the resolution and any statement
mentioned in section 551(2) of the Companies
Ordinance; and

(c) must be authenticated by the person or persons
making it.

3. If by any provision of the Companies Ordinance
special notice is required to be given of a resolution,
the resolution is not effective unless notice of the
intention to move it has been given to the Company at
least 28 days before the meeting at which it is moved.

The Company must, if practicable, give its members
notice of the resolution at the same time and in the
same manner as it gives notice of the meeting.
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If that is not practicable, the Company must give its
members notice of the resolution at least 14 days
before the meeting —

(a) by advertisement in a newspaper circulating
generally in Hong Kong; or

(b) in any other manner allowed by the Company’s
articles.

If, after notice of the intention to move the resolution
has been given to the Company, a meeting is called
for a date 28 days or less after the notice has been
given, the notice is to be regarded as having been
properly given, though not given within the time
required.

Pursuant to Article 101 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, no person other than a director retiring
at the meeting shall, unless recommended by the
directors for election, be eligible for election as
director at any general meeting unless a notice signed
by a member (other than the person to be processed)
duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for
which such notice is given of his intention to propose
such person for election and also a notice signed
by the person to be proposed of his willingness to
be elected shall have been lodged at the registered
office of the Company provided that the minimum
length of the period, during which such notice(s) are
given, shall be at least seven days and that the period
for lodgement of such notice(s) shall commence no
earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice of
the general meeting appointed for such election and
end no later than seven days prior to the date of such
general meeting.
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ABOUT THE REPORT

Reporting Scope

Times Universal Group Holdings Limited (hereafter “Times
Universal” or the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to the “Group”, “We”, “our” and “us”) are pleased to
present the annual environmental, social and governance (“ESG”)
report (the “Report”). The Report provides an annual update of
the Group’s ESG management approaches, environmental and
social performance and efforts during the period from 1 January
2024 to 31 December 2024 (the “Reporting Period” or “2024"),
unless otherwise stated. For the details of corporate governance,
please refer to the section headed “Corporate Governance

Report” on page 15 to page 33 of our 2024 annual report.

The Report covers the hotel operation in Victoria, British
Columbia, Canada (i.e. Brentwood Bay Resort (“BBR")
which offers hotel resort and spa services) and the property
management in Chongging (i.e. Nuofute Property Management
Co., Ltd. (“Nuofute Property Management”) and Chongging
Haotai Property Management Limited), the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC"), as well as Hong Kong office where provides
administrative support to the Group companies. The above scope
is defined by whether the Group has direct ownership over the
entities, and is the same as the reporting scope of the 2023 ESG
Report.

Reporting Standard

The Report has been prepared in accordance with the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” (the
“ESG Reporting Guide”) as set out in Appendix C2 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (“HKEX") as well as adhering to the
“comply or explain” provisions thereof. With the exception of
the provisions that the Group considers are inapplicable to our
business operations or provide partial disclosure, explanations
are illustrated in the corresponding sections.

Reporting Principles

The Group has complied the Report with the four reporting
principles set out in the ESG Reporting Guide, which are
materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency as the basis of
preparation of the Report.
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Materiality

° The Group identified the materiality of ESG issues through
stakeholder engagement and materiality assessment.
The details are explained in the section of “Materiality
Assessment”.

Quantitative

o The Group disclosed the information of the standards,
methodologies and source of conversion factors used for
the reporting of emissions and energy consumption. Please
refer to the relevant section in the Report for details.

Balance

° The Report presented the Group’s environmental and
social performance in an impartial basis to provide an
objective reporting disclosure for readers.

Consistency

° The methodology adopted for disclosing key environmental
and social performance indicators is consistent with
that of the previous reporting period. For any changes
in methodologies, the Group has also presented and
explained in detail in corresponding sections.

ESG GOVERNANCE

ESG Governance Structure

The Group believes that a sound ESG governance structure
will increase its investment value and bring long-term returns
to its stakeholders. To effectively implement the concept of
sustainable development, the Group has established a three-
tier ESG governance framework, composed of the Board of
Directors (the “Board”), the ESG taskforce group and each
subsidiary and department, so as to systematically carry out
ESG management from the governance level of the Board to
the ESG implementation level. The Board is responsible for the
oversight of the Group’s ESG-related affairs, and has assigned
specific duties and responsibilities to the ESG taskforce group to
assist their work and perform specific tasks. The ESG taskforce
group comprises executive directors as well as the heads and
managers from each subsidiary and department.
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The duties of the ESG taskforce group are to assist the Board in:

formulating and reviewing the Group’s ESG management
policies, strategies and approaches;

identifying, reviewing and assessing ESG and climate-
related risks and opportunities with associated impacts
on the Group’s main businesses, and developing
corresponding action plans;

setting the Group’s ESG goals and objectives in line with
the determined ESG strategies, and reviewing the progress
on achieving the targets on a regular basis;

monitoring the ESG-related trends, development,
regulations and industry practices, and providing advice on
the ESG strategies;

coordinating the business and department units to assist
in the preparation of the annual ESG report, including
carrying out stakeholder engagement activities, conducting
materiality assessment, collecting, consolidating and
analysing the ESG performance data; and

reviewing and approving the annual ESG report.
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Risk Management

A proper and effective risk management and internal control
system is of paramount importance for business sustainable
development. The Group has adopted a 5-by-5 risk matrix and
evaluate each risk in two dimensions of severity and likelihood to
score the risk level and take corresponding mitigation measures.
We engage external consultants to identify, assess, analysing and
monitor a wide range of risks (including the ESG and climate-
related risks) associate with the Group’s businesses on an
annual basis to ensure the effective implementation of mitigation
measures.

Management shoulder the responsibilities for identifying risks
and opportunities (including ESG-related risks) and evaluating
the impacts of each risk on the business operations of the Group.
Specific measures are taken to detect and prevent misconduct,
such as:

i) establish and maintain financial service provider records
and customer identification requirements;

i) request for reporting suspicious financial transactions and
currency cross-border movements; and

iii)  establish an agency dedicated to ensuring compliance with
all the acts.

Moreover, any changes of risks will be reported to the Board
promptly so as to determine practical and effective actions for
risk control and mitigation.

To ensure the effectiveness of the risk control systems and the
risk management practices, the Board performs annual review
and revise accordingly in a timely manner in order to deal with
the changes in business environment and corporate strategies.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group is fully aware of the close relationship between
stakeholders and the development of its business. We maintain
constant communication with our key stakeholders to understand
their needs and expectations through various communication
channels and improve our initiatives and strategies accordingly.
The following are the communication channels we adopted to
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AEBARAFNELRERBERNZIMBE -
BMELEZRERRELEIBRNERER
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stakeholder engagement:

Government and regulatory
authorities
BRREE#E

Shareholders

IR

Customers

EF

Regular documentation submission
JE B SRR X 1

Regular communication with
regulatory authorities

BB B M T B R

Inspection and supervision
BREREE

Forum, seminar and conference
Wil HNeReH

Company website

NGIE DA

Annual general meetings
RERBFRE

Corporate announcements,
circulars and reports
PEIAE - BEARERE

Customer satisfaction surveys
EEmEERAE
Customer feedback and complaints

B PR R R

Operation in compliance
/\%ﬁi“‘ AL

Fulfilment of tax obligations
BITHMBEE
Creation of job opportunities

BUEREHK S

Investment returns and
business development
BERRRFEHKER
Operation in compliance
BHREE

Transparent financial
information

BHRPEER

Privacy protection
FLERRFE

Upholding high quality of
services

HFFBE RS

Operation with integrity
WIEEE
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The Community
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On-going direct engagement
REEES2 N

Procurement

AR

Public tendering

yNEvel

Site inspection and assessment
B E R ML

Supplier performance evaluation

H R A T

Emails and suggestion box
BHRERME

Employee meeting
EEE®&R

Annual performance review
FEE IR

Employee training
‘B

Team building activities

B ERED

Email and phone call
BEHNRER

Meetings

&2

= A

Sponsorship and donation
BB NIBRE

Company website
YNGIE N

Media enquiry
HEeEn

Email and phone call

EBNES

Business integrity
ES ER

Mutual cooperating
relationship
HESERE
Fair competition
NFEF

Career development
BEER

Remuneration and benefits
FrfE A

Occupational health and
safety

BERREERZR
Corporate support

EEXE

Participation in local
community
ANt #f R 2 6
Support for community
welfare and investment

B AmERE

Information transparency
BB
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

Materiality assessment helps us to prioritise and highlight the
material ESG issues to both the Group and our stakeholders. The
results of the materiality assessment guide us in formulating a
clear direction and roadmap for ESG management and provide
insights into our strategic decision-making.

We carry out quantitative materiality assessment, alternating
with internal review in the following year. We invited our internal
stakeholders (e.g. the senior management and employees)
to share their perspectives in ESG and rate the materiality of
ESG topics towards the stakeholders themselves as well as the
Group’s business operation through online questionnaire surveys
for analysis.

During the Reporting Period, we performed an internal review
on the 28 identified ESG topics and the results of the materiality
assessment undertook in the previous year, with reference to the
latest HKEX ESG Reporting Guide and global reporting standards
(e.g. GRI). Meanwhile, we took into account the current business
operations and development, market trends and local policies
and regulations. As a result, the 10 highly important ESG topics
are determined same as last year, illustrating in the table below:

Employment rights and benefits

e 158 #E 1) e 4 )

Employee recruitment and retention

BEHRENMEE

Employee engagement
EEZHE

Occupational health and safety

BEREERZE

Elimination of child and forced labour
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Customer services quality

BEFPRBER

Customer health and safety
EPRERRE

Customer data privacy
BEFEERLE
Customer satisfaction

EFEMEE

Anti-corruption and business ethics
RESREFRER



RRRREEEZERERAR | —F-NFRH

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

OUR PEOPLE

Employment Practices

As a property management service and hospitality service
provider, employees play a crucial role in delivering exceptional
services to our customers and sustaining our strategic business
development. Hence, the Group endeavours to create a
collaborative, motivating and inclusive working environment
to our employees, with learning opportunities for career and
personal growth. The Group has formulated and implemented
a set of human resources management policies, to recognize
employees with proper compensation and benefits and in
order to comply with all relevant labour laws and regulations in
the regions where it operates, including but not limited to, the
Labour Law of the PRC ({2 A R #t F1[E 85 &))%)), the Labour
Contract Law of the PRC ((FRZE AR XMBE L84 F)%)), the
Law of the PRC on the Protection of Minors ({ ARG ARFEE)),
the Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labour ({Z£ |+
FREZE T E)), the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57) of Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region (“HKSAR”) {{& 1% & 51,
the Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap. 608) (& 1& T & {& ) of
HKSAR and the Employment Standards Acts of British Columbia,
Canada. During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware
of any breaches of related local labour laws and regulations.

Equal opportunity, diversity and anti-
discrimination

The Group aims to build a talent team featured with diversity,
equity and inclusion. Therefore, the Group has formulated
standardised management procedures for employee recruitment
and staff performance review in each business segment
to ensure the fair governance of recruitment, transfer and
promotion, performance appraisal, wage practices and dismissal.
We select talents based on their educational background, work
experience, qualifications, ethics, personality and competencies
during the interviews, and we never discriminate on the ground
of gender, age, race, religion, nationality, disability, marital/
family status and any other classification protected under the
relevant laws. Moreover, any form of bullying and/or harassment
is not acceptable or tolerated across our business operations.
All employees are obliged to obey the Group’s policies in equal
employment opportunity, diversity and anti-discrimination.
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Labour Standards

The Group attaches great importance to human rights and
interests, and strictly prohibits child labour, bonded labour
and forced labour in our business operations. To be specific,
we do not allow employment of any person under the age of
15 in Canada or any person under 16 across our property
management business in China. To ensure our candidates meet
the legal working age and are eligible to work locally, the human
resources department of each business segment conducts
comprehensive background checks for successful candidates
during the recruitment process. Candidates are required to
submit official documents, such as their identities, and work visa
or permit, so as to verify their information provided. In addition,
our employees sign the labour contract, where their legitimate
labour rights and interests are clarified, with the Group only on a
voluntary basis to prevent forced labour. Once any child or forced
labour is found, the Group will investigate the case thoroughly
to carry out disciplinary action and prevent reoccurrence. The
Group also requires its suppliers to follow the labour standards
in business dealings to guarantee no employment of child and
forced labour, thereby decreasing the legal risks of the Group.
During the Reporting Period, the Group did not identify any
violation of the use of child and forced labours.

Remuneration and Welfare

The Group offers competitive remuneration and welfare
packages to attract and retain talents. The package composition
is clearly defined in the internal human resource management
procedures, employee handbook and employee contract. Apart
from basic salary and post salary, we provide our employees
with a wide range of benefits, such as medical insurance, life
insurance plan, mandatory provident fund, “five insurance and
one fund”, as well as allowances and subsidies for transportation
and accommodation, depending on the position categories. In
addition to statutory leaves, our employees are entitled to paid
annual leave, sick leave, marriage leave, maternity/paternity
leave, bereavement leave, breastfeeding leave and jury duty
leave. Moreover, we prepare cash gifts for birthday, marriage and
condolence as a gesture of care and goodwill.
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To ensure sufficient rest for employees, we adopt an eight-
hour standard work system at the headquarter of Nuofute
Property Management and Hong Kong office. Each property
management centre is arranged irregular working shifts and/
or integrated working hours varied in different posts, with a
maximum of 40 hours per week to fit into the purpose of actual
business needs. When necessary to arrange employees to work
overtime due to the occurrence of emergency and business
needs, overtime compensation will be granted to eligible staff
under the labour laws. For employees in our hotel operation,
standard remuneration and welfare packages, including paid
leaves, insurance premiums, retirement plan and overtime pay
pursuant to the Employment Standards Acts, are outlined in the
employee culture handbook and employee contract. Staff perks,
such as discounted hotel stays, spa services, free paddle sport
rentals, meal allowances and industry discounts, are granted to
eligible staff as rewards for their contribution. The employees’
working hours vary depending on seasonal factors and business
levels. Scheduled work shifts and rest days are offered to help
our employees maintain work-life balance. During the Reporting
Period, we arranged annual resort-wide holiday appreciation
parties to express our gratitude for all employees’ great efforts.

To maintain core competitiveness, the Group reviews the
employee remuneration and welfare packages on a regular
basis with reference to local laws and regulations, its peers in
the industry, employee performance and peer evaluation result
and the prevailing regional market level. We also conduct the
performance appraisal and peer evaluation for employees to
understand their performance from both management and
peer’s perspectives in a comprehensive and just manner. The
results are linked to remuneration rewards and promotion, so as
to promote employees’ work initiatives. Employees with excellent
performance may award salary increment, promotion and/or
discretionary bonus to recognise their achievement.
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Employee Communication

The Group highly values the voices of employees and puts great
efforts in maintaining open and constant communication with
our employees in each business segment. Hence, we have
developed various communication channels, including meeting,
performance review interview, email, e-newsletter and employee
engagement survey, to better understand their concerns
and expectations at work. Based on the employee feedback
and survey result, we may optimise the current employment
practices working conditions accordingly and address their
needs promptly, so as to enhance employee satisfaction. In
addition, staff complaint and grievance mechanism is in place
and allows our employees to report any complaints in workplace,
grievance and conflicts at work verbally or textually. The relevant
departments will take proper action and deal with the reported
issues in a timely manner.

Employee Profile

As of 31 December 2024, the Group has 330 full-time
employees and 67 part-time employees. The breakdown of
the total workforce divided by gender, age group, employment
category and geographical region is indicated as below.

Total work force by age group
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Total work force by gender
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Total work force by employee category
REEEHEINETHAY
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Senior Management =REIEE
Midde Management RAREIEE
General Staff —MET

Health and Safety

The health and safety of employees are of utmost importance
to the operation of the Group. As a result, the Group has set up
a clear safety and health policy and management procedures
in each business segment in achieving “zero accident” in the
workplace as our ultimate goal.

Regarding the property management services, the Group has
implemented an 1SO 45001:2018 certified occupational health
and safety management system to systematically identify and
manage the safety risks and hazards in the workplace. We
determine the potential risks that may occur in the working
environment and the possible consequences resulted from
the risks and carry out the safety risk assessment to identify
significant risks, and develop corresponding mitigation
measures for minimising workplace injuries. Furthermore, we
have established an emergency response working team led by
management, and formulated emergency preparedness and
response procedures for our employees to follow and tackle
different emergencies, such as fire, flooding, violent affray, theft,
and equipment failure.

RE #EREREHE

Total work force by geographical region
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In case of any incident and accident happened, we will launch a
comprehensive investigation according to the incident, accident
handling and investigation procedures, to find out the root
causes of incident/accident and proactively take rectification
based on the findings. When appropriate, the Group will improve
the existing safety management approaches and practices in
order to prevent the recurrence of similar cases.

Concerning the hotel operation business, we have established
an Environmental Occupational Health and Safety (“EOHS”)
programme with a series of policies, procedures and safety
guidelines for our employees to observe so as to reduce the
safety risks and hazards in performing our daily operation, such
as kitchen, front desk, spa and so on. To ensure the effective
implementation of the programme, we have constructed a
health and safety committee in BBR, and they are responsible
for arranging regular meetings to review the adequacy and
effectiveness of EOHS programme, the root causes of incidents
or accidents that have recently occurred and/or dealt with any
concerns affecting the wellness of the staff and guests. Moreover,
employees are required to sign the health and safety agreement
to guarantee that they fully understand the topics covered by
the health and safety orientation. Regular safety inspections by
each department are arranged to ensure the abovementioned
safety control measures are effectively implemented and
maintained, as well as fostering a safe working environment. We
also organise safety training sessions and emergency drills in
terms of workplace hazards, chemical and hazardous substance
handling, and fire safety to raise employees’ safety awareness.
Additionally, external training programmes are offered to our
employees to increase their knowledge and skills in emergency
response and evacuation. Employees who perform high-risk
activities, such as electrical work and elevator maintenance work,
are required to attend specific training courses so as to become
a qualified person before commencing the work.
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Response to the Coronavirus disease
(“COVID-19") pandemic

To safeguard the health and safety of our employees and guests,
the Group keeps track of and strictly follows all government
policies, regulations and guidelines as well as the health advice
related to COVID-19. The key preventive measures adopted in
our business segments to lower the risks of the exposure and
transmission of COVID-19 are highlighted as follows:

° Outline the safety protocols for COVID-19 to each
department and require all staff to strictly observe the
safety working procedures and cleanliness and hygiene
measures during their shifts;

° Require employees to undertake a daily health check/body
temperature to ensure they are fit to work prior to the start
of their work shift, and to maintain good personal hygiene;

° Report to the department if employees have COVID-19
symptoms as soon as possible;

° Maintain adequate epidemic prevention materials in our
operations and provide appropriate personal protective
equipment (“PPE") (e.g., gloves, goggles/face shield) based
on the work duties or the risk assessment for cleaning and
disinfection;

° Organise training sessions and emergency drills to frontline
staff on new enhanced hygiene protocols, including
cleaning and disinfection working guidelines, performing
hand hygiene and avoiding touching their eyes, mouth,
nose, ears and face;

° Wear surgical mask when employees need to enter the
tenant/resident/guest spaces;

o Post up signage and notice to remind employees on
hand hygiene, cough etiquette and COVID-19 infection

prevention; and

° Keep social distancing when having meals and meetings.
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The Group has complied with all the relevant health and safety
laws and regulations, including but not limited to Occupational
Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap. 509) of HKSAR, the Law of
the PRC on Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases
(R AR LB %% B )8 %) and the Occupational
Health and Safety Regulation in British Columbia, Canada.
During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
non-compliance with the relevant health and safety laws and
regulations.

Work-related fatalities
RIZET

Work-related accidents
I

Lost days of work-related injury

AIEGELAITERH

Development and Training

The Group strives to nurture its employees with their potentials
and help them realise their career and personal goals. The Group
has provided a variety of internal universal and topic-specific
training programmes for employees at different career levels, as
well as external training courses to enhance their professional
expertise and technical skills. For the property management
services, we have developed an annual training plan based
on our employees’ needs and feedback collected. We offer in-
house and external training courses to equip the employees with
technical knowledge and soft skills for delivering excellent quality
of services and meeting customers’ needs. Orientation training
is arranged to our newcomers with the introduction of corporate
culture and regulations, service etiquette, basic safety knowledge
in property management, specific job functions, staff code of
conduct and staff benefits and welfare to assist them in adapting
to their positions. Various types of on-job training, covering the
topics, among others, elevator safety management, maintenance
of high voltage electricity, fire safety control and monitoring,
corporate management and leadership skills, customer services,
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building services and facilities maintenance and cleaning
working procedures, are provided to our employees to improve
their work efficiency and performance. To encourage our
employees to enrich their professional knowledge in their leisure
time, we provide subsidies for external training and seminars
held by authorised institutions. Besides, the Group continuously
reviews the training outcomes and standards through soliciting
staff feedback after training, in order to ensure the training
effectiveness, thereby optimising the training arrangement
and further determining tailor-made training sessions for our
employees to suit their ongoing development.

To guarantee the service quality of the hotel operation business,
we have formulated a series of training manuals for different
roles with various duties, such as front of house, housekeeping,
marina, etc. The hotel policies and the essential knowledge
related to each job are stated with details, and the procedures
of each guest service are standardised to ensure our employees
respond to guests in an appropriate and helpful manner.
Additional coaching sessions are provided for new supervisors
to help them adapt to the new roles and the level of control so
as to maintain efficient and comfortable management. We also
lay great emphasis on employees’ individual development and
team spirit, and have integrated these training programmes into
the culture handbook. For example, “The Human Element” and
“The Implicit Career Search” aim to assist our employees in
discovering and clarifying their career purposes and aspirations,
as well as improving their ways to work with others for greater
accomplishment of goals and better individual, team and
organisational performance. Furthermore, a 13-month career
development program, “The Emergent Leaders Program”, is
designed to develop individual’s technical skills and leadership
abilities through coaching and goal setting. All the training
programmes are mandatory to the managerial staff, while they
are open for all employees in order to create space for career
growth and fulfilment and obtain greater personal satisfaction.
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Total hours of employee training
EEZINBRH

By gender
BRI 85

Male

St

Female

g3

By employee category

ZEESRAE S

Senior management
BREEE

Middle management
PREIRE

General staff
—MET

OUR BUSINESS OPERATION

Services Responsibility

The Group always upholds the management attitude of pursuing
excellence in the service quality, and continuously improves
the comprehensive experience for our customers, with an aim
to enhance customer satisfaction. The Group strictly complies
with the Product Quality Law of the PRC ({# ZE A R 2L FIER &=
mn'E 2 %)), the Law of the PRC on the Protection of Consumer
Rights and Interests ((F ZE A R £ FEE B & SR EX))
and the Business Practices and Consumer Protection Act. During
the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any non-
compliance regarding health and safety, advertising, labelling
and privacy matters relating to our service provision.

8,112
Percentage of Average training hours
employee trained completed per employee
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Quality Management

Adhering to our property management service philosophy
of “customer first, service with heart and five-star service to
accompany you in your lifetime (EF £ E - ALRBRAER
AR 75 £ %2 — )7, we strive to build a warm, harmonious and
comfortable environment and offer customer-oriented, sincere
and attentive property management services in exceeding
customers’ growing needs and expectations.

Nuofute Property Management has established property
management procedures with high service standards for
residential, industrial and commercial properties in various
aspects, including customer reception, security management,
engineering maintenance and environmental management.
Moreover, a quality management system accredited with the
international standard of ISO 9001:2015 is in place, and the
quality management department is responsible for the review,
verification, monitor and maintenance of the system as well as
quality inspection. Corrective and prevention actions will be
put forward according to the review results, so as to improve
the system, thereby providing services of higher quality and
enriching our customers’ experience.

In addition, we organise regular topic-specific training and
morning briefing sessions to facilitate our employees to better
understand the evolving needs of our customers and equip
necessary knowledge and communication skills in upholding
professional and flawless services. We also introduce the latest
technologies, such as the internet, property management system
and artificial intelligence to improve our service efficiency.
For instance, the property management has added multiple
remote payment options for its customers to strengthen its
online operation. During the year, the Group has received the
“2024 Advanced Member Organization Award” conferred
by the Chongging Yuzhong District Real Estate and Property
Management Industry Association. During the year, the China
Real Estate Information Corporation and China Property
Management Research Institution have also jointly awarded the
2024 Top 50 Chongging Property Service Enterprises award,
the 2024 Chongging Leading Quality Property Service Enterprise
award, and the 2024 Chongqging Leading Office Property Service
Enterprise award to the Group. The Group’s BBR was also
ranked 10th place in the Top 10 Resorts in Canada: Readers’
Choice Awards 2024 of Conde Nast Traveler.
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With the mission of embellishing the lives of our guests and
staff as well as promoting wellness and relaxation in the hotel
operation business, the Group is dedicated to offering our guests
a unique, extraordinary and memorable experience with joyfully
graceful hospitality. We have formulated a set of internal guest
service manuals to standardise the quality of our committed
services, such as greetings, telephone etiquettes and attitude
in customer care, in order to attract more guest return visits
and comply with the applicable laws and regulations, including
but not limited to the Hotel Keepers Act. Meanwhile, we offer
a full range of featured spa packages, and all spa treatments
are served by our team of exceptional aestheticians and spa
practitioners to ensure the attentive and intuitive spa services are
provided and maintained.

Customer Satisfaction

We highly value our customers’ feedback, which is crucial
for us to understand customers’ concerns and expectations,
thus driving us to explore new opportunities for continuous
improvement on service efficiency and quality. We have
developed customer satisfaction management procedures for
the property management services to monitor and analyse
the level of customer satisfaction. Apart from regular tenant
visits, meetings and workshops, we conduct annual customer
satisfaction surveys to evaluate our service performance and
obtain their opinions and suggestions on our services, so that we
can take corresponding measures to overcome our downsides
and raise our services quality.

To manage negative feedback efficiently, we have set up
comprehensive customer complaint handling procedures for
both main businesses. Customers are able to contact us directly
and indirectly through different channels, such as phone calls,
letters, online platforms and media interviews. Upon receipt of
any customer complaints regarding customer service, service
quality and/or facility operation deficiencies, we record the
details of complaint issues and conduct investigation to verify
and confirm complaint cases. Then the responsible person
or department will determine effective solutions and take the
remedial actions in a timely manner to ensure that the received
customer complaints are properly resolved and our customers
are satisfied. In particular, we adopt a compensation mechanism
for the hotel services. Discounts and complimentary gift cards
will be offered for apology. During the Reporting Period, we
received a total of 175 complaints in hotel operation related to
guest rooms, food and beverage and spa treatment services,
and all cases have been addressed, while no complaints were
received in the operation of property management services.
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Customer Health and Safety

We always give top priority to the health and safety of our
customers. We have implemented a series of customized
measures on daily operation and the pandemic according to
business nature, so as to safeguard our customers effectively.

Property Management Services

We have set up an engineering team, comprised of experienced
engineers and technicians with relevant qualifications, to arrange
regular facility inspections and maintenance on the building
services and equipment, fire safety equipment and property
facilities to ensure they are functioned properly and prevent
the occurrence of incidents and accidents. We also maintain
daily security services, including routine security patrols, visitor
registration and entrance gate control, to prevent crime and
suspicious people entering our managed properties. Meanwhile,
we have developed emergency response plans and conducted
regular emergency drills for our security guards to ensure that
they have adequate awareness and knowledge to cope with
emergency situations.

To minimise the risk of spreading COVID-19 in our managed
properties, we have adopted the following preventive and control
measures:

° Implement “closed-off” management in our managed
premises in accordance with the requirements of the
District Pandemic Prevention and Control headquarters;

° Clean and disinfect frequently touched surfaces and areas
with frequent access by members of the public, such as
washrooms, escalators, corridors, lifts garage and lobby
entrance, for infection prevention;

° Require in-out register and body temperature check for all
persons and vehicles that enter the premises at the only
entrance of buildings;

° Provide adequate hand hygiene facilities at the only main
entrances of buildings and receptions;

° Place special garbage bins for mask disposal to prevent the
virus transmission;

o Maintain good ventilation by regularly monitoring the fresh
air ventilation system and cleaning the air conditioning
systems;
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° Provide regular indoor disinfection value-added service
for office tenants to ensure the environmental hygiene
standards in their workplace are fulfilled;

° Put up signages, posters and publicity notices in the
premises to ensure all customers and visitors are aware of
precautionary measures; and

° Conduct regular inspections and report the situations
of infection control work to the owners’ committee and
governmental departments to combat the COVID-19
disease together.

Hotel Operation

The facility management team takes the responsibility to arrange
regular inspections and maintenance on property facilities,
such as elevators and fire safety equipment, etc., in BBR to
eliminate safety hazards for our guests as possible. Due to the
provision of dining, meeting and banquet services, food safety
is one of the major concerns. As such, our food and beverage
team has formulated a kitchen manual to standardise the food
service offered in our hotel resort and outline the best practices
for food handlers regarding the food storage, food hygiene
and food handling according to the applicable local laws and
regulations. The whole team has been well trained to guarantee
they have complete knowledge of the food product preparation,
food serving and food hygiene. The managerial staff of food
and beverage team carries out inspections on a regular basis to
ensure vigorous control on food handling and kitchen sanitary.

To minimise the transmission and spread of COVID-19, we
strictly followed all government regulations and guidelines,
provincial restrictions order and direction of the Provincial Health
Officer under the Public Health Act. We have made strategic
prevention plans and adjusted the operating hours of our hotel,
restaurant, marina and spa services in which go above and
beyond provincial guidelines, with an aim to limit the exposure
of COVID-19 while upholding our quality of service and fostering
joyful and experiences to our guests in a safest manner. We
also maintain general precautionary measures to enhance the
cleaning and sanitisation within the hotel premises and ensure a
safe environment provided for our guests during their stays:

° Set up hand sanitising stations throughout BBR and
encourage our guests to sanitise their hands frequently;
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° Keep distancing requirements between guests (e.g.
furniture arrangement, installation of appropriate plexiglass
barriers, and tapping line on the floor in front of the front
desk, etc.) to reduce contact;

° Request all guests and employees to wear a mask or face
covering in all public spaces at all time and sanitise their
hands as they enter the building;

° Display signages and posters throughout BBR to raise
guests’ awareness of the importance of COVID-19 infection
prevention; and

° Wipe and sanitise the equipment of shared workstations,
key cards and pens before and after use.

Protection of Data Privacy and Intellectual
Property Rights

The Group attaches great importance to information security
and data privacy, and strictly abides by the relevant laws and
regulations, including the confidentiality obligations outlined in
the employee handbook and employee contracts. All employees
exercise their due care regarding the collection and use of
personal information of customers to ensure they only collect the
essential information for property management operation and
hotel day-to-day operation, such as guests’ certain preferences
for the hotel services. All the customer data is securely kept
in our internal system with access control and managed by
designated personnel of corresponding department to prevent
unnecessary information leakage, processing or other use.
Employees who review and copy the contents and files of
customer data based on “need to know” basis are required
to oblige the confidential requirements. Moreover, employees
are not allowed to disclose and communicate any sensitive
information of the Group to unauthorised external parties or the
media during and after their employment.

To prevent infringement of intellectual property rights, the Group
strictly conforms to the intellectual property laws of PRC, HKSAR
and Canada. All the software in use is legitimate and with license
agreements. We also pay careful attention to marketing-related
issues to better secure the customer rights and interests. We
ensure the information published in the marketing materials and
promotion brochures are accurate, factual and unbiased, as well
as compliance with the applicable provincial and federal laws
and market best practices.
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Business Integrity and Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to upholding the highest standard of
business integrity, and has zero-tolerance on corruption, fraud,
money laundering, bribery and extortion. The Group strictly
complies with the relevant laws and regulations in the operating
regions, including but not limited to the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Cap. 201) of HKSAR, the Criminal Law of the PRC,
the Anti-money Laundering Law of the PRC, the Canadian
Corruption of Foreign Public Officials Act and the provisions
of the Combating Crimes (Money Laundering) and Terrorist
Financing Act. Our employees are forbidden from soliciting and/
or accepting any advantages, such as gifts, entertainment and
commission, etc., directly or indirectly. Additionally, we have
set up the whistle blowing mechanism and grievance system
with clear reporting channels, (e.g. reporting mailbox, e-mail)
in each business segment. Employees are encouraged to
report any illegal act or potential misconducts to the designated
management personnel, and the identity of the whistle blower
will be kept in secret to protect against any unfair dismissal,
victimisation and reprisal. In event of any case upon receipt,
we will handle and investigate the reported case thoroughly in a
timely manner and report the results to the top management.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
non-compliance with laws and regulations relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering in the regions we operate
and there was no legal case regarding corrupt practices brought
against the Group or our employees. To further raise employees’
awareness of business integrity and anti-corruption, we plan to
arrange relevant training in the future.

Supply Chain Management

The Group strives to maintain long-term partnership with
our suppliers and contractors as their products and services
provided have a direct impact on our service quality and market
competitiveness in the industry.
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The Group has established a stringent supplier management
system to standardise the selection, engagement, performance
evaluation of the new and existing suppliers and service
contractors. When assessing the qualification and competency
of the suppliers and service contractors, we always take
environmental and social risks into account. We conduct a
thorough inspection of their legal compliance, management
level, product and service quality, financial stability, corporate
reputation and sustainability performance, and then determine
the on-list approved suppliers. We give priority to local
suppliers with good track records in environmental and safety
management when possible, thus maintaining the reliable local
sources of supply and reducing the carbon emissions due to
material transportation. Regular performance evaluation (at least
once a year) to our existing suppliers and services contractors
are carried out, in term of product quality, delivery capability,
price level and services quality, in order to ensure their product
and service quality and performance are up to standards. For the
suppliers and service contractors who consecutively fail to meet
our standards, we will terminate the business cooperation.

To further guarantee and better monitor the social responsibilities
and commitment to environmental protection of our suppliers
and service contractors, we clarify our requirements of ESG-
related issues, including environmental protection, health and
safety and business ethics, in the service contracts and require
them to maintain proper management systems and control
measures among their business activities.

The Group is committed to open and fair procurement
practices and advocating green procurement. Nuofute Property
Management has standardised the tendering management
procedures to ensure legal compliance, and we also require
the departments in different business segments to obtain
adequate quotations for cost and performance comparison to
guarantee the most cost-effective products are selected. The
stock of existing products on hand is also checked regularly to
avoid unnecessary waste. Furthermore, we aim at selecting and
purchasing environmental friendly products and services, such
as products with energy-efficient labels, high recycled materials
and zero/low chemical or toxic substances during installation or
use.
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As of 31 December 2024, the Group has engaged 136 suppliers
and service contractors in total. The number of suppliers and
service contractors by geographical region is shown below:

Mainland China — Chongging
RERL —EE

Canada — Victoria

MEX—#SRD

1. The scope of suppliers only covers the number of direct suppliers of
the business of property management and hotel operation.

OUR ENVIRONMENT

The Group firmly believes that environmental protection is one
of the most critical prerequisites for sustainable development
and long-term business success. Therefore, the Group has
formulated a series of environmental management policies
and procedures in managing emissions, waste, use of natural
resources and climate issues in a responsible manner, so
as to mitigate the negative impacts on the environment and
advocate clean, comfortable and environmental-friendly
operations. For instance, Nuofute Property Management has
implemented an environmental management system with I1SO
14001:2015 certification to manage the environmental issues
and performance in a well-planned manner and continually seek
opportunities for improvement.

The Group has complied with the applicable environmental laws
and regulations, including but not limited to the Environmental
Protection Law of the PRC, the Environmental Protection Tax Law
of the PRC, the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354) of HKSAR
and the Environmental Management Act in British Columbia,
Canada. in the regions where we locate. During the Reporting
Period, the Group was not aware of material breaches of
relevant laws and regulations relating to the air and greenhouse
gas (“GHG”) emission, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous waste and non-hazardous waste.
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Emissions

The air emissions generated in our business segments are mainly
from the exhausted gas from fuel-powered stationary plants
and motor vehicles and the cooking fumes in the hotel resort.
To reduce the air pollution, the Group tends to select clean and
superior fuels for all fuel-driven stationary plants and company
vehicles, and encourages green transportation. To ensure the
vehicles work at high efficient mode, we assign specific staff to
be responsible for regular maintenance and monitor of the total
amount and concentration of the pollutants. We have installed
the pollution control equipment, such as grease filters and range
hoods in the kitchens of hotel resort, to cut down the cooking
fumes emissions to the surrounding environment.

The main sources of the Group’s GHG emissions are the
fuel combustion from stationary equipment (e.g. boilers and
generators) and vehicles owned by the Group (“Scope 1
emission”), the consumption of purchased electricity (“Scope 2
emission”) and the business air travel by employees (“Scope 3
emission”). The majority of our GHG emissions are directly linked
to the energy use in our day-to-day operation in each business
segment, and the management measures adopted to control
the emission are further explained under the section of “Energy
Use”. During the Reporting Period, the total GHG emissions
of the Group is 6,240.2 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent
(“1COe").

Waste Management

The Group acknowledges the detrimental effects of inappropriate
dumping of waste on the environment. As such, we have
formulated waste management procedures and working
guideline in each business segment to manage and handle
both hazardous and non-hazardous waste generated in our
daily operation, with the application of 3R waste management
principles (Reduce, Reuse and Recycle).
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The hazardous waste generated by the Group principally consists
of light tubes/bulbs, dry batteries, waste fire extinguishers and
containers with waste paint and detergent consumed during our
operations of property management and hospitality services. All
the hazardous waste is properly segregated by specific staff and
consigned to the qualified waste collectors for further handling.
Non-hazardous waste is mainly produced in our managed
premises and BBR, including general waste, paper, plastic,
construction and demolition waste, oil and grease and used
amenities. To reduce waste at source, we limit the use of single-
use disposable items, such as paper cups, plastic utensils and
containers, regularly review the stock records and analyse the
amount of materials used in service provision in order to prevent
the unnecessary waste of materials. Besides, we make full use of
materials like single-side printed paper, envelops, folders and so
on, and set up recycling facilities, such as sorting bins, nearby
the working area for waste recycling. All the harmless waste is
properly collected, sorted in recyclable and non-recyclable waste
and then handled by qualified waste collection companies for
recycling and disposal.

Use of Resources
Energy Use

Gasoline, electricity, diesel fuel and natural gas are the major
types of energy consumed in business operations of the Group.
Gasoline is the fuel of the Group’s vehicles, and electricity and
kerosene are mainly supplied to building services and lighting
in our managed properties and our resort, while natural gas is
used by the boilers for heat generation. To decrease energy
consumption and enhance energy efficiency, the Group has
taken various saving measures and continually looks for energy
saving opportunities, which are highlighted as below:

° Install and replace conventional lighting with energy-
efficient LED lights;

o Replace the old or malfunctioned building facilities and
equipment with high energy-efficient models and searching
for higher energy-efficient models when new purchasing;

° Carry out regular maintenance and commissioning of the
building plants and equipment to ensure the machinery
maintains the optimal function and energy efficiency;
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° Develop the equipment switching schedules to regulate
the central air-conditioning systems, lighting systems and
elevator systems based on the operational needs and user
utilisation rate in daytime and night-time;

° Switch off the office appliances, lighting and air-
conditioning when they are not in use;

° Maintain the room temperature at comfort level about 24—
26 °C; and

° Conduct monthly, quarter and annual review on electricity
consumption of each department, and set energy saving
targets according to the analysis results.

Water Use

Water scarcity becomes one of the global environmental risks,
and hence everyone shall take essential steps to save this finite
and valuable resource. As a responsible corporate, the Group
puts great efforts in water conservation during the daily operation
of each business segment by adopting various water-saving
measures. We install water appliances (e.g. water faucets and
toilets, etc.) with high water efficiency and maintain regular
checks and maintenance of the water plumbing and flushing
systems in our managed buildings to reduce the water use,
prevent water leakage and ensure water quality and safety. Our
BBR provides bedding change card and encourages our guests
to reuse bed linens and towels during their stay so as to lower
the water consumption for laundry and enhance their awareness
on wise use of water. Regular inspections on water facilities and
irrigation system are conducted in BBR to ensure the equipment
and systems are functioned normally and no occurrence of
water dripping and leakage. Furthermore, we have implemented
the differential water pricing policy issued by the government
in PRC to stimulate water conservation. We are also dedicated
to promoting water saving to raise our employees and tenants’
awareness. During the Reporting Period, the Group was not
aware of any water sourcing problem in our business segments.
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The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group is committed to offering high quality services
and simultaneously maintaining the balance between
operational efficiency and environmental protection. Apart
from implementing the environmental management system
certified with ISO 14001 standards and/or relevant management
approaches in our property management segment, the Group
continues to arrange employee trainings and make joint efforts
in alleviating the negative impacts on the environment in
our operations by enhancing our employees’ awareness on
environmental protection and resource conservation. To manage
the possible noise nuisance arising from the building facilities,
equipment operation and fitting out in our managed buildings,
we have set out the working instruction of renovation activities
for both tenants and service providers to follow. For example,
all the renovation and building enhancement works can only be
allowed to carry out in designated hours (e.g. during specific
time period or during non-office hours) to minimize disturbance
to other occupants. Regular inspections are conducted by the
property management team to ensure all parties strictly abide
by the regulations and maintain the clean environment to all the
tenants and residents. Besides, we have implemented practical
engineering solutions such as replacing the noisier equipment
and machinery to low-noise ones and installing the noise
enclosure to the noise equipment to reduce noise level.

Climate Change

Climate change has currently emerged as one of the most urgent
environmental issues in the world. As a shared responsibility
across all sectors, both China and Canada have acceded to the
Paris Agreement to combat the global warming together and
developed different strategies to cut down carbon emissions.
The Group also recognises the emergency of addressing climate-
related risks that may impact our stakeholders in our operation,
and has identified the following potential climate risks:

Physical risks

° Acute risks: The increased severity of extreme weather
events (e.g. typhoon, hurricane, floods) may cause
submersion and damage to our office buildings and
the delivered facade and further interrupt our business
operation.
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° Chronic risks: The changes in precipitation and weather
patterns (e.g. heatwaves, rising sea levels) may result in
higher operational cost for cooling, maintenance cost as
well as insurance premiums and potential for reduced
availability of insurance on assets in high-risk locations.

Transition risks

° Policy risks: The latest implementation of carbon-pricing
mechanisms may push up the price of GHG emissions and
operating costs, thereby leading to financial instability.

° Market risks: Higher demand for environmental-friendly
goods and design services may be put forward due to the
shift in customer preferences. Moreover, limited natural
resources and higher transportation cost due to increasing
climate-related weather events may increase the costs of
raw materials and investment in low-carbon technologies.

To minimise the risks that pose negative impacts to our
operation, we have emergency plans for typhoon and flooding in
place to prevent negative impacts on our property management
and hotel operation. For example, we will issue early warnings
based on the government notice on typhoon and heavy rain to
our employees in order to ensure their safety.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group is dedicated to contributing to the community where
we operate by enriching community culture, building close social
bonds with the neighbours and creating harmonious community
living environment.

During the Reporting Period, we have organised a total of 5
community and charitable activities. We strive to strengthen
social cohesion and create a harmonious environment for the
local communities.

Various fundraising initiatives were supported through free stays
and gift cards at the Group’s BBR properties. This included
events like “Power To Be” which supported local charities and
the Group donated CAD5,806 in this event.
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Additionally, the Group continued supporting Orange Shirt Day
on September 30th in Canada with a donation of CAD2,400.
This effort helps promote awareness about the concept of “Every
Child Matters” and the intergenerational impacts on individuals,
families, and communities stemming from Indian residential
schools. In all, the Group actively seeks to give back through
community engagement and philanthropic initiatives where it

conducts business.

ESG DATA

Environmental performance
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Natural gas
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Water consumption®
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EBPRE

Property management

WEERE
Hotel and resort

B IE R ERA

Social Performance

Employee profile

BEHR

Total workforce'®
BT

Employees by gender
REBESHES

Male
B

Female
M

m3/employee
NFAKRRE

m3/m?

ST RFTr K

m3/guest night
D V- IN

No available
data
o] e E

84,675.00

17,275.00

101,950.00

No available
data
&= HEE

0.10

1.61

HERR

No available
data
0] A B8R

91,078.00

914.41

91,992.41

No available
data
= 0] A 2R

0.11

0.09

Number of people

A

Number of people

A

Number of people

A

No available
data
0] A 8UE
83,874.00

28,828.00

112,702.00

No available
data
= 0] B 2
0.08

3.56

436

217

219
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Employees by employment type

REBENESNES

Full-time Number of people 339
S N -

Part-time Number of people 97
£ AH

Employees by age

RERESNESR

Under 30 Number of people 103
30N T ABL

Age 30-50 Number of people 135
30-355% AE

Over age 50 Number of people 198
505% A £ N

Employees by employee category

RESEHESHNES

Senior management Number of people 19
BREEE AH

Middle management Number of people 28
PR EEE AEL

General staff Number of people 389
—RET N -

Employees by geographical region

RUESHE S 2EE

Hong Kong Number of people 8
BB AE

China Number of people 263
H AEL

Canada Number of people 165
mEx AE

Employee turnover'

EERAER"

Total employee turnover Number 167
EERABHY HE
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Total employee turnover rate % 38.3
EBERRLE

By gender'?
R R

Male % 35.0
B

Female % 41.6
prgics

By age'®
REWR

Under 30 % 64.1
30 AT

Age 30-50 % 37.8
30-50 5%

Over age 50 % 25.3
50 A £

By geographical region
RILE D

Hong Kong % 12.5
&8

China % 23.6
e

Canada % 63.0
mEx

Health and safety
BERZE

Number of work-related fatalities Number 0
HAIZT AR g2

Rate of work-related fatalities % 0
HIxT=R

Cases of work-related accident Number 10

IBEW HE

Lost days due to work injuries Day 6
IEELRTHERR A&



TIMES UNIVERSAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2024

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R -HERERRSE

Supply Chain Management'*
14 e o 5 3 1

Number of suppliers by geographical region
RUWESME S 2 HEBHE

China
Y

Canada
mEKX

Anti-corruption
RES

Number of concluded corruption-related legal cases
against the Group or employees
HHAEEREESRESCELENBRFARGRE

Notes:

1.

The coverage of GHG emissions, waste, energy and water consumption
data in 2024 includes the office in Hong Kong, four managed property
projects in Chongging, Mainland China (Forebase Financial Plaza (
H S RES), Forebase Convention International Building (£ H &
B BB KE), Liangping Daisi International Community Project (22
& 57 B0 B )5 44 [® ), Xiushan Haosheng International Community
Project (F U S EBBRE/E 4R ) and Haotai Property Management
Limited (2 EE L AR A F]) by Nuofute Property Management
and our BBR in Victoria, British Columbia, Canada. Due to the
business nature in property management services and hospitality
services, no packaging materials are utilised in our business segments
as we are not engaged in manufacturing industry.

The greenhouse gas emissions are defined and calculated according
to the GHG Protocol and “How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix
2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” published by HKEX.

Scope 1 emission covers the direct GHG emissions generated by
the combustion of fuels for stationary source (gas boiler) and motor
vehicles controlled by the Group as well as the consumption of
refrigerants.

Number 11
HE

Number 125
H=

Number 0
=

“ToMERERMEEIN - BEEY - R NIKE
RBENAREEREEENAE  PRAME
BHER#AEFYEERMEENYEIAR (H
ESBES PREGRERAE RYHHER
BERER  FLRERBEELRR EFWEE
BERAR) RAREEMLNINEKREE TR E
HHEZ N MH)BBR « R EE B R KB
RABHEBMEE AR AREW N FBIESE
R SR B ) 575 0 B B AL M B R K -

BEREHEBRDIBELE R BHE(GHG
Protocol) } & 7& B 22 FfT 2% ffp &9 [ 40 o] 4R (B 3R 2%
HERERME — M- - RIEEREER
FERIESI IR RETHE

HE 1P RURE A S BE S 0 B E R (R RE)
R B B S IR B IR IGE A B (52 KB T EE ARV B 1
BERBEHEL



10.

11.

12.

13.

14.
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Scope 2 emission covers the purchased electricity in Hong Kong
office, property management service and hotel operation. The
calculation is based on the emission factors from 2023 Hong Kong
Electric sustainability report, Guidelines for Accounting and Reporting
Enterprise Greenhouse Gas Emissions Power Infrastructure (2023
Revision) issued by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the
PRC and 2024 B.C. Best Practices Methodology for Quantifying
Greenhouse Gas Emissions published by Ministry of Environment &
Climate Change Strategy.

Scope 3 emission covers the emission from the business travel of
employees only, and the calculation is based on the International Civil
Aviation Organisation Carbon Emissions Calculator.

The intensity of GHG emission is the sum of Scope 1 and Scope 2
emissions divided by the respective organisational units.

The air emission includes the vehicle used in the PRC and Canada
only.

The conversion factors from volumetric units of gasoline, natural gas,
gas oil and diesel consumption to energy units are with reference to
the CDP Technical note: Conversion of fuel data to MWh in 2024.

The water charge in Hong Kong office is included in the property
rental fee and thus no available records are available to reporting
disclosure. In 2024, the water consumption for hotel operation
increased significantly as the repairs of equipment completed and
usage went back to normal level.

The figure of employee number is calculated based on the number of
headcounts of the Group as of the end of the Reporting Period.

The employee turnover rates cover voluntary resignations, retirements,
dismissal and other reason during the Reporting Period.

The figure refers to total number of employee turnover of the gender
group, divided by the total number of employees of the corresponding
gender group.

The figure refers to total number of employee turnover of the age
group, divided by the total number of employees of the corresponding
age group.

The figure covers the business of property management and hotel
operation only.

11.

12.

13.

14.

RiE

HERERRE

HEHBNEREEARLAE WEEBERBE LB
JEEERMINEE N o ZETE I ENK2023FF
/%Eajjﬂ—*ri“'liﬂﬁiﬂ FREAREMBE AR
*B%*%E‘Jm%/'*ﬁ%ﬁ#ﬁﬁl&i@iéﬁi#&ihﬁé
BE M (2023 F 12 JH&)>>&%%%DW%Z;§3&
BEEHRA S -_NFERFEAETREHRE
SEBBFEPOERES -

HEIPHE
Az

P %Ei?ﬁfjﬁé’]%mﬁl
=B RBTREGT E R R

Ty BB

RERBHRZEIHELRBE2BEROEHN
BRUAR B ROMAREN -

ERFERERFEETERMEREHNER -

PEh ~ RAR ~ #hoh &5 /EE/éJﬁE’JAF“f J
BERE LB F J52E COP M & A
TR BURE R S MWh -

BEEMRAERRBCF AMERSA ML\
ﬁ—fﬁﬁ{’ﬁ&i%ﬁiﬁwf?fmil R HEIE TR

EE—MAKE BEHELE 2 AKEXNEE

e
EA%KE*E?%@%?E%%X?K%WEI/\%

FFESH

EE\/}IL% &TE iﬁﬁlﬂﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ& ﬁ( &

EREMERR -

ZB TR AR EE R
BRI E THE -

R ABEG AR FE M B

ZEFIEMRARNESRER
AR IR B AR -

B DARE FE FF i

HZEBEREMEETRRBELE
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HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX

w51 =5l

Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

BHEBERE

Governance Structure

ERERE

Reporting Principles

HERA

A statement from the board containing the following elements:

MEZSRLMNBY  ERHAUTAR

(i) adisclosure of the board’s oversight of ESG issues;

BEEFEURE HENERFENEE:

(i) the board’s ESG management approach and strategy, including the
process used to evaluate, prioritise and manage material ESG-related
issues (including risks to the issuer's businesses); and
EZEMRE HERELEEAH KR  BENME B5H
JIRERBEARE HeREHBSHE (BEHBETAREH
Rfg) 8B R

(i) how the board reviews progress made against ESG-related goals
and targets with an explanation of how they relate to the issuer's
businesses.
ESSMARERE HERELEBEERERRIER WK
BefmmagTAX%EER -

A description of, or an explanation on, the application of the following
Reporting Principles in the preparation of the ESG report:
HRIRBRERHRE HEREABRERMATEATIIRERA

Materiality: The ESG report should disclose: (i) the process to identify and
the criteria for the selection of material ESG factors; (ii) if a stakeholder

engagement is conducted, a description of significant stakeholders identified,

and the process and results of the issuer’s stakeholder engagement.

EEM RS HERELREERE: )BIEERE HeRER
REMBEREEZZARMED: (NHBETACETRNHELE B
BAIMERRNENHERBETARNELENBRRIAR -

Quantitative: Information on the standards, methodologies, assumptions
and/or calculation tools used, and source of conversion factors used, for the
reporting of emissions/energy consumption (where applicable) should be
disclosed.

AR AREREHNRE RERE (WER) ANEE 7% &R
R/KFETANER  LRMFEANEREZNORETRE -

Consistency: The issuer should disclose in the ESG report any changes to the
methods or KPIs used, or any other relevant factors affecting a meaningful
comparison.

—HMBTARERE HeRERBREPRERN NENBREN
ERNEMZE (WA IENAMFERERLBNERRE -

EEBXHMRE #HERER

ESG Governance

RBE - HER

2NN
B0/A

]

About the Report — Reporting

Principles

BARARE —

R RA



Reporting Boundary
&R

A. Environmental
AR

Aspect A1: Emissions

BEAl : HH

At

KPI A1.1
BRAMIEEAL

KPI A1.2
BRENERAL2

KPI A1.3
BRENERAL

KPI A1.4
BRENERAL4

RRRREEEZERERAR | —F-NFRH

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE #EREREHE

A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of the ESG report and About the Report — Reporting
describing the process used to identify which entities or operations are Scope

included in the ESG report. If there is a change in the scope, the issuer BERARE — mERA
should explain the difference and reason for the change.

BERE HeRELRENERSE RERGENSERIELR

AR HERERRENARE EEREEFMEE  BITARKE

TRZEREBRA -

General Disclosure Our Environment — Emissions

—RRE RE — B
Information on: Our Environment — Waste
ERBERKRERBHR  mKRLads BERBEEEENMMNE  Management
EE RE—BENER
a)  the policies; and

R R
b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant

impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,

discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-

hazardous waste.

EBTHETAREATENHBERRADINEH -
The types of emissions and respective emissions data. ESG data

HRmER KRR - RIE - HEREREE
Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in - ESG data

tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, = &3 - H @ RE A &E
per facility).

B (8E]) keeREE (HE 2) BEREHNE CAEE) R (ER)

TE(MASESEN - §FRERMHE) o

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity | ESG data

(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). RIE e REREE
ELREREEYEE U E) R (NER) BE (WABESEl

BERME)

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, ESG data

intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). RE - HEREREE
FESEZEENAE CABEHE) K (NER) %E (A EEEEf -

BEREFE)
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KPI A1.5
BRENERALS

KPI A1.6
BRENERALS

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
EBEA2: ERFER

A2

KPI A2.1
BREAMIEEA2

KPI A2.2
BRENERA22

Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
BT REERE B B RAEDZE B SIS -

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a
description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
HREREEREEEENNAE  RERATIARERERAES
%% B R FRERERE) 75K o

General Disclosure

—RBE

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other
raw materials.

BRERER(BRER  KREMRME)MBER -

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil)
in total (kWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).
RENESNEER/JEEER(NE  G3h) BFE UTFETR
B E) REE (MABESEN - §ERMAE) -

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).
BRKEREE (MABEE SN BERMHE)

Our Environment — Emissions

BIE— Y

From the result of materiality
assessment, this KPI is not
considered as highly material for
the Group, hence no target(s)
setting during the Reporting Year.
RESEMTMENER  ILEAR
BYERERARUALEMNS
YAEE - FAt - RBREHLE
HIERE -

Our Environment — Waste
Management
R5E—EBEYER

From the result of materiality
assessment, this KPI is not
considered as highly material for
the Group, hence no target(s)
setting during the Reporting Year.
REEEHTENER  LHER
BYERERARUAEEMNS
WAEE - FAt - REEHTE
5 B 1R o

Our Environment — Use of
Resources

R —ERER

ESG data
BIE - HEREREE

ESG data
RE - HeRERHE



RRRREEEZERERAR | —F-NFRH

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RiIE -HERERHRE

KPI A2.3
BRENERA23

KPI A2.4
BRENERA24

KPI A2.5
BRENERALS

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.

AT M RERMRE B B RAENZLE B RARRMO LR -

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for
purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

BSKER KRR SR EMER - ARATLNR KSR B RAE

HZFARAERN TR -

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if
applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

HmAABREMHNEE (UNEE) R (WER) BEESMG

f8ln

Aspect A3: The environment and Natural Resources

BEA: RERRAER

Our Environment — Use of
Resources
R5% —BRER

From the result of materiality
assessment, this KPI is not
considered as highly material for
the Group, hence no target(s)
setting during the Reporting Year.
REEZHTENER  ILBR
BYERERARUALENS
WABEE - Bt RSB E
HIERRZ -

Our Environment — Use of
Resources

R —ERER

From the result of materiality
assessment, this KPI is not
considered as highly material for
the Group, hence no target(s)
setting during the Reporting Year.
REEZUTENER  LBR
BHERERARUAEEMS
WAEE - Bt REEHTE
5 B 1R o

Not applicable
TEA

A3 General Disclosure Our Environment — The
—BREE Environment and Natural
Resources
Policies on minimising the issuer's significant impacts on the environment B —BRERRARER
and natural resources.
REBTAHRERARERERNEATENRE -
KP1 A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and Our Environment — The
BREMIEEA. natural resources and the actions taken to manage them. Environment and Natural

HURBEBERERAAERNEATY ELERNEEFBYENTY -

Resources
B —RERAARER
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Aspect A4: Climate Change
EBHEA: RIREL

M

KPI A4.1
BRANERMI

B. Social
B. &

Aspect B1: Employment
BB : EfE

B1

KPI B1.1
BRENERBLI

KPI B1.2
BRENERB2

General Disclosure

—REKE

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues
which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.

AR RCERTREHRTAELYENEARIKRBEEIER ©

Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted,
and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage
them.

HABERAEEHETAELYENEARREREE - LEHTH

General Disclosure

—RBE

Information on:
ERTHREE  RERER TN B LE#e - St
R A R H o 7548 Je AR A1

a)  the policies; and
HE R

b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and
welfare.

BTHEITAREAYENHBARLADINER

Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or part-time),

age group and geographical region.

RIER - BEER (W2RERR)  FRARNREERIINESEH -

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region.

AR ERATIRE R EE R E -

Our Environment — Climate
Change
B ARE(

Our Environment — Climate
Change
B — FREN

Our Employees — Employment
Practices

AEENER —EBRER

ESG data
RE - HEREREE

ESG data
RE - HEREREE
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Aspect B2: Health and Safety

EmB2: RERZZ

B2

KPI B2.1
BRENERB2I
KPI B2.2
BRENERB22
KPI B2.3
ARENIEFB23

General Disclosure
—R R

Information on:

ARR{Z2TIFRERREREREBEMREN

a)  the policies; and
HE R

b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe working environment
and protecting employees from occupational hazards.

ETHETABEAZENRBZRERADINER -

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three
years including the reporting year.

BE=E (AEREFR) BEATCHHABRLE -

Lost days due to work injury.
RIGBAIERZ -

Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how
they are implemented and monitored.
HRFMRANBEREEZ 20 ARRBARTRER -

Aspect B3: Development and Training

JEEB3 : BEREH

B3

KPI B3.1
RRENIEEB3

KPI B3.2
BRENERB2

General Disclosure
—RHE

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties
at work. Description of training activities.

FRRTMEERTIERANMBRRANBR - il IEE -

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g.
senior management, middle management).

BRI R EERER (MEREERE  TREER) ANNRIIERE DL -

The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee
category.

RERREEERE D  BAEE TN PR -

Our Employees — Health and
Safety
AEENEE —RERZ2

ESG data
RE - HEREREE

ESG data
B5 (g REREE

Our Employees — Health and
Safety
AEENEE —RERZ2

Our Employees — Development
and Training
AEENES — BRRIE

Our Employees — Development
and Training
REEMES — &R IE

Our Employees — Development
and Training

AEEMES — R IUE
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ESG Reporting Guide
B HERERHER

Aspect B4: Lahour Standards
[EEB4: $TEE

B4

KPI B4.1
AR ENIEEB4

KPI B4.2
ARENIERB4.2

General Disclosure

—HRBE

Information on:

RN EETRAHETIH

a)  the policies; and
HE R

b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and forced labour.

ETHETABEATENRRERLANINER -

Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and
forced labour.

LR R B ETRANST

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered.

HAERRERBEREERERBERARROTHE -

Section
B

Our Employees — Employment
Practices

AEENES —BRER

Our Employees — Employment
Practices

AEENES —BRER

Our Employees — Employment
Practices

AEENEE —BRFER
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Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[EMEBS : HEHEERE

B5 General Disclosure Our Business Operation — Supply
—BREE Chain Management
FHEE —(HEREERE
Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain.
EBHEENRE R REREE -
KP1 B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Our Business Operation — Supply
BB & M5 4EB5.1 miEE DMt EEHE o Chain Management
FHEE —(HERER
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers Our Business Operation — Supply
BRENIEEB5.2 where the practices are being implemented, and how they are implemented ~ Chain Management
and monitored. i%eE —HERER
HAERERLEANER MARTABERNEEEEE - ARE
BATRERENE -
KP1 B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along ~ Our Business Operation — Supply
BRENIEEB5.3 the supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored. Chain Management
HRERBNHEEEGERDNRERLERRNESR  URBHANT XEHKEE —HfERER
RERFE-
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products | Our Business Operation — Supply
BERENIEER.4 and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and Chain Management

monitored.
HAERERETERELERRERRRBOER  UREERTR
ERTE

FHEE —ftREER
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Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

[EMEB6: EmEMR

B6

KPI B6.1
BRENISEB6.1

KPI B6.2
BRENERBG.2

KPI B6.3
BRENERBG3

KPI B6.4
BRENESBA

KPI B6.5
BARENIEEB6.5

General Disclosure

— R

Information on:
ARREERRRBNREEARZS BES  BERLBSEUREHR
JER

a)  the policies; and
BE R

b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant

impact on the issuer relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling

and privacy matters relating to products and services provided and
methods of redress.

ETHETARBEAYENERERRANINER -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and
health reasons.
EEREERERBEETAZ2EREEAMALKNB AL

Number of products and service related complaints received and how they
are dealt with.

RERINE R LRIG R FEE A SBETTE -

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual
property rights.

His e RREASERBBNTER -

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.
HNEERTRERERBER -

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how they
are implemented and monitored.

HLRBEEERRBRALRHE  WREBRTREREE -

Our Business Operation —
Service Responsibility
$%2E —RBEM

Not applicable
TER

Our Business Operation —
Service Responsibility

E2E — REAEE

Our Business Operation —
Service Responsibility
¥BEE —RBER

Our Business Operation —
Service Responsibility

FBEE - RBAL

Our Business Operation —
Service Responsibility
$BEE —RBEAR
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Aspect B7: Anti-Corruption
EBEBT: RES

B7 General Disclosure Our Business Operation —
—R R Business Integrity and Anti-
corruption
Information on: (BB —BEAERRES

a)  the policies; and
BR R

b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.

ETHETABEARENRAREZRZRATINELR

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against = Our Business Operation —
BREMIEEBLI the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of Business Integrity and Anti-
the cases. corruption
RESHNHBETAKAEEREVEELANBSHARHNRERSF EBEE —BEAGRRER
DR o
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and how  Our Business Operation —
BRENISEBRT2 they are implemented and monitored. Business Integrity and Anti-
WS AR ERER  ARBERTRERLZ - corruption
FBEE —BXRACRRER
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff. Our Business Operation —
BRENIEERLS HWAMEERETRENRESE Business Integrity and Anti-
corruption

FHEE —BFRUELRES
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ESG Reporting Guide
B HERERHER

Aspect B8: Community Investment

EBEBS: HERE

B8

KPI B8.1
RRENIEEBS.1

KPI B8.2
BRENERDS.2

General Disclosure

—HRBE

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities” interests.
FRAME2ETREEMEMEBNEENRBREXKEHSZEM
& | = BB o

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour
needs, health, culture, sport).

EIERER(NHE  BEEE S4IB% BE X 87)-

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.

EEIREMPAER(MEERER) -

Section
B

Community Investment

HtREE

Community Investment

HEKE

Community Investment

HEKE



EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Choi Yun Chor (Chairman)

Mr. Choi, aged 43, has been an executive director of the
Company and the Co-Chairman of the Board since 10 October
2019, and was re-designated as the Chairman in 1 April 2022.
Mr. Choi started as the general manager, and currently as the
executive director, at Realway Investment Limited and Key
Target Investments Limited, each company principally engaged
in the trading of lifestyle fast-moving consumer goods in local
and overseas market. At Realway Investment Limited, Mr. Choi
manages to provide professional global lifestyle fast-moving
consumer goods trading services to worldwide countries. Since
joining the Company, he established different distribution
channels and target segment. He leads a team to explore new
markets in Southeast Asia and maintain a stable growth in the
well-developed market in the European Union and Middle East.
Apart from the trading business, Mr. Choi has been working
in a family business in property management, with a team of
about 10 talents in Hong Kong for over 20 years. He is the
director of the leasing and property management company and
is responsible for planning business strategies and managing the
local and overseas operation teams. Mr. Choi graduated from
Seneca College, Toronto, Canada in General Business in 2003.

As at 31 December 2024, Mr. Choi owns the entire equity
interest in Great Match International Limited which holds
818,156,014 shares of the Company, representing approximately
74.86% of the issued share capital of the Company.

Mr. Chen Jian

Mr. Chen, aged 68, has been an executive director of the
Company since 10 October 2019. Mr. Chen jointed Realway
investment Limited in 2009 as a director of sales and marketing.
He is a professional in sales and marketing and is experienced in
business development in both developed and emerging markets
including Hong Kong, Malaysia, Singapore, Egypt, Greece, and
Pakistan etc. Mr. Chen obtained a bachelor of engineering from
Shanghai Maritime Institute (now known as Shanghai Maritime
University) in July 1982.
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As at 31 December 2024, Mr. Chen did not have any interests in
the shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO.

Mr. Tai Kwok Keung Kenny

Mr. Tai, aged 63, has been an executive director of the Company
since 10 October 2019. Mr. Tai started his career with his
expertise in the information technology department in Hong
Kong at the Bank of China Group in the 1980s. Since 2014,
he is the general manager of Gold Companion International
Limited, a trading company of lifestyle fast-moving consumer
goods, and since 2006, the director of the Realway International
(Phil.) Co. Rp., managing over 100 employees in Hong Kong and
the Philippines. Mr. Tai obtained a bachelor of electronic and
communication engineering from the De La Salle University, the
Philippines in 1985. Mr. Tai is appointed as the deputy manager
of the executive committee of The Fukienese Association Limited

(BEEERSE).

As at 31 December 2024, Mr. Tai did not have any interests in
the shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO.

Ms. Hung Wang Kai Grace

Ms. Hung, aged 42, has over 9 years of experience in culture
and sports industry. In April 2014, Ms. Hung co-founded Pacific
Media Group Limited (ZE AFEXLEREBRAA), a
company principally engaged in culture and sports industry.
Since April 2014 and up to the date of this report, Ms. Hung
is interested in 50% equity interest in and a director of Pacific
Media Group Limited. In 2021, Ms. Hung co- founded Beijing
PMG China Limited (3t & = XL B R A 7)), a company
principally engaged kids animation content mcluding local
production, Asia distribution and the licensing copyright of
children indoor pars, pop-ups, consumer products and children’s
publications.

Ms. Hung is a member of the Fifth (5th) and the Six (6th)
Shenzhen Municipal Yantian District Committee of Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference. Ms. Hung was also a
director of the fortieth (40th) and fortieth-first (41st) term board
of directors of Yan Oi Tong.

As at 31 December 2024, Ms. Hung did not have any interests
in the shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Lai Cheuk Yu Cherrie

Ms. Lai, aged 44, has been an independent non-executive
director of the Company since 10 October 2019. Ms. Lai
obtained a Master’'s degree in Civil Engineering from University
College London, United Kingdom in 2004 and was qualified as a
solicitor in England and Wales in 2013. In 2016, Ms. Lai was also
qualified as a solicitor in Hong Kong S.A.R. Ms. Lai has more
than 15 years’” management experience in the construction and
engineering industry, both as a civil engineer and qualified legal
practitioner, including project management, project planning
and implementation, financing and resourcing, litigation, dispute
resolution, contracts and corporate governance. Ms. Lai has
held the position of senior legal manager at Hongkong Land
Limited since 2022 and has previously held the position of senior
legal counsel and legal counsel at SUEZ NWS Limited between
2016 to 2021, legal counsel at Gammon Construction Limited
from 2015 to 2016 and legal counsel at Ove Arup & Partners
Hong Kong Limited from 2012 to 2015. Ms. Lai has also held a
position of senior engineer at Mouchel Limited and graduated
engineer of Halcrow Group Limited, United Kingdom before she
returned to Hong Kong.

As at 31 December 2024, Ms. Lai did not have any interests in
the shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO.

Mr. Huang Xiangyang

Mr. Huang, aged 70, is currently a senior consultant of Intewig
& Partners. He has over 40 years of experience in Chinese law,
particularly in the fields of intellectual property law and economic
and trade law. Mr. Huang is a Chinese patent agent and holds
qualifications as a German patent attorney. From 30 December
2016 to 11 June 2019, Mr. Huang served as a non-executive
director of the Company. Prior to joining the Company in 2016,
Mr. Huang was employed by, among others, China Patent Agent
(HK) Ltd and Paul Hastings.

As at 31 December 2024, Mr. Huang is interested in 1,500,000
shares of the Company, representing approximately 0.14% of the
entire issued share capital of the Company.
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Mr. Ngok Ho Wai

Mr. Ngok, aged 56, obtained a bachelor’s degree of Social
Science with Honors from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong in December 1993. He obtained a master’s degree of
Accounting from Curtin University of Technology (now known as
Curtin University) in February 1999, and a master’'s degree in
laws from University of Greenwich in June 2024. Mr. Ngok has
been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and CPA Australia since July 2000 and July 2022
respectively.

Mr. Ngok has approximately 28 years of experience in the
banking industry. He worked at Wing Hang Bank Limited
from August 1993 to September 1996 with his last position as
senior officer, at Fortis Bank Asia HK from September 1996 to
July 2000 with his last position as relationship manager in the
commercial banking department — medium enterprises, at
DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited from July 2000 to March 2007
with his last position as vice president in the wholesale banking,
corporate & investment banking — enterprise banking division,
at Dah Sing Bank Limited from May 2007 to August 2014 with
his last position as team head in the commercial bank marketing
department, at O-Bank Co., Limited (Hong Kong branch) from
August 2014 to November 2018 with this last position as vice
president of the corporate banking section, at OCBC Wing Hang
Bank Limited from January 2019 to November 2019 with his
last position as senior manager in the commercial banking
department, and at Industrial & Commercial Bank of China (Asia)
Limited from December 2019 to October 2020 with his last
position as team head in the Greater Bay Area corporate banking
department.

Mr. Ngok is currently an independent non-executive director of
Basetrophy Group Holdings Limited, the issued shares of which
are listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (stock code: 8460).

As at 31 December 2024, Mr. Ngok did not have any interests in
the shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO.
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The Directors hereby submit this report of the Directors (the
“Report of the Directors”) together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2024 (the “Consolidated Financial Statements”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The Company acts as an investment holding company.

The principal activities of subsidiaries of the Group includes
mainly (i) the operation of a resort in Canada (the “Hotel
Operation”); (ii) properties management (the “Properties
Management”) in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”);
and (iii) the management of kitchen for, and management of
delivering quality ingredients to, PRC customers (the “Catering
Management”).

The principal activities and other particulars of the subsidiaries of
the Company are set out in note 41 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements. An analysis of the performance of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2024 by operating segments and
geographical segments is set out in note 8 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements. Further discussion and analysis of these
activities as required by schedule 5 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, including a discussion of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group and an indication of likely future
developments in the Group’s business, are set out in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on page 8 to
14 of this annual report, which forms part of this Report of the
Directors.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of revenue and cost of sales for the year ended
31 December 2024 attributable to the major suppliers and
customers of the Group are as follows:

Revenue

The largest customer 7.4%
Five largest customers in aggregate 14.3%
Cost of sales

The largest supplier 9.5%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate 15.0%
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At no time during the year, have the Directors, their associates or
any shareholder of the Company (which, to the best knowledge
of the Directors having made reasonable enquiries, owns more
than 5% of the issued share capital of the Company) has a
beneficial interest in the five largest customers or suppliers of the
Group.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 and the state of the Group’s affairs as at that date are
set out in the “Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income” and “Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position” on pages 109 to 111 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$ nil).

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group during the year
are set out in the “Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity”
on pages 112 to 113 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December
2024, calculated under the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
amounted to HK$ nil (2023: HK$ nil).

No dividend was paid or declared for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: HK$ nil).
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association of the Company or the laws of Hong Kong which
would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata
basis to existing shareholders.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets of the Group during the year are set out in notes
18 and 20, respectively, to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

SECURED LOANS

Particulars of secured loans of the Group as at 31 December
2024 are set out in note 30 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

BONDS

Particulars of bonds of the Group as at 31 December 2024 are
set out in note 31 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2024
are set out in note 34 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year ended 31 December 2024.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year ending 31 December
2024 and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Choi Yun Chor (Chairman)
Mr. Chen Jian

Mr. Tai Kwok Keung Kenny
Ms. Hung Wang Kai Grace

Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Lai Cheuk Yu Cherrie
Mr. Huang Xiangyang
Mr. Ngok Ho Wai

The biographical details of the current Directors are set out
under the section “Directors” of this annual report.

No Directors shall then be subject to re-election at annual
general meeting in accordance with Article 88 of the Articles of
Association.

In accordance with Article 97 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. TAI Kwok Keung Kenny, Ms. LAl Cheuk Yu
Cherrie and Mr. HUANG Xiangyang shall retire from the Board
by rotation and Mr. TAl Kwok Keung Kenny, Ms. LAl Cheuk
Yu Cherrie and Mr. HUANG Xiangyang, being eligible, will
offer themself for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

As at the date of this annual report, each of the Directors have
entered into a service contract or an appointment letter (as
the case may be) with the Company for either no fixed term
of service or an initial fixed term of three years commencing
from their appointment or re-designation, subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at annual general meetings of the
Company pursuant to Articles of Association of the Company,
and will continue thereafter until terminated by (i) in cases of
executive directors and independent non-executive directors of
the Company, not less than one months’ notice in writing served
by either party on the other or payment in lieu of such notice, or
(ii) in case of non-executive directors of the Company, not less
than one month’s notice in writing by the non-executive director
or the written notice issued by the Company with immediate
effect.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
upcoming annual general meeting of the Company has a service
contract or an appointment letter with the Company or any
of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the employer
within one year without payment of compensation (or statutory
compensation).

DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at
general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the
Board with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and
performance and the results of the Group.

The Group’s emolument policies are based on the merit,
qualifications and competence of individual employees and are
reviewed by the remuneration committee periodically.

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the
Remuneration Committee and are decided by the Board, having
regard to the Group’s operating results, individual performance
and comparable market statistics.

The Company did not adopt any share option scheme.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of
the Directors or chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) which were required
(i) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein; or (iii) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules adopted by the Company (the “Model
Code”) (collectively “disclosure interests”) to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Directors’ interests in Issued Shares of the
Company

Interest of
Personal controlled
Name of directors interests corporation
ZEFEE
Espgs BAER ZER
Mr. Choi Yun Chor — 818,156,014 (L)
BT E (note 1) (FF7E1)
Mr. Huang Xiangyang 1,000,000 =
&AL E
Notes:

(1)  These shares are held by Great Match International Limited, a
company wholly-owned by Mr. Choi Yun Chor.

(L)  Long position
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of

the Directors, or their respective associates had any other
discloseable interests as required.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, the following persons (other than
the Directors or chief executive of the Company) had interests
or long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO or as otherwise notified
to the Company were as follows:
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Ordinary shares
EER
Approximately
percentage of

Substantial shareholders

FERR

Great Match International Limited (Note 1) (Ffd3E 1)

Ms. Cheung Yuk Ha Jenny (Note 2)
REB T (H:E2)

No. of ordinary

Nature of interest/

issued share

(L) Long position
Notes:

(1)  Great Match International Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. Choi Yun
Chor.

(2) By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Cheung Yuk Ha Jenny is deemed to be
interested in the shares held by her spouse, Mr. Choi Yun Chor.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, no other
interests required to be recorded in the register kept under
Section 336 of the SFO had been notified to the Company.

shares held Capacity capital
BEZ HE &7
ZERYE HRME 56 RESIEIH
818,156,014 (L) Beneficial owner 74.86%
EnBBA
818,156,014 (L) Beneficial owner 74.86%
EmEAA
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float for the
year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the latest practicable
date prior to the issue of this annual report.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS THAT
ARE SIGNIFICANT IN RELATION TO THE
COMPANY'S BUSINESS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance, to
which the Company or any of its holding Company, subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors and their respective associates had
interests in the businesses which competes or was likely to
compete, whether directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group.

There has been no material change in directors’ interests in any
competing business subsequent to 31 December 2024.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the year, the Group had not entered into any connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefit schemes participated by the
Group are set out in note 35 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, the
Directors and company secretary shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses
or liabilities which they or any of them may sustain or incur in or
about the execution of the duty of their respective offices or in
relation thereto. This indemnity shall not extend to any matter in
respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any of
the said persons.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 259 to
260 of this annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive directors, an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers that all the independent non-executive directors are
independent.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024 have been audited by of Asian Alliance (HK)
CPA Limited.

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for reappointment. A resolution for the re-
appointment of Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited as auditor of the
Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

By order of the Board
Choi Yun Chor
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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/ AR(EB)LEHMEBERBERAT
Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited

TO THE MEMBERS OF
TIMES UNIVERSAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Times
Universal Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 109 to 258, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2024, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter
described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our report,
the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BRRBREMERERAARE
(REBEMALZHRAA)
GEER

P E B X E B 100 E 268 B 0B (LRI
BERERAT (RAD) REWBAR (5
BIREE)MEAMBHRE BER-T
“mE+-AZt+—AMEARERARE
BEZA L FENRA MBS RS S
X RAEREDRREABEABRURE
AHBEEN T (BEBA R HRER R
fREER) -

BFARE BRAREREELER LS
EAJREEN R EIN - SREVBRERBIBER S
M ASEMNEEMEREERSFER]
BEEMAF MR BESER-T-_WNF+=
A=+ BANEeUBHRAREHREZA L
FENGEVBRARGERHESRE  YEIK
BEBRHEOIZBTRE -



RRRREEEZERERAR | —F-NFRH

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

Limitation of scope on comparative figures and
related disclosures

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2023, which form the basis for the
comparative figures presented in the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024, was modified
by us because of the possible effect of the limitation of scope as
follows.

The carrying amount of the Group’s interest in an associate,
Total Blossom Sdn Bhd (“Tetal Blessom”), amounted to
approximately HK$Nil as at 31 December 2023, and share of
loss of an associate amounted to approximately HK$1,115,000
and reversal of impairment loss recognised on interest in an
associate amounted to approximately HK$1,115,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

The sole and only asset of Total Blossom was an investment
property under construction located in Malaysia (the “Associate
Investment Property”). As at 31 December 2023, the value of
the Associate Investment Property amounted to approximately
HK$Nil.

As disclosed in Note 23 to the consolidated financial statements,
the management of the Group has appointed an independent
lawyer to investigate the status of the Associate Investment
Property, and during the year ended 31 December 2023,
based on the legal opinion, the management of Total Blossom
concluded that Total Blossom did not have the ownership
on the Associate Investment Property and obligation on the
consideration payable associated with the Associate Investment
Property. Therefore, the management of Total Blossom had
written off the Associate Investment Property of approximately
HK$29,694,000 and the consideration payable of approximately
HK$24,870,000 on the books and record of Total Blossom
during the year ended 31 December 2023. However, we were
unable to obtain sufficient audit evidence to satisfy ourselves that
the Associate Investment Property and the consideration payable
should be written off on the books and record of Total Blossom
during the year ended 31 December 2023, and hence whether
the share of loss of an associate and the reversal of impairment
loss recognised on interest in an associate during the year ended
31 December 2023 were fairly stated.
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We were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
to satisfy ourselves as to whether the Group’s share of loss
of an associate and impairment loss reversed on interest in
an associate for the year ended 31 December 2023 were
fairly stated. These caused us to qualify our opinion on the
consolidated financial statements in respect of the year ended
31 December 2024.

Any adjustments found to be necessary to the above amounts
would affect the amounts recorded in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of cash flows and relevant notes of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023. Our audit
opinion on the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2024 was modified because of the possible
effect of this matter on the comparability of the related current
year figures and the corresponding figures in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of cash flows and relevant notes.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Coede”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO
GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 3.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of
approximately HK$7,496,000 for the year ended 31 December
2024 and, as of that date, the Group'’s current liabilities exceeded
its current assets by approximately HK$117,954,000 and the
Group had net liabilities of approximately HK$35,678,000. As
stated in Note 3.1 to the consolidated financial statements, these
events or conditions, along with other matters as set forth in
Note 3.1 to the consolidated financial statements, indicate that a
material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not
modified in respect of this matter.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are responsible
for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, but does not include
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
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In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. As described in the Basis
for Qualified Opinion section above, we are unable to obtain
sufficient appropriate evidence about the share of loss of an
associate and the reversal of impairment loss recognised on
interest in an associate for the year ended 31 December 2023.
Accordingly, we are unable to conclude whether or not the other
information is materially misstated with respect to these matters.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. In addition to the matters described in the Basis
for Qualified Opinion section, we have determined the matters
described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated
in our report.

ERPBEZEAMBHRRE - RANEE AR
BHEMER  UHEHBETEBEMENES
B M HHRRIKFIRNEZ BT T#
MBERBENERE  UTFAEANERRAL -

ERBEMEAT2ITHE  HRAZSEMER
BEAERRL  RAAREZEE - #HW L
NREBEAERE A $RBE-FT—=
FTZA=+T—HLEFESEBERREER
R E QAN R ER R EEREE -
BFEZRG EHNEEFRE - Bit - HAE
AR EERARENEMEERSFEE
R $E ER PR 1F I 45 o

FEERER

AREZFHERERFNERHE  BRY
A AN BRERNEZR/EENFTR &
LEEEERMBELBERBRAMBRREY
HHARRBEREFFERYN  ERMATHE
LERREHREBNER -MRREERER &
PtV RI/SN - RPITETE TR RANRE
1T EENRERESZSIE -



RRRREEEZERERAR | —F-NFRH

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

HEERER

Impairment assessment of trade and other receivables
B 5 R E b AR (8 7T 1

As disclosed in Note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 December 2024, the Group’s gross
trade receivables and other receivables amounted to
approximately HK$23,299,000 and HK$5,326,000,
respectively, and allowance of credit losses of
approximately HK$14,943,000 and HK$3,979,000,
respectively, were included in the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position.

Net impairment losses on trade receivables and other
receivables amounted to approximately HK$3,417,000
and HK$329,000 respectively were recognised in the
Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December
2024.

The allowance for credit losses of trade and other
receivables represents the management’s best estimates
at the end of the reporting period of expected credit
losses under Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard 9:
Financial Instruments’ Expected Credit Loss (the “ECL”)
Model.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
B FECUNMEEERERER

Our audit procedures in relation to the management’s
assessment on allowance for credit losses of trade and
other receivables included:

o understanding key controls on how the management
estimates the credit loss allowance for trade and
other receivables;

o evaluating the competence, capabilities,
independence and objectivity of the independent
external valuer engaged by the management, and
the scope of the valuer’'s work;

o assessing the reasonableness and appropriateness
of the methodology of ECL model, including the
model design and calculation and model inputs in
compliance with HKFRS 9;

o testing the integrity of information used by the
management to develop the provision matrix,
including ageing analysis of trade receivables as
at 31 December 2024, on a sample basis, by
comparing individual items in the analysis with
the relevant sale invoices and other supporting
documents;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter
BAREZEE

Impairment assessment of trade and other receivables
(Continued)
B 5 R E b fE K AR 76 18 7F 14 ()

As disclosed in Note 6(b) to the consolidated financial
statements, the ECL in relation to trade and other
receivables are assessed individually for the debtors with
significant balances and/or collectively using a provision
matrix with appropriate groupings.

The management assessed the ECL based on historical
observed default rates and adjusted by forward-looking
information that is reasonable and supportable available
without undue costs or effort.

We consider impairment assessment on trade and
other receivables as a key audit matter because of its
significance to the consolidated financial statements
and the significant estimates and judgement involved in
determining the ECL allowance on the trade and other
receivables.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter (Continued)
B ELUMMEEEREZER (&)

° challenging management’s basis and judgement
in determining credit loss allowance on trade
receivables as at 31 December 2024, including
their identification of significant balances and credit-
impaired receivables, the reasonableness of the
management’s grouping of the remaining debtors
into different categories in the provision matrix and
the basis of estimated loss rates applied in each
category in the provision matrix (with reference
to historical default rates and forward-looking
information);

U reviewing the reasonableness of the management’s
estimation of other receivables in the expected timing
of collection and the credit quality of individual
debtors, including the background of the debtors
and their creditworthiness and collection history;

o reviewing the repayment history and settlements
received subsequent to the reporting period from the
debtors; and

o evaluating the disclosures regarding the impairment
assessment of trade and other receivables in Note
6(b) to the consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter
BAREZEE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

W BERREUREHEELEZBEFE

As disclosed in Notes 18, 19 and 22 to the consolidated
financial statements, as at 31 December 2024, the
carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets of the Group subject to impairment
assessment were approximately HK$74,020,000 and
HK$7,155,000 respectively. No impairment loss in respect
of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
was recognised during the year ended 31 December
2024.

The Group’s management performed an impairment
assessment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets for the segments that continued to
underperform by estimating the recoverable amount of
their property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets with reference to the valuation performed by an
independent professional external valuer, with reference
to a value in use calculation for resort hotel and fair
value less costs of disposal for freehold land included in
property, plant and equipment used for the hotel operation
segment, value in use calculation of a cash-generating
unit in property management segment in which certain
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are
attributable to, respectively.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
B EZUMEEBRERER

Our audit procedures in relation to the evaluating
impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets included:

o understanding the impairment assessment process
of the Group with involvement of the independent
external valuer engaged by the management;

o evaluating the competence, capability and objectivity
of the independent professional external valuer
engaged by the management, and the scope of the
valuer’s work;

o assessing the reasonableness and appropriateness
of the valuation methodologies;

B E BB RREALEREEE ZMEG
AHEETZEREZEF B

s THMEREZEMBIUIIMBEEMAETSH B
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

HEERER

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets (Continued)
WFE BERIEUREHAEEEZHETG (F)

Relevant disclosures of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets and the impairment assessment are set
out in Notes 18, 19 and 22 to the consolidated financial
statements.

We consider impairment assessment of property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets as a key audit
matter because of its significance to the consolidated
financial statements and the significant estimates and
judgement involved in assessing the recoverable amount
of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets.

YD - M ER R AR B IA M I R B EE O AR A 4 R ARL(E
AHEE N AR A M IS HRARMFE18 - 19K 22 -

BPRME BB LREAREREEENREFG
BRERERER ARHEUGAWBREANEEN
AR G 5 - 28 R iRt A I R & E M AT e [al
TRFTS N BB A ET A H i o

FREZEIR ()

How our audit addressed the key audit matter (Continued)
B ERU A EEERFZFE ()

o evaluating the reasonableness of the operating
cash flows forecast and the key assumptions used,
including evaluating the reasonableness of the
budgeted revenue, budgeted gross profit margins
and expected growth rates and evaluating the
suitability of the discount rate used and market unit
rate adopted; and

° evaluating the sensitivity analysis performed by the
management by making adjustments to key inputs
and assumptions in the impairment assessments
and considering whether any reasonably possible
adjustments would result in material impairment.

O FHEEEBREeREALMBETE/REMAEE -
BRITGEEERR BEEEMNEREHIEREH
SEM AR EMAMRERMAEATISER
mae@EE s &

o  FEBEMNENEIERABRENIRKRIELFHE
AHEEREEETHNSRREDN REREMSIER]
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise EREBEEBETELETEZNBRESD - HM
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism BRATEHEFAE RETEXEBREEE - B

throughout the audit. We also: DI

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of °

the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to °
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used °
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the Directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of °
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and review of the audit work
performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions
taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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REPORT ON OTHER MATTERS UNDER
SECTIONS 407(2) AND 407(3) OF THE HONG
KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE

In respect alone of the inability to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding share of loss of an associate and the
reversal of impairment loss recognised for the year ended 31
December 2023 as described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion
section of our report above:

° We were unable to determine whether adequate accounting
records had been kept; and

° We have not obtained all the information or explanations
that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, are necessary
and material for the purpose of our audit.

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)
Chan Mei Mei

Practising Certificate Number: PO8148

8/F., Catic Plaza
8 Causeway Road
Causeway Bay
Hong Kong

26 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
ceEakEMEERAER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-_WE+-_A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—ENEF ZE=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FHET FET

Revenue W 7 110,776 101,560
Direct costs BEKAK (82,434) (76,064)
Gross profit EF 28,342 25,496
Other income, gains and losses, net HEaUg A - Wk K EEEEE 9 63 2,505
Administrative expenses TERAX (28,610) (27,050)
Impairment losses (recognised) reversed TEHA{Z EEEER T (FE:R)

under expected credit loss model, net %[0 Z J8 (B &5 18 F 58 10 (3,746) 1,398
Impairment loss recognised on NEFEEERRIRESE

intangible assets 20 — (165)
Impairment loss recognised on goodwill &R 7 REEE 21 — (1,155)
Impairment loss reversed on HR—HEEBE QR 2R

interest in an associate BE 2 REBE 23 - 1,115
Share of loss of an associate Hih—MEEE A RIBE 23 — (1,115)
Finance costs & B AR 11 (2,764) (3,114)
Loss hefore tax MR AIE B 13 (6,715) (2,085)
Income tax expense FriSfi sz 12 (781) (6,205)
Loss for the year rEERFE (7,496) (8,290)
Other comprehensive income (expense) H 2 mEUE (FX)
Item that will not be reclassified REHTEENDEE

subsequently to profit or loss: BambyEE -

Remeasurement on the unfunded S EER R

long service payment obligation fRELET 35 15 —

Item that may be reclassified Bk EH 7 HE

subsequently to profit or loss: EmmEE -

Exchange differences arising on MBBINEREEZ

translation of foreign operations ME X ZERE (4,744) (297)

Other comprehensive expense AFEEHMEZEMAS

for the year, net of income tax BRI (4,729) (297)
Total comprehensive expense for the year Z<4 E 2 HBI X 2% (12,225) (8,587)
Loss per share BRER 17

Basic R HK(0.69) cents &1L | HK(0.76) cents /&1L

Diluted e N/A N/A

3B A A1 F
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ma IR R R

As at 31 December 2024
RZZE-_WFE+-A=+—H

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 7 FET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment S E YN 18 74,119 83,647
Right-of-use assets EREEE 19 7,155 8,556
Intangible assets B EE 20 1,623 3,357
Goodwill GRS 21 1,721 1,781
Interest in an associate R—EEE QAR 23 — —
Deferred tax assets RIS E 33 4,946 5,410
89,564 102,751
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 24 265 73
Trade and other receivables B 5 M H e U BR 3k 25 9,961 8,169
Cash and cash equivalents B NREEEY 26 10,189 9,387
20,415 17,629
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBERE
Bank overdraft RITHEX 26 — 23
Trade and other payables Z 5 REMER R 27 26,934 25,974
Contract liabilities AHEE 28 6,748 6,395
Loans from the immediate holding HEERATER
company 29 47,7154 41,575
Secured loan HIHE R 30 21,171 25,063
Bonds (£ 31 20,181 20,181
Lease liabilities HEaE 32 1,044 981
Tax liabilities MIEAE 14,537 14,720
138,369 134,912
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEEFEHE (117,954) (117,283)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES EE&ZERAE ARG (28,390) (14,532)
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As at 31 December 2024
RZZBZWFE+-—A=+—H

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 7 FET FAETT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 32 7,044 8,352
Other payables H A JE 15 BR 3K 27 — 64
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEE & 33 244 505
7,288 8,921
NET LIABILITIES BEFE (35,678) (23,453)
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EAXK#E
Share capital fi% 7 34 441,350 441,350
Reserves B (477,028) (464,803)
TOTAL DEFICIT 48 155 4 (35,678) (23,453)

The consolidated financial statements on pages 109 to 258 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on

26 March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

Choi Yun Chor
E2 SR
Director

EF

BNEIOEE28A 2 HGAMBRENR_-F
THFE=-A-tAHEEFERERREE
7 YHATALTRREE

Tai Kwok Keung Kenny

HE -
Director

EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEEmBER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE

Share Merger  Contribution Statutory ~ Exchange Other  Accumulated
capital reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total
RE  AbfE  HARE  EERGE BN BbEE  ZiER @t
HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$1000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000
TiEn ThT TiEn TiEn Thn TiEn TiEn ThT
(Note a) (Note b) (Note ¢) (Note d)
(Wika)  (W&tn)  (W&e) (W)

At 1 January 2023 R-E-=F-F-H 441,350 (124,635) 8478 2903 (39,555) = (303,407) (14,366)
Loss for the year TERER - = - - = - (8,290) (8,290)
Other comprehensive expense, EB2ERY
net of income tax TRMEH
ltem that may be reclassified R eaisfz
subsequently to profit or loss RaHER
Exchange differences arising on BERNEBEEN
franslation of foreign operations EREE = = = = (297) = = (297)
Total comprehensive expense FER2ARYEE
for the year — = = S (297) = (8,290) (8,587)
At 31 December 2023 it Jm=t3
ZAZt-8 MIF0(246E) 848 2903 (98 —BuE) (@3
Share Merger  Contribution Statutory  Exchange Other ~ Accumulated
capital reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total
kx  afRE LERE iERE  ERRE  HUBE  RHEE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THRT THn ThR THRT T#n ThRT TR TAR
(Note a) (Note b) (Note c) (Note d) (Note e)
(Wia)  (W&n)  (K&c)  (KERd)  (Miske)
At 1 January 2024 RZE-mE-F-A 441,350 (124,635) 8,478 2,903 (39,852) - (311,697) (23,453)
Loss for the year TEEER - - - - - - (7,49) (7,4%)
Other comprehensive income (expense), £ 6 2 B (%) -
net of income tax TRMEH
Item that wil not be reclassifed RRBTRENEZ
subsequently to profit or 1oss RaHER
Remeasurementonthe unfunded B EERIRH
long service payment obligation RBeRf - - - - - 15 - 15
Item that may be reclassified R eaisfz
subsequently to profit or foss RiHER
Exchange differences arising on BERNEBEEN
franslation of foreign operations EREE - - - - (4,744) - - (4,744)
- - - - (4,744) 15 - (4,729)
Total comprehensive (expense) income 2R 278 (B ) ik
for the year ag - - - - (4,744) 15 (14%)  (12,225)

At 31 December 2024 RZEZQmE
t=B=t+-H 441,350 (124,635) 8478 2,903 (44,596)

(3]

(319,193) (35,678)




Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Merger reserve

Merger reserve was created as a result of the acquisition of common
control entities. It represents the difference between the carrying
amount and fair value of subsidiaries acquired. The acquisition was
accounted for using merger accounting.

Contribution reserve

Contribution reserve represents contributions from shareholders for
indemnity liabilities payable for periods prior to 30 June 2003.

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) laws
applicable to wholly-foreign owned investment enterprises, subsidiaries
of the Company operating in the PRC are required to set up a general
reserve fund and appropriate at least 10% of respective company’s
annual profit after tax, as determined under the PRC accounting rules
and regulations, to the general reserve fund until the balance of the
reserve equals to 50% of its registered capital. This fund can be used
to make good losses and to convert into paid-up capital.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in Note 3.2.

Other reserve

The other reserve represents the unfunded long service payment
obligation arising from the remeasurement.

=
m

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_ZT-_WNFE+_A=1+—HILFE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE

2024 2023
—ENEF —ET=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KESEE
Loss before tax BRI A E (6,715) (2,085)
Adjustments for: FEE
Finance costs B & KA 2,764 3,114
Interest income 2 HA 17 (7)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥ % - HeS LR EITE 3,690 2,413
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 1,165 1,372
Amortisation of intangible assets EIEE 1,658 1,775
Impairment loss recognised (reversed), net BEEERER (BE) /F5E
— intangible assets — EREE — 165
— interest in an associate R—REEE R R 2= — (1,115)
— financial assets under expected — BHEERBEEAT
credit loss model MR EE 3,746 (1,398)
— goodwill —H2 — 1,155
Share of loss of an associate oME—HEEE AR EE — 1,115
Gain on settlement of bond EEESHFWE — (1,000)
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE B NXESE
plant and equipment 128 o
Loss on written-off of property, WIEYE - SRR EEE
plant and equipment — 187
Operating cash flows before movements EEESEBANKE
in working capital BHERE 6,419 5,691
(Increase) decrease in inventories FE (L) m (198) 629
(Increase) decrease in trade and other B 5 K E b e Uk BR 3 (38 0) B
receivables (5,786) 1,430
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 N H At B < BR SR 3G N 1,237 881
Increase in contract liabilities SR ON=Eip: Yl 801 636
Cash generated from operations REEBMBZES 2,473 9,317
Income taxes paid B FTER (850) (848)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES KRETHMBRESFEH 1,623 8,469
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

AERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZT-_NFE+_A=+—HBILFE

2024 2023
—E-IF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZRH
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWME BBILZE (1,014) (5,389)
Proceeds on disposal of u”j’imi Hes &
property, plant and equipment B TS ERIE 47 =
Interest received = 1451 FE 17 7
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETEMACZEESEE (950) (5,382)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEEE
Advance from the immediate holding company B & {5 R% A A1k 6,179 3,485
Repayments of secured loans EEBERER (1,927) (1,727)
Repayments of bonds BEES — (9,000)
Repayments of lease liabilities BEHERE (1,442) (1,643)
Interest paid 2RFE (1,949) (2,963)
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES R EE B FTB(FTH) 2B & T8 861 (11,848)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) INCASHANDCASH RERBEEEW 2L IMOHL)
EQUIVALENTS HEE 1,534 (8,761)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS REFAZzBRERBEEEY
AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 9,364 19,696
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES [EZ&ss& (709) (1,571)
TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RERZBEERRESEEYWHRE
AT END OF THE YEAR, 10,189 9,364
TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS Rt+T-ZBA=+—HHRER
AT 31 DECEMBER, REPRESENTED BY REeEEEYHETE I8
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEFEY 10,189 9,387
Bank overdraft RITEX — (23)
10,189 9,364
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
by TR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE

GENERAL

Times Universal Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
is a public limited company incorporated in Hong Kong
and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The registered office and principal place of business of
the Company are located at Unit 3002, 30/F, Workington
Tower, 78 Bonham Strand, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.

The immediate holding company of the Company is Great
Match International Limited, a company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands and the ultimate controlling
shareholder is Mr. Choi Yun Chor (the “Controlling
Shareholder”).

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are hotel operation
in Canada and properties management and catering
management in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

The Company has delivered the financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2023 to the Registrar of
Companies as required by section 662(3) of, and Part 3 of
Schedule 6 to, the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap.
622) and shall deliver the financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2024 in due course.

The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong
dollar (“HK$”). For the purposes of presenting the
consolidated financial statements, the Group adopted HK$
as its presentation currency as its shares are listed in Hong
Kong.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards that are mandatorily effective for
the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA™) for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on 1
January 2024 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-
current and related
amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5

Amendments to HKAS 1

(2020)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants
Amendments to HKAS 7 and  Supplier Finance
HKFRS 7 Arrangements

Except as described below, the application of the
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IS AR MY EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards that are mandatorily effective for
the current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS

1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”)
and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time
in the current year.

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for
at least twelve months from reporting date for classification
of liabilities as current or non-current, which:

o specify that the classification of liabilities as current
or non-current should be based on rights that are
in existence at the end of the reporting period.
Specifically, the classification should not be affected
by management intentions or expectations to settle
the liability within 12 months.

° clarify that the settlement of a liability can be a
transfer of cash, goods or services, or the entity’s
own equity instruments to the counterparty. If a
liability has terms that could, at the option of the
counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer
of the entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do
not affect its classification as current or non-current
only if the entity recognises the option separately as
an equity instrument applying HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards that are mandatorily effective for
the current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS

1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”)
and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)
(Continued)

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months
from reporting date which are conditional on the
compliance with covenants, the 2022 Amendments
specifically clarify that only covenants that an entity
is required to comply with on or before the end of the
reporting period affect the entity’s right to defer settlement
of a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting
date, even if compliance with the covenant is assessed
only after the reporting date. The 2022 Amendments also
specify that covenants with which an entity must comply
after the reporting date (i.e. future covenants) do not affect
the classification of a liability as current or non-current at
the reporting date. However, if the entity’s right to defer
settlement of a liability is subject to the entity complying
with covenants within twelve months after the reporting
period, an entity discloses information that enables users
of financial statements to understand the risk of the
liabilities becoming repayable within twelve months after
the reporting period. This would include information about
the covenants, the carrying amount of related liabilities and
facts and circumstances, if any, that indicate that the entity
may have difficulties complying with the covenants.

In accordance with the transition provision, the Group has
applied the new accounting policy to the classification
of liability as current or non-current retrospectively. The
application of the amendments in the current year had no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
by TR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have
been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the
and HKFRS 7 Classification and
Measurement of Financial
Instruments®
Amendments to HKFRS 10  Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint
Venture!
Annual Improvements
to HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 113
Lack of Exchangeability?

Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards

Amendments to HKAS 21
HKFRS 18

Presentation and Disclosure
in Financial Statements*

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025.

d Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2026.

< Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027.

Except for the amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards mentioned in the consolidated financial
statements, the directors of the Company (the “Directors”)
anticipate that the application of all other amendments to
HKFRS Accounting Standards will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7
Amendments to the Classification and
Measurement of Financial Instruments

The amendments to HKFRS 9 clarify the recognition and
derecognition for financial asset and financial liability
and add an exception which permits an entity to deem a
financial liability to be discharged before the settlement
date if it is settled in cash using an electronic payment
system if, and only if certain conditions are met.

The amendments also provide guidance on the assessment
of whether the contractual cash flows of a financial
asset are consistent with a basic lending arrangement.
The amendments specify that an entity should focus
on what an entity is being compensated for rather than
the compensation amount. Contractual cash flows are
inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement if they are
indexed to a variable that is not a basic lending risk or cost.
The amendments state that, in some cases, a contingent
feature may give rise to contractual cash flows that are
consistent with a basic lending arrangement both before
and after the change in contractual cash flows, but the
nature of the contingent event itself does not relate directly
to changes in basic lending risks and costs. Furthermore,
the description of the term “non-recourse” is enhanced and
the characteristics of “contractually linked instruments” are
clarified in the amendments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
by TR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7
Amendments to the Classification and
Measurement of Financial Instruments (Continued)

The disclosure requirements in HKFRS 7 in respect of
investments in equity instruments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income are amended. In
particular, entities are required to disclose the fair value
gain or loss presented in other comprehensive income
during the period, showing separately those related to
investments derecognised during the reporting period and
those related to investments held at the end of the reporting
period. An entity is also required to disclose any transfers
of the cumulative gain or loss within equity related to the
investments derecognised during the reporting period. In
addition, the amendments introduce the requirements of
qualitative and quantitative disclosure of contractual terms
that could affect the contractual cash flow based on a
contingent even not directly relating to basic lending risks
and cost.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026, with early
application permitted. The application of the amendments
is not expected to have significant impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability

The amendments specify how to assess whether a currency
is exchangeable, and how to determine the exchange rate
when it is not.

The amendments state that a currency is exchangeable
into another currency when an entity is able to obtain the
other currency within a time frame that allows for a normal
administrative delay and through a market or exchange
mechanism in which an exchange transaction would create
enforceable rights and obligations.

An entity assesses whether a currency is exchangeable
into another currency at a measurement date and for a
specified purpose. If an entity is able to obtain no more
than an insignificant amount of the other currency at the
measurement date for the specified purpose, the currency
is not exchangeable into the other currency.

The assessment of whether a currency is exchangeable into
another currency depends on an entity’s ability to obtain
the other currency and not on its intention or decision to do
so.

When a currency is not exchangeable into another currency
at a measurement date, an entity is required to estimate
the spot exchange rate at that date. An entity’s objective in
estimating the spot exchange rate is to reflect the rate at
which an orderly exchange transaction would take place at
the measurement date between market participants under
prevailing economic conditions.

e ISR A

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_WNF+_A=+—HILFE

BRI REETEEMBRE
#R &R ()

a1 i R E R Z FET RAEIEET
TREMBREEN G ER (E)

EEEFERE 215 (155]) tk Z A] 5% 14
1%

EZ%f%a IR E B EE A LM -
VA K B W A R 6 B 0 ] 7 TE B K o

HEGTHE EEBRENEAFER
7 BUE B KB IR O35 38 70 45 9038 12 )
MER—WE  HRRZDHELD
BT R RO RS - 8
MBS —TEEH -

E R —

BT BERHEAERHRS
%#%Eﬁmﬂiﬁﬁiﬁ—iéfﬁ%ﬁah
ETERHENSETRANESS &
ERTHBEMTREENHRE BIZEE
PRSI —BEE -

FE—RBEBREANABKE—BR
B BARERERESARNIESS &
% MYEBANEERE A ZIOR
EMLETTE

E—RBERAEGER BT BAKS —
BEKR BERNAMTZAHANAES
- ERMFTAIHEXRM B /Y2 RER
MBLEE 2 BEE R LEMRR TRET
EHH#®E TTﬁ?R?ﬁ“%E’]ET"



TIMES UNIVERSAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
by TR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability
(Continued)

The amendments do not specify how an entity estimates
the spot exchange rate to meet that objective. An entity can
use an observable exchange rate without adjustment or
another estimation technique. Examples of an observable
exchange rate include:

o A spot exchange rate for a purpose other than that for
which an entity assesses exchangeability;

o The first exchange rate at which an entity is able to
obtain the other currency for the specified purpose
after exchangeability of the currency is restored (first
subsequent exchange rate).

An entity using another estimation technique may use any
observable exchange rate — including rates from exchange
transactions in markets or exchange mechanisms that do
not create enforceable rights and obligations — and adjust
that rate, as necessary, to meet the objective as set out
above.

When an entity estimates a spot exchange rate because a
currency is not exchangeable into another currency, the
entity is required to disclose information that enables users
of its financial statements to understand how the currency
not being exchangeable into the other currency affects, or
is expected to affect, the entity’s financial performance,
financial position and cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability
(Continued)

The amendments add a new appendix as an integral part
of HKAS 21. The appendix includes application guidance
on the requirements introduced by the amendments.
The amendments also add new lllustrative Examples
accompanying HKAS 21, which illustrate how an entity
might apply some of the requirements in hypothetical
situations based on the limited facts presented.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025, with earlier
application permitted. An entity is not permitted to apply
the amendments retrospectively. Instead, an entity is
required to apply the specific transition provisions included
in the amendments.

The application of the amendments is not expected to
have significant impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
by TR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements, which sets out requirements on presentation
and disclosures in financial statements, will replace HKAS
1 Presentation of Financial Statements. This new HKFRS
Accounting Standard, while carrying forward many of the
requirements in HKAS 1, introduces new requirements
to present specified categories and defined subtotals
in the statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures
on management-defined performance measures in the
notes to the financial statements and improve aggregation
and disaggregation of information to be disclosed in the
financial statements. In addition, some HKAS 1 paragraphs
have been moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS 7. Minor
amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and
HKAS 33 Earnings per Share are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027, with early application permitted. The application of
the new standard is expected to affect the presentation
of the statement of profit or loss and disclosures in the
future financial statements. The Group is in the process of
assessing the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose of
preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information
is reasonably expected to influence decisions made
by primary users. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (the “CO").

The Directors have, at the time of approving the
consolidated financial statements, a reasonable
expectation that the Group has adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable
future. Thus, they continue to adopt the going
concern basis in preparing the consolidated financial
statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
incurred a net loss of approximately HK$7,496,000
and, as of that date, the Group’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by approximately
HK$117,954,000 and the Group has net liabilities
of approximately HK$35,678,000. Such conditions
indicate the existence of material uncertainty which
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, and thus, the Group
may not be able to realise its assets and discharge its
liabilities in the normal course of business.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IS AR MY EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (Continued)

The Group continues to adopt the going concern
basis in preparing its consolidated financial
statements. In order to improve the Group's financial
positions, liquidity and cash flows, the Directors have
adopted or shall adopt the following measures:

(i)  reviewing the business operations of the Group
to improve their efficiency;

(i) negotiating with creditors to extend repayment
period;

(iii) reviewing its existing investments and business
opportunities and actively considering to
develop new business in order to enhance the
cash flow of the Group;

(iv) actively considering to realise other loss
making investment or terminate loss making
businesses;

(v) obtained a confirmation from the immediate
holding company not to demand repayment
of the amount due from the Group to the
immediate holding company as at 31 December
2024, unless the repayment would not affect
the ability of the Group to repay other creditors
in the normal course of business; and

(vi) obtained a loan agreement for facilities of up
to HK$65 million from the immediate holding
company in favour of the Group to provide
continuing financial support to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (Continued)

The Directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow
projections prepared by the management, which
covers a period of not less than twelve months
from 31 December 2024, on the basis that the
Group’s aforementioned plans and measures will be
successful, the Directors believe that the Group will
have sufficient cash resources to satisfy its future
working capital and other financing requirements
as and when they fall due in the next twelve months
from the end of the reporting period. Accordingly, the
Directors believe that the Group will continue as a
going concern and therefore consider it is appropriate
to adopt a going concern basis in preparing its
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements do not include
any adjustments that would result from the failure of
the Group to obtain sufficient future funding. Should
the Group be unable to continue to operate as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to write
down the carrying values of the assets of the Group to
their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further
liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-
current assets and liabilities as current assets and
liabilities, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IS AR MY EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if fact and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group
gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company.
Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is
attributed to the owners of the Company.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring
their accounting policies in line with the Group’s
accounting policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business
is carried at cost as established at the date of
acquisition of the business (see the accounting policy
above) less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
(or group of cash-generating units) that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, which
represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently when
there is indication that the unit may be impaired.
For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting
period, the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-
generating units) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment before the end of
that reporting period. If the recoverable amount is
less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit (or group of cash-generating units).

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the
acquisition of an associate is described below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IS AR MY EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee but is not control or
joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates
are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting.
The financial statements of associates used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances.
Under the equity method, an investment in an
associate is initially recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associate. When the Group’s share of losses of
an associate exceeds the Group’s interest in that
associate (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net
investment in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_ZT-_WNFE+_A=1+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. ZGEVMBHRIBMREEREKX
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL EBRER (&)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 EXEFBRERN (F)

(Continued)
Investments in associates (Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of
the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included
within the carrying amount of the investment. Any
excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of
the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance
with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to
any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of
that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with
HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of
the investment subsequently increases.

Acquisition of additional interests in associate

When the Group increases its ownership interest
in an associate but the Group continues to use the
equity method, goodwill is recognised at acquisition
date if there is excess of the consideration paid
over the share of carrying amount of net assets
attributable to the additional interests in associate
acquired. Any excess of share of carrying amount of
net assets attributable to the additional interests in
associate acquired over the consideration paid are
recognised in the profit or loss in the period in which
the additional interest are acquired.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or
service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that
are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria
is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group'’s
performance as the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the
Group performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct
good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount
of consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a
net basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IS AR MY EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of
a performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurements of the value of the goods or
services transferred to the customer to date relative to
the remaining goods or services promised under the
contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to
consideration in an amount that corresponds directly
with the value of the Group’s performance completed
to date, the Group recognises revenue in the amount
to which the Group has the right to invoice.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains
a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16
at inception of the contract. Such contract will not
be reassessed unless the terms and conditions
of the contract are subsequently changed. As a
practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics
are accounted on a portfolio basis when the
Group reasonably expects that the effects on the
consolidated financial statements would not differ
materially from individual leases within the portfolio.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease component, and
instead account for the lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of carparks that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option. Lease
payments on short-term leases are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. ZEVMBRRZEHUEEREKX
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL EBRER (&)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 EXEFBERER (8)

(Continued)
Leases (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group;
and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying
assets, restoring the site on which it is located
or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the
lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

HE (#E)
EHEEE
EREEENKABRE

VIRt EHEREN SR

o R A Bk Z AL R E W
M E R CRUE I B Y ER 9 18
&%)

o AEEEAMNITMINBEERX
ZINEN3

s AKEERFHLEBKRHEHEE
E B A AR E
EREEMRERR AR TR
TE AR RE T T EE AE ROl BTN ©

£ A ER K AR S REHT
ENREERFE UHEERE
MEREHNTEFLHE -

AEEAEREARE B REGHE
RHEEEMBENERAEEE
B %A B IR =6 A F IR A R AT
RITE -BA - EREEEREM
AHERFREASHMETRESE
HEREEGRTE -

AEERGARVBARKRZTER
BEEFERE—AHE -



RRRREEEZERERAR | —F-NFRH

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at
that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing
rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise the
option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising an
option to terminate the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Leases (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified
as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying
asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as
a finance lease. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term
of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset,
and such costs are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term except for
investment properties measured under fair value
model.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessor (Continued)

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 to allocate
consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease
components. Non-lease components are separated
from lease component on the basis of their relative
stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted
for under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair
value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition
are considered as additional lease payments from
lessees.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items
carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
on the date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IS AR MY EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of
the Group’s operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case the exchange rates at the
dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading
of exchange reserve.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable
assets acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign
operation are treated as assets and liabilities of
that foreign operation and translated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Exchange differences arising are recognised
in other comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit
plans, including the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”), state-managed
retirement benefit schemes and Canada Pension Plan
are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

For defined benefit retirement benefit plans
including the LSP under the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance, the cost of providing benefits is
determined using the projected unit credit method,
with actuarial valuations being carried out at the
end of each annual reporting period. In determining
the present value of the Group’s defined benefit
obligations and the related current service cost
and, where applicable, past service cost, the Group
attributes benefit to periods of service under the
plan’s benefit formula. However, if an employee’s
service in later years will lead to a materially higher
level of benefit than earlier years, the Group attributes
the benefit on a straight-line basis from:

(@) the date when service by the employee first
leads to benefits under the plan (whether or not
the benefits are conditional on further service)
until

(b) the date when further service by the employee
will lead to no material amount of further
benefits under the plan, other than from further
salary increases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Employee benefits (Continued)
Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

Remeasurement, comprising actuarial gains and
losses, the effect of the changes to the asset ceiling (if
applicable) and the return on plan assets (excluding
interest), is reflected immediately in the consolidated
statement of financial position with a charge or
credit recognised in other comprehensive income
in the period in which they occur. Remeasurement
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reflected immediately in retained earnings and will
not be reclassified to profit or loss.

Past service cost is recognised in profit or loss in
the period of a plan amendment or curtailment and
a gain or loss on settlement is recognised when
settlement occurs. When determining past service
cost, or a gain or loss on settlement, an entity shall
remeasure the net defined benefit liability or asset
using the current fair value of plan assets and current
actuarial assumptions, reflecting the benefits offered
under the plan and the plan assets before and after
the plan amendment, curtailment or settlement,
without considering the effect of asset ceiling (i.e.
the present value of any economic benefits available
in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in
future contributions to the plan).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)
Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount
rate at the beginning of the period to the net
defined benefit liability or asset. However, if the
Group remeasures the net defined benefit liability
or asset before plan amendment, curtailment or
settlement, the Group determines net interest for the
remainder of the annual reporting period after the
plan amendment, curtailment or settlement using the
benefits offered under the plan and the plan assets
after the plan amendment, curtailment or settlement
and the discount rate used to remeasure such net
defined benefit liability or asset, taking into account
any changes in the net defined benefit liability or
asset during the period resulting from contributions or
benefit payments.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. &8
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL gt
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 32 EXEFBKRER (F

(Continued)
Employee benefits (Continued)
Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

Defined benefit costs are categorised as follows:

° service cost (including current service cost,
past service cost, as well as gains and losses on
curtailments and settlements);

° net interest expense or income; and
° remeasurement.

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position
represents the actual deficit or surplus in the Group’s
defined benefit plans. Any surplus resulting from
this calculation is limited to the present value of any
economic benefits available in the form of refunds
from the plans or reductions in future contributions to
the plans.

Discretionary contributions made by employees or
third parties reduce service cost upon payment of
these contributions to the plan.

When the formal terms of the plans specify that there
will be contributions from employees or third parties,
the accounting depends on whether the contributions
are linked to service, as follows:

o If the contributions are not linked to services (for
example contributions are required to reduce
a deficit arising from losses on plan assets or
from actuarial losses), they are reflected in
the remeasurement of the net defined benefit
liability or asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Employee benefits (Continued)
Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

° If contributions are linked to services, they
reduce service costs. For the amount of
contribution that is dependent on the number of
years of service, the Group reduces service cost
by attributing the contributions to periods of
service using the attribution method required by
HKAS 19 paragraph 70 for the gross benefits.

For LSP obligation, the Group accounts for the
employer MPF contributions expected to be offset
as a deemed employee contribution towards the
LSP obligation in terms of HKAS 19.93(a) and it is
measure on a net basis. The estimated amount of LSP
obligation is determined after deducting the negative
service cost arising from the accrued benefits (being
projected and attributed to periods of service) derived
from the Group’s MPF contributions that have been
vested with employees and would be used to offset
the employee’s LSP benefits, which are deemed to be
contributions from the relevant employees.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised
as an expense unless another HKFRS Accounting
Standards requires or permits the inclusion of the
benefit in the cost of an asset.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Employee benefits (Continued)

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits
(Continued)

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave
and sick leave) after deducting any amount already
paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term
employee benefits are measured at the present value
of the estimated future cash outflows expected to be
made by the Group in respect of services provided by
employees up to the reporting date. Any changes in
the liabilities’ carrying amounts resulting from service
cost, interest and remeasurements are recognised in
profit or loss except to the extent that another HKFRS
Accounting Standards requires or permits their
inclusion in the cost of an asset.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current
and deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit or loss
before tax because of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. ZBEUMBERRZHEEEREKX
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL EBRER (&)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the
time of the transaction does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences. In
addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and associates except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
leasing transactions in which the Group recognises
the right-of-use assets and the related lease liabilities,
the Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 requirements to the lease liabilities,
and the related assets separately. The Group
recognises a deferred tax asset related to lease
liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary difference can be utilised and a deferred
tax liability for all taxable temporary differences.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when
they relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable
entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax
or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for
a business combination, the tax effect is included in
the accounting for the business combination.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets
that are held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purposes.
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Freehold lands are not depreciated and are measured
at cost less subsequent accumulated impairment
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IS AR MY EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Buildings in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at
cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Costs
include any costs directly attributable to bringing the
asset to the location and condition necessary for it
to be capable of operating in the manner intended
by management, including costs of testing whether
the related assets is functioning properly and, for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as
other property assets, commences when the assets
are ready for their intended use.

When the Group makes payments for ownership
interests of properties which includes both leasehold
land and building elements, the entire consideration
is allocated between the leasehold land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative
fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the
allocation of the relevant payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented as
“right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement of
financial position. When the consideration cannot be
allocated reliably between non-lease building element
and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold
land, the entire properties are classified as property,
plant and equipment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the
cost of assets other than freehold land less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IS AR MY EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are
initially recognised at their fair value at the acquisition
date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with finite
useful lives are reported at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that
are acquired separately. Intangible assets acquired
in a business combination with indefinite useful lives
are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal,
or when no future economic benefits are expected
from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit
or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets other
than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
with finite useful lives to determine whether there
is any indication that these assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
are estimated individually. When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units to
which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared
with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IS AR MY EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets other
than goodwill (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or
a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or
a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the
Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts
of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units,
with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-
generating units. In allocating the impairment loss,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and
then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount
of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair
value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value
in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of
the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro-rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating
units. An impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets other
than goodwill (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating
unit or a group of cash-generating units) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the
consolidated statement of financial position include:

(@) cash, which comprises of cash on hand,
excluding bank balances that are subject
to regulatory restrictions that result in such
balances no longer meeting the definition of
cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-
term (generally with original maturity of three
months or less), highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible to a known amount of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are
held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment or
other purposes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IS AR MY EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Cash and cash equivalents (Continued)

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of
cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net
of outstanding bank overdrafts which are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group'’s
cash management. Such overdrafts are presented as
short-term borrowings in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined
on a weighted average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make
the sale include incremental costs directly attributable
to the sale and non-incremental costs which the
Group must incur to make the sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of a past event, it is probable that the Group will
be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time
value of money is material).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZT-_NFE+_A=+—HBILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. ZBEUMBERRZHEEEREKX
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL EBRER (&)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when a group entity becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All
regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added
to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest income
and interest expense over the relevant period.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial
asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition. Interest income which are derived
from the Group’s ordinary course of business are
presented as revenue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect contractual
cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from
the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so
that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting
period following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit-impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial
assets (including trade receivables, deposits, other
receivables, amount due from an associate and
bank balances) which are subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
(“12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that
are possible within 12 months after the reporting
date. Assessments are done based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast
of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. ZAMBHREZEHEUEEREK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL B BRER (4
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 EXEFBRER ()
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) EHMIT R (E)
Financial assets (Continued) ZEEE (&)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment BEEENBHREEAFEINRA
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued) TREFENSREERE (& )
() Significant increase in credit risk () EERBREEIEN
In assessing whether the credit risk has ERHE B ERBREER R
increased significantly since initial recognition, ERBEEINE  AEBEFR
the Group compares the risk of a default LHHeMTAZEELONA
occurring on the financial instrument as at EVGERANEHIAR
the reporting date with the risk of a default AERRHEITL R - EHEITAT
occurring on the financial instrument as B AEEgEREGEAAX
at the date of initial recognition. In making BFHEEMEEER  BREE
this assessment, the Group considers both SREBMBEFTBLHKALSE
quantitative and qualitative information that is NENRIEFHIRIRE L E L

reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken

EEEmE - EalmEERRE
into account when assessing whether credit risk BRRERNE 2ZENUTE
has increased significantly: ¥}

e an actual or expected significant e TERIANA(MEAR)
deterioration in the financial instrument’s A EE R AR ER
external (if available) or internal credit S TEEEER(
rating;

e significant deterioration in external market e FERBAINETISIE
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant EREZRI/L  flniEE
increase in the credit spread, the credit A Z=RIEEL N EHBA

default swap prices for the debtor; B{E REQRBER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

o existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.

e ISR A

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZT-_WE+_A=1+—HIFE

BBEZRUEEREX

3.2 EXEFBRER (&

EHITR (&

REZEMBREENFIR AL

TTREMENEREERE (&)

() EEmEEREERN(E)

s WA EEHMEBARET

B EERE N KIE TR
B R TS  BF SO ER
U EY IR A TR R B S R

g

e EBAREXEMNER
SFEMBERIL

. EHEBABTHES
& (F 0 8 ) K08 T B 0
EHABE  EERH
RN EE R ENE
ATFIEB -

Eim DR A AR M - R
B R E & #0 1+ B8 H 8 48 30
B - EEREER B 125 R
KEBE L RIEAKEEB
EREEAEENENZRHA T
Yo BIE Rl o

AEBEEHEZANBNEE
Rt @E LANREER
BYSIERIER] Z ERE - A
HELR A BT EBE IO SRR B B A
BREERROBE LT -



TIMES UNIVERSAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=R E B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial
asset is credit-impaired includes observable
data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer
or the borrower;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(e)

a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons relating
to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes-off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets
written-off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries
are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

V)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights. The Group uses a
practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade
receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience
and forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables are
considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant
credit information such as forward-looking
macroeconomic information.

e ISR A

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZT-_NFE+_A=+—HBILFE

BEMBHEZGREEREX
S HEEH ()

3.2 EXEBRER(B)

EHMITA(H)

REZEMBHREENFEIRA
TTREMENEREERE (& )

v) FEHEEEBCHERER

B EEBRZFEIEDOR
R BHOBRE(AELED
MIBREE) KEDRKR 2 K
B BAMERRBUBRERZ
AHEENBERE LB LR
£ BHEEBRZ MR
BREBERNESE UEEH
EENNERBEEET - &
SERAERBEECEER
ELEEBRERARESRN
HiB % A ES S BRI 89 AT
EHEENRERAREREG{E
B 5 RURFNRHEEESE -

—RmE BHEEBEREAR
BREOBRNAKSENMERL
EE%}AL%E@$'¥?EHEHQHXE’J
ReRnEZEMNER WK
IRTERIS BETE < BFR A RALER o

BHRKERZEHMBEHEE
BREDEEEBEAREN R
RIEEZBREENSZREE
EEMRIEERBEEER -



TIMES UNIVERSAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=R E B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

(Continued)

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

o Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based
on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
through loss allowance accounts.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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—E-mER

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. &#E EEREX
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL g5t

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained
interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues
to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. ZEVMBRRZEHUEEREKX
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL EBRER (&

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other
payables, secured loans, loans from the immediate
holding company, bonds and lease liabilities and
bank overdraft are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are
discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable
is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in Note 3.2, the Directors are required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the Directors have
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

Going concern and liquidity

As explained in Note 3.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, the financial performance and financial
position of the Group indicates the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. The
assessment of the going concern assumptions involves
making judgement by the Directors, at a particular point
of time, about the future outcome of events or conditions
which are inherently uncertain. Please refer to Note 3.1 in
relation to the going concern assumptions adopted by the
Directors.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and the other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period that may have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year:

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires
an estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash-
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value in use of fair value less costs of disposal. The value
in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating
unit (or a group of cash-generating units) and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value.
Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected,
or change in facts and circumstances which results in
downward revision of future cash flows or upward revision
of discount rate, a material impairment loss or further
impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of goodwill is
approximately RMB1,623,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,721,000) (2023: approximately RMB1,623,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$1,781,000)). Details
of the recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in
Note 21.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Deferred tax asset

As at 31 December 2024, deferred tax asset amounted
to approximately HK$347,000 (2023: HK$383,000) in
relation to unused tax losses for an operating subsidiary
has been recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised on the unused tax losses of approximately
HK$121,878,000 (2023: HK$126,756,000) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. The realisability
of the deferred tax asset mainly depends on whether
sufficient taxable profits will be available in the future or
taxable temporary differences are expected to reverse in
the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary differences, which is a key source of estimation
uncertainty. In cases where the actual future taxable profits
generated are less or more than expected, or change in
facts and circumstances which result in revision of future
taxable profits estimation, a material reversal or further
recognition of deferred tax assets may arise, which would
be recognised in profit or loss for the period in which such
a reversal or further recognition takes place.
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by TR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Amortisation charges of intangible assets and
depreciation charges of property, plant and
equipment

Intangible assets with finite useful lives and property, plant
and equipment are amortised or depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets,
after taking into account the estimated residual value, if
any. The management of the Group reviews the estimated
useful lives of the assets regularly in order to determine
the amount of amortisation or depreciation expenses to be
recorded during each financial year. The useful lives are
based on the Group’s historical experience with similar
assets and taking into account anticipated technological
changes. The depreciation expenses for future periods
is adjusted if there are significant changes from previous
estimates. As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts
of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment
of the Group were approximately HK$1,623,000 (2023:
HK$3,357,000) and approximately HK$74,119,000 (2023:
HK$83,647,000) respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Provision of ECL for trade and other receivables

The Group uses practical expedient in estimating ECL
on trade receivables which are not assessed individually
using a provision matrix. The provision rates are based
on aging of debtors as groupings of various debtors
taking into consideration the Group’s historical default
rates and forward-looking information that is reasonable
and supportable available without undue costs or effort.
At every reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
information are considered. Trade receivables of debtors
with significant balances and credit-impaired are assessed
for ECL individually.

The Group calculates the ECL for the other receivables by
using the general approach. The provision rates are based
on internal credit ratings and taking into consideration
forward-looking information that is reasonable and
supportable available without undue costs or effort. At every
reporting date, changes in the forward-looking information
are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
The information about the ECL and the Group'’s trade and
other receivables and amount due from an associate are
disclosed in Notes 6(b) and 25 respectively.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4., EXGHHAERGESATEERSE

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Estimated impairment of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets

Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets are stated at costs less accumulated
depreciation and impairment, if any. In determining
whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise
judgement and make estimation, particularly in assessing:
(1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators that
may affect the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value
of an asset can be supported by the recoverable amount,
in the case of value in use, the net present value of future
cash flows which are estimated based upon the continued
use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions
to be applied in estimating the recoverable amounts
including cash flow projections and an appropriate discount
rate. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset (including right-of-use
assets), the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash generating unit to which the assets belongs, including
allocation of corporate assets when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, otherwise
recoverable amount is determined at the smallest group
of cash generating units, for which the relevant corporate
assets have been allocated. Changing the assumptions
and estimates, including the discount rates or the growth
rate in the cash flow projections, could materially affect
the recoverable amounts. Furthermore, the cash flows
projections, growth rate and discount rate are subject
to greater uncertainties due to uncertainty on how the
international conflicts and tensions/volatility or disruptions
in energy, financial, foreign currency or commodity markets
may progress and evolve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Estimated impairment of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, and
intangible assets subject to impairment assessment were
approximately HK$74,020,000, HK$7,155,000 and
HK$1,623,000 (2023: HK$83,381,000, HK$8,556,000
and HK$3,357,000) respectively. During the year ended
31 December 2024, impairment losses of HK$Nil, HK$Nil
and HK$Nil (2023: HK$Nil, HK$Nil and HK$165,000)
in respect of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets that have been recognised
respectively. Details of the impairment of property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
are disclosed in Notes 22 and 20 respectively.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing
products and services commensurately with the level of
risk and securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher
shareholders’ returns that might possible with higher levels
of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded
by a sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the
capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

e ISR A

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_WNF+_A=+—HILFE

EXERFBRGEFHTIHERR
B E ERIF (4)

B AHEENEZEZRIE(E)

WK -BERRG - RAEEEREN
BEZEaHE (F

R_EBE_MNE+_A=+—H" A
TRHEMBZYE BISLRERE &
REEBENBIEEEZEEED L
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE

5. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
Group’s strategy in monitoring its capital structure, which
was unchanged from the prior year, was to maintain a
sufficient cash level to meet its liquidity requirements. In
order to maintain or adjust the cash level, the Group may
issue new shares, raise new debts financing or sell assets
to increase the cash level.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject
to externally imposed capital requirements.

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a. Categories of financial instruments

& E B EE (])

BE_T_MER_FT_=ZF1+_H
_+ BLEFE AEBREATFZR

ERHRARBULFAHBE K
$J?§Hm§b§iﬁﬁﬁ RERFRNHER
R REBERBHITHERD B
BEHERERHEEENEINER S KFE -

ADRARAEMHBERNBAZIBE
SE ) E AR HTE R -

EMIHR

a. TMIRADE

2024 2023
—E-MmEF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets EREE
Amortised cost B AR 19,892 16,543
Financial liabilities tREE
Amortised cost BIHA A 120,295 118,187
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives
and policies

The Group's major financial instruments include trade
receivables, other receivables and deposits, amount
due from an associate, cash and cash equivalents,
trade and other payables, bank overdraft, loans
from the immediate holding company, secured loan,
bonds and lease liabilities. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The
risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (currency risk and interest rate
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on
how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management of the Group manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

() Currency risk

A subsidiary of the Company has foreign
currency bank balance which exposes the
Group to foreign currency risk.

The carrying amount of the Group’s foreign
currency denominated monetary assets at the
end of the reporting period is as follows:

e ISR A

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZT-_WE+_A=1+—HIFE

6. IR (&)

b.
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1THERR - (F AN B B HNE R

G o
AA
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2024 2023

—E-E —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

United State Dollars (“USD”) Erx(ErD 52 49

The Group is mainly exposed to USD. As HK$
is linked to USD, the Group does not have
material exchange risk on such currency.

The Group currently does not have a foreign
exchange hedging policy. However, the
management of the Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign exchange exposure should
the need arise.
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate
risk in relation to fixed-rate amount due from a
third party included in other receivables, fixed-
rate amount due to third parties included in
other payables, bonds and lease liabilities. The
Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk in relation to variable-rate bank balances
and variable-rate secured loan. The Group cash
flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the fluctuation of interest rates on bank
balances and Canada prime rate arising
from the Group’s Canadian dollar (“CAD")
denominated bank borrowings. The Group
currently does not have an interest rate hedging
policy. However, the management of the Group
monitors interest rate exposure and will consider
other necessary action when significant interest
rate exposure is anticipated.

Total interest income from financial assets that
are measured at amortised cost:

6. T IR (&)

b. TREREREBTERICK (B

15 B B (4

(i)

TN

AEBRF AHEMERHRIAZ
W —BE=FELHE &
AEMENERZEBNE=T
EERE ExrkHERER
o BEMNERRER - AEE
TRVE BRITHR LY B KA
EXHERERENEAR -
AEENERESRENERARE
EEPRIRITAERN R AL
B AT (T )) sHE Y ERTT
EEMELNNEXZEER
TR E o AN 5 B3R i 3 A
REPEEK - A NEBEE
BEREERMNEXER  WiKE
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REHAAAEZEREELZ
ERBHA

2024 2023
—EMEF —T=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets at amortised cost & # 4 ANzH & 2
CREE 17 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(in

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Interest expense on financial liabilities not
measured at FVTPL:

e ISR A

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_WNF+_A=+—HILFE

6. @RI A (&)
b. =RiERERE BT RIBEK (8)

i 15 R e (48
() FEmE (&)
WIARREEFEBELEH

AAABRAEZERBEZH

BRX
2024 2023
HK$ 000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 1% # $5/% ARET & 2
AR 2,764 3,114
Sensitivity analysis BRE DT

The sensitivity analysis below have been
determined based on the exposure to interest
rates for variable-rate secured loan as at the
end of the reporting period. The analysis is
prepared assuming the financial instruments
outstanding at the end of the reporting period
were outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis
points (2023: 50 basis points) increase or
decrease in variable-rate secured loan is used
and it represents management’s assessment of
the reasonably possible change in interest rates.
Bank balances are excluded from sensitivity
analysis as the management considers that the
exposure of cash flow interest rate risk arising
from variable rate bank balances is insignificant.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points
(2023: 50 basis points) higher/lower and all
other variables were held constant, the Group’s
loss for the year ended 31 December 2024
would increase/decrease HK$106,000 (2023:
HK$125,000).
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s
counterparties default on their contractual obligations
resulting in financial losses to the Group. The Group’s
credit risk exposures are primarily attributable to
trade receivables, other receivables and deposits,
amount due from an associate and bank balances.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with
its financial assets.

Trade receivables

The Group’s policy is to deal only with creditworthy
counterparties. Credit terms are granted to new
customers after a creditworthiness assessment by
the credit control department. Where available at a
reasonable cost, external credit ratings and/or reports
on customers are obtained and used. Customers who
are not considered creditworthy are required to pay in
advance or on delivery of goods. The payment record
of customers is closely monitored. In this regard, the
management considers that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's concentration
of credit risk by geographical locations is mainly in the
PRC, which accounted for 99.04% (2023: 97.94%)
of the total trade receivables as at 31 December
2024.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

In addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model on trade receivables
with significant balances and credit-impaired
individually and/or collectively. Except for trade
receivables which the management of the Group
considered as high uncertainty of recovery, which are
assessed for impairment individually, the remaining
trade receivables are grouped under a provision
matrix based on aging of outstanding balances.

Net impairment loss recognised of approximately
HK$3,417,000 (2023: net impairment loss reversed
of HK$134,000) is recognised during the year. Details
of quantitative disclosures are set out below in this
note.

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the management
makes periodic individual assessment on the
recoverability of other receivables and deposits based
on historical settlement records, past experience,
and also quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information. The Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition. The Group have assessed and concluded
that the risk of default rate for the other instruments
is steady based on the Group’s assessment of the
financial health of the counterparties except for other
receivable with significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition.

e ISR A

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_ZT-_WNFE+_A=1+—HILFE

6. IR (&)

b.

eMEAREEERRBR (F

1= & Jal B R i 1B &F 1% (48

EWE S8R ()
o AEEHEEANGERREE

B E 5 e UER FOE 1T @ Bl Sk 4t
—HETEBEEBEERA TR
B - BRAKEEEERSTK
AR EmE 5 RKARR (KB @
RIFFERE) 9 R T E ZEHK
RRENKREEEHRRE R AN
IR -

B E B FEE 43,417,000 T

TEC=FRESEREDES
134,000 70) ERAFERER - E
EWENFBIENAMET -

H it JEM IR R 750

FE A B BR R R F R E - B
EREELEHELE BELRK
EEEENMEMHERARIRIEAE
HEM - EHHEMEKRER LT
KE) AT @ ETTE BRI G c A%
B EEERESN12(EAREIE
EER BIFBVNEERREER
BRI - AN ERER A
HEEER =SEREIZHAY
EEBENFEIER B VIRER
VA SR 3% A 32 %) B F] BE 1 Sk R B B0 R
ZREM-REBEAKEHRISHFZ
MBREMNR G ARECFF
HYRBEMIAZZOXRARER
RIBEMM - B NI EREEE
[\ Bz B K B 48 hn -z H A 8 Uk AR SR A
BRI o



TIMES UNIVERSAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
by TR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE

6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
b. Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Other receivables and deposits (Continued)

Net impairment loss recognised of approximately
HK$329,000 (2023: net impairment loss reversed of

HK$1,264,000) was recognised during the year.

The Group has a concentration of credit risk as
61.70% (2023: 63.33%) of the total gross other
receivables and deposits as at 31 December 2024

was due from the Group’s largest counter party.

Amount due from an associate

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Directors
considered that the associate is in severe financial
difficulty, therefore, they are of the view that there
is no realistic prospect of recovery of amount due
from an associate. No reversal of impairment
was considered necessary for the year ended 31
December 2023. The amount due from an associate
was nil for the year ended 31 December 2024, as the

amount was written-off during the year.

Bank balances

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit agencies.
The Group assessed 12m ECL for bank balances
by reference to information relating to probability
of default and loss given default of the respective
credit rating grades published by external credit
rating agencies. Based on the average loss rates,
the 12m ECL on bank balances is considered to be
insignificant and therefore no loss allowance was

recognised.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. IR (%)

b. Financial risk management objectives b. €rERKREERERB K (&)

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment

1= & /&l B R i B &F 12 (45)

AEBzAMBEERR

TR

comprises the following categories: FEUAT 5 -
Internal
credit rating Description Trade receivables Other financial assets
RABEETR M g2 EWE HinemEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not  Lifetime ECL — not 12m ECL
have any past-due amounts credit-impaired
BRI RS FEHRRE QW &R R SHEHEERE REABHEEESE
— TEEREE
RE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but usually Lifetime ECL — not 12m ECL
settle in full credit-impaired
ERAE EBARERBBMEER  BRFTEHES SHENEEERE LREAESREEER
— TEEREE
B
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk Lifetime ECL — not Lifetime ECL — not
since initial recognition through information credit-impaired credit-impaired
developed internally or external resources
A&t NESIIMPER KRG EEET  FERAREYE 2HRHEEEE 2HRHEEEHR
HER AR Z L N — TEEREE — TEEREE
RE B
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired  Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired credit-impaired
5] BERBRAZEDLREERE CHEREEERE 2URHGEEEAE
— HREERE — HREERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe  Amount is written off ~ Amount is written off
financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery
35 BERBRAGBABARENBRE mASELE BETIERME AR M

BRI A
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
b. Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The table below details the credit risk exposures of
the Group’s financial assets, which are subject to ECL

6. sMITR(E
b. =RiERERE BT RBEK (8)

1= & /2 i 2% it 18 5T 1 (4E)

TRAMAEEELETEAGESD
Btz eRMEENEERR

assessment:
External Internal
2024 Note credit rating credit rating 12-month or lifetime ECL  Gross carrying amount
HEBEE ABEE 12@AR2HIES
—E-ME Mgk FEAR B FEER IR
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THERT TERT
Financial assets at
amortised costs
BRBHERATEZ
CREE
Bank balances 26 A--AA- N/A 12m ECL 9,536
RITHE R i F 12 ATEMEEEE
Other receivables and 25 N/A (Note 1) 12m ECL
deposits 1,367
H fth M BR B R 17 3K @A (BsE1) 12 AESEEEE
N/A Loss Lifetime ECL (credit-
impaired) 3,959 5,326
TNER E1E FHBEHEEEE
(HBREERE)
Trade receivables 25  N/A (Note 2) Lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired) 9,029
2 5 W RN @A (BE2) FHEREEES
(EELREERE)
Lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired) 14,270 23,299
2HBEHEEERR
(HBREERE)




6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

HARREEZERERAF
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRk M

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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6. EMI A (&

g)

—E_NFR

b. =RiERERE BT RIBEK (8)

15 & /2 i 2% i 18 =T 1 (48

External Internal
2023 Note credit rating credit rating 12-month or lifetime ECL ~ Gross carrying amount
HNERMER AEMEE  12f@AkEzHITEH
—EC-=fF BIEE FT4R TR EEEE REaE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHET
Financial assets at
amortised costs
REHEKANEZ
CREE
Bank balances 26 A--AA- N/A 12m ECL 9,364
RITEEH NEA 2@ AESEEEE
Other receivables and 25  N/A (Note 1) 12m ECL
deposits 1,855
H i fE IR R T @A (GERY) 2@ AEHEEER
N/A Loss Lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired) 3,510 5,365
A B8 2HEHEEEE
(HBREERE)
Trade receivables 25  N/A (Note 2) Lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired) 7,221
B 5 AR R @A (B5E2) 2HEHEEERR
(W ELREERE)
Lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired) 10,829 18,050
FHEHEEEE
(HBREERE)
Amount due from an 23 N/A Loss Lifetime ECL
associate (credit-impaired) 13,808
Gl A NE] @A B8 2HEHREEERR
IR (HBREERE)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

credit risk and impairment assessment

6. €I A (&)
b. TREREREBTERICK (B

1= & /2 i 2% it 18 5T 1 (48)

(Continued)

Notes: B EE -

1)  For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the 1) BABPEERBREREMS A%
Group uses past due information to assess whether credit FRAERERTHEERRE VL
risk has increased significantly since initial recognition. BRUREEERNBLEFA -

Not past due/
no fixed
repayment
Past due terms Total
JEEHE,
nH \ETCHEES @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
2024 —E-NE
Other receivables and deposits EMEKERRIZS 3,959 1,367 5,326
2023 —EC-=%F
Other receivables and deposits Hib R R IR S 3,510 1,855 5,365

2) For trade receivables, the Group has applied the 2) TEZERWEZME A£EEBECEE
simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss REBUEHREEIEIR PG
allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for the debtors with b FEEEBEREEBENER
significant balances and credit-impaired, the Group ERE BREEREHRICEER
determines ECL on trade receivables on a collective BEREWRZRIEIN REBIRE S E
basis, grouped by past due status. KWEREREBELETHEBEESDS

B iRBEasR e S4A -

3)  As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the 3) (EAREBEEERBREEN D -

Group uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment
for its customers because these customers consist of
a large number of small customers with common risk
characteristics that are representative of the customers’
abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance with
the contractual terms. The following table provides
information about the exposure to credit risk for
trade receivables which are assessed on a collective
basis by using provision matrix with lifetime ECL.
Trade receivables with gross carrying amounts of
HK$14,270,000 (2023: HK$10,829,000) were assessed
individually.

AEENAEFANERRAERR
ETRES G AEZSERFEE
AE/NEF - A HRAMRREE
MELHBRREFBENERE
EEF MR ASIHKE - TRIE
HEBRAEEHEREEEER
HEBEEBAEETITHNES
FUREFNEERBRNER - KA
#2{E 14,270,000 (ZE=_=%F:
10,829,000 70) W E 5 FERIEFKE
BRFTE ©
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HE_ZT-_WE+_A=1+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. &I H (&)
b. Financial risk management objectives b. £rEKREEBERRERK (E)
and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment 15 & /& b B (B 7 18 (48)
(Continued)
3)  (continued) 3) (&)
Gross
Expected carrying ECL  Net carrying
loss rate amount allowance amount

RUEE
BAERE REAE - FERE REFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET

As at 31 December 2024 R-ZE-ZMF
+=A=+-H
Collective assessment SBTHE
— Current to 30 days past due —EEERH3I0K 6.24% 8,508 (531) 1,977
— 31 to 60 days past due —@#31Z60H 18.20% 274 (50) 224
— 61 to 90 days past due —E#61Z90 8 37.26% 169 (63) 106
— 91 to 150 days past due — @91 Z 1508 37.26% 78 (29) 49
9,029 (673) 8,356
As at 31 December 2023 RZE-_=F
+=-A=+—8H
Collective assessment ST
— Current to 30 days past due — Bz @ E30K 8.73% 4,859 (424) 4,435
— 31 t0 60 days past due — ®H31Z60A 26.00% 617 (161) 456
— 61 10 90 days past due — @612 90H 50.25% 1,152 (579) 573
— 151 to 365 days past due — @H151F 365 H 81.86% 593 (485) 108

7,221 (1,649) 5,572
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

3)

(continued)

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected life
of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.
The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure relevant information about specific debtors is
updated.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group provided approximately HK$335,000 (2023:
HK$780,000) impairment allowance, net of reversal,
for trade receivables, based on collective assessment.
Net impairment loss recognised of approximately
HK$3,082,000 (2023: net impairment loss reversed of
HK$914,000) were made on certain credit impaired
debtors assessed individually.

6. @RI A (&)
b. TREREREBTREEK (B

1= & /2 i 2% it 18 5T 1 (4E)

3)

(#8)

il 5+ B3 48 R T 12 8 YRR SR TR HA 4 B
NEESLBRENTETH: I
REHNLBZRARE HEAS
MRTRE B RHMEL AR - BATE
MEREE SR UEREHE
5 E MR B R B R

HE-_Z-NWF+=ZA=+—H1E
FE AEEREBEEBETIGEAES
ERERERFHIRBERE (BNKRE
[6]) #9335,000 L (ZE = =4 :
780,000/ 7T) ° A% B E 3t &8 5l
HENETEERAERKERER
BB 5 18 7% 58 493,082,0008 T (=
T =F FHRESEREDFE
914,000/ 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
b. Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The following tables shows the movement in lifetime

e ISR A

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_WNF+_A=+—HILFE

6. TR (%)
b. &RIEREEBZRBK (H)
18 5 /2 Bt 2 L AT 125 ()

TRBRERBBCTEANESE

ECL that has been recognised for trade receivables WEERER 22 HBEHEEHES
under simplified approach. & o
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
2HMEHREE 2HEHEE
BE(EEY BREMRE
BiEERE) ERE) Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THET TET
At 1 January 2023 WNZE-_=%—F—H 613 18,831 19,444
Changes due to financial instruments AR —Z - =4
recognised as at 1 January 2023: —A—BERZ &
TAMBLEEE :
— Transfer to credit-impaired —EREEERE (158) 158 =
— Impairment losses recognised — BERREEE 951 495 1,446
— Impairment losses reversed — ERERERE (473) (1,409) (1,882)
— Write-offs — s — (6,336) (6,336)
New financial assets originated or ~ EA KB E 7 &/
purchased BE 302 — 302
Exchange adjustments M 5 S 414 (910) (496)
At 31 December 2023 R-ZE-=%
+ZA=+—H 1,649 10,829 12,478
Changes due to financial instruments FE R =% — /W4
recognised as at 1 January 2024: —A—BBERAZE
TEAMBEES :
— Transfer to credit-impaired —EBREEERE (1,289) 1,289 —
— Impairment losses recognised — BEERREESRE 269 3,882 4,151
— Impairment losses reversed — BEBRESE (46) (800) (846)
— Write-offs — M sH — (480) (480)
New financial assets originated or ~ E4KEE 7 ¥4/
purchased BE 112 — 112
Exchange adjustments b 5 3 (22) (450) (472)
At 31 December 2024 R=-Z-NE
+=-A=+-A 673 14,270 14,943
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
b.

Financial risk management objectives b.
and policies (Continued)

credit risk and impairment assessment

6. @RI A (&)
eREAREEERRBR (&

1= & /2 i 2% it 18 5T 1 (4E)

(Continued)
Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables BORKENEERE - EHEE
are mainly due to: EUATEIBATE :
2024
(Decrease) increase
ZE-WE GRS B
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired)
2HEHEE 2HESESE
BiE(EEY BREERE
REERE) EiRE)
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHExT
Trade receivables with gross carrying 48 BR T B 4 3,805,000 7% 7T
amount of approximately ZEBSRWERERERE
HK$3,805,000 transferred to EERE
credit-impaired (1,289) 1,289
Further impairment made for trade REERRIENMMEES
receivables due to increase in JEWBRRIEH E—
credit risk B 269 3,882
Settlement of trade receivables with gross 4 & 4 ERE{E )
carrying amount of approximately 1,384,000 T2 & 5 &
HK$1,384,000 UG BR 3R (46) (800)
No realistic prospect of recovery of trade I E Z X 7] g @1 & 5
receivables with gross carrying amount ~ FEURBR ZR B BRTEI(E
of approximately HK$480,000 #9480,0007% 7T — (480)
New trade receivables with gross carrying #2BR (B #9 1,636,00078 7T
amount of approximately 2B Z KRR
HK$1,636,000 112 —
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZT-_WE+_A=1+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. TR E (&)
b. Financial risk management objectives b. £MEREEERERERK (B
and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment 15 & /& b B (B 7 18 (48)
(Continued)

2023
(Decrease) increase

R =F (RD)HEM
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired)
ZHIEHEE 2HEHBEE
BEQCEE BEERE

REERIE) BRE)
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET

Trade receivables with gross carrying BERTA{E %) 1,748,000 7T

amount of approximately 2B SRWRFEEE

HK$1,748,000 transferred to EERE

credit-impaired (158) 158
Further impairment made for trade REERREMMEE S

receivables due to increase in FENBR SRAE i — 25

credit risk VERED 951 495
Settlement of trade receivables with gross 45 & 4 BREIE XY

carrying amount of approximately 1,882,000/ 7T .2

HK$1,882,000 =0 LT (473) (1,409)
No realistic prospect of recovery of trade ~ I EFR A] gE [0 & 5

receivables with gross carrying amount  JEUBR F 42 BRI (B

of approximately HK$6,336,000 #76,336,00078 7T — (6,336)
New trade receivables with gross 48 BR E {E 4 22,398,000

carrying amount of approximately BT 38 5 RN

HK$22,398,000 302 —
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. EMIER (%)

b. Financial risk management objectives b. £MERKREEERRERK (B

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment 15 B /& bg B (B 7 18 (48)

(Continued)
The following tables shows the reconciliation of TREREREMERERRIZS
loss allowance that has been recognised for other MR E R B R SR
receivables and deposits:
12m ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
1218 A& 2 M
FEEE FEEE
(A& R (H®R
EERE) FERE) oy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THET TET
At 1 January 2023 WZE_=4F
—H—H 112 5,070 5,182
Changes due to financial ARZT==4%F
instruments recognised as at —A—AERZE
1 January 2023: MIAMEEZE
— Impairment losses recognised — BRRAEEE 282 = 282
— Impairment losses reversed — EREREEE 3) (1,547) (1,550)
New financial assets originated EXSEEZ TR
or purchased BE 4 — 4
Exchange adjustments B 5, 58 % (124) (13) (137)
At 31 December 2023 N-ZB-=4F
+=RA=+—AH 271 3,510 3,781
Changes due to financial AR=—ZT-mE
instruments recognised as at —A—AERzE
1 January 2024: BMTAMBEEEE)
— Transfer to credit-impaired —EREEERE (255) 255 —
— Impairment losses recognised — ERRREBE 11 319 330
— Impairment losses reversed — EEERESRE 7 — 7)
New financial assets originated EERBEE SR
or purchased BE 6 — 6
Exchange adjustments P 5 S (6) (125) (131)
At 31 December 2024 R-ZB-NE
+=ZBA=+-—H 20 3,959 3,979
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_WNF+_A=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. IR (%)

b. Financial risk management objectives b. €rERKREERERB K (&)
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment 15 & /& b B (B 7 18 (48)
(Continued)

Changes in the loss allowance for other receivables HhRWER RS EERE
and deposits are mainly due to: BFEERNTEIBEMEK

2024
Increase in
Lifetime ECL
(credit-
impaired)
—E-NE
EmzHES
FEER
(HE
FEERME)
HK$’000
FERT

Further impairment made for credit-impaired BE1E BB E A E A FE W AR SR AE
other receivables E—TRE 319

2023
Decrease in
Lifetime ECL

(credit-
impaired)
—E=4F
e /J\%Hﬁi‘é‘ﬂﬁ
= EEE

(B3R

EERE)
HK$'000
FET

Settlement an other receivable with gross HEHEBEREEL1,547,0008 7T
carrying amount of approximately B E A 8 IR AR 5K
HK$1,547,000 (1,547)
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6.

b. Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

M I E (&)
b. =RiERERE BT RBEK (8)

1= & /2l B 22 i 1B &F 12 (45)

(Continued)
The following tables shows the reconciliation of loss T3R5 P UL — R B A BB
allowance that has been recognised for amount due ERREEREBENHE -
from an associate:
Lifetime ECL
(credit-
impaired)
ZHITEH
FEESER
(HE
FEERE)
HK$'000
FHET
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and RZE-_=F—A—HK"
1 January 2024 —E=F+ZA=+—HK
_Y_IEIE H—H 13,808
Changes due to financial instruments —ENF-HA—H®ERZ

recognised as at 1 January 2024: irﬁﬂllﬂﬁﬁﬁéﬁiﬁib :

— Write-offs — 5 (13,808)
At 31 December 2024 R-ZB-ONE+=-A=+—H -
Liquidity risk MBEE AR
In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group REERBE SRR FREE

monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents and adequate committed lines of funding
from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk as the
Group had net current liabilities of approximately
HK$117,954,000 as at 31 December 2024. The
liquidity of the Group primarily depends on the future
funding being available and the ability of the Group to
meet its financial obligations as they fall due. Details
of which are set out in Note 3.1 to the consolidated
financial statements.

m%%li’ﬁﬁfﬁi&fﬁ F‘f% * BA
NRETESBMBEA TET JE 5 HY
BeBE UENEEHERHZ

AEBEBRBESRER  JTEX
SER-ZT-_WF+=-_A=+—8H
WA RSB EFEL 117,954,000
BT AREMNREBESEEZTR
NCIRELES E’Jﬂi?ﬁﬁ%&$$@1aﬁ
I BRI c EFBEHEHR
et
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The
table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay.
Specifically, the secured loan with a repayment on
demand clause is included in the earliest time band
regardless of the probability of the bank choosing to
exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other non-
derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash
flows. The Group’s liquidity risk management policy
has been updated to ensure there are sufficient
liquid resources to accommodate potential volatility in
Canada prime-rate. To the extent that interest flows
are based on Canada prime rate, the undiscounted
amount is derived based on management’s best
estimates at the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interest rate curve, if available.

e ISR A

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZT-_WE+_A=1+—HIFE

6. IR (&)

b.

eMEAREEERRBR (F

REBERER (HF

TRFANAKEESHABENHRTE
WEBBR - TRIDBIBEBARKEZA
BRZRPHHAEESRAEEZ
AMBRSREMEDL - ABMF
MIRITERITERERN WA
ARAA] - BT 4 B SR AE IR R R A HE 4
ERE ARPREER - £ IEST
EeBAENRHENREEE
REH -

TREZEMNERAEHESRE - K
SENRDHEZRAREERREE
o ARBEANRBDERIARE
MHNEARBENRNEEND -
WA EREANERNKEEN RS
EE-BARBRBASHRIREEERE
RMERROREMGFTFE LE
B EE@AR(NE) -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

6. €I A (&)
b. =RiERERE BT RIBEK (8)

Liquidity risk (Continued) RBEREE (B
Weighted Total
average  On demand or More than  undiscounted Carrying
2024 interest rate  within 1 year 1-2years  2-5 years Syears  cash flows amount
nE  REXY ARERS
S 1:3 RIS -Ep  -ZRE WEIE HERE  RE4E BEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TiEn TiEn TiEn TiEn TiEn TR
Non-derivative financial liahilities T4 2REE
Trade and other payables BAREMERER NA 19,941 - - - 19,941 19,941
FER
Loan from third parties (includedin-~ £=HERGIAZSR
trade and other payables) i EMER) 27 3,160 - - - 3,160 3,160
Secured loan BRER 6.65 21,11 - - - 21,11 21,171
Loan from the immediate holding ~ ERERAAER
company WA 47,154 - - - 41,754 47,754
TER
Bonds 5 3.00 20,181 - - - 20,181 20,181
Lease liabilties g8k 545-1.12 1475 1411 4426 2,490 9,802 8,088
113,682 1411 4,426 2,490 122,009 120,295
Weighted Total
average  On demand or More than  undiscounted Carying
2023 interest rate  within 1 year 1-2pears — 2-Hyears Hyears  cash flows amount
g EERY AR
“E-ck R -ER -EZRE  WEZRE  BERF  REEE BHE
% HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000
% Thr TiEn ThT TiEn TiEn i
Non-derivative financial labiifies  3EfT4 4B A1
Bank overdraft RITEX 7.125-9.625 3 - - — 23 23
Trade and other payables BAREMERNESR N/A 1893 - - - 18936 18936
TR
Loan from third parties (includedin £=H&Z GIAESR
trade and other payables) AERER) 2.0 3076 = = = 3076 3076
Secured loan BRER 8.70 25,063 — — — 25063 25,063
Loan from the immediate holding ~ EERRARE
company N/A 41575 — — — 41575 41575
TaR
Bonds E% 3.00 2045 = = = 20,456 20181
Lease liabilities fEgE 4.65-7.12 1461 1,493 4432 4,008 11,454 9333
110590 1,493 4432 4,008 120583 118187
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Secured loan with a repayment on demand clause
is included in the “on demand or within 1 year”
time band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31
December 2024, the aggregate carrying amount
of the secured loan amounted to approximately
HK$21,171,000 (2023: HK$25,063,000). Taking
into account the Group’s financial position, the
management does not believe that it is probable
that the bank will exercise its discretionary rights to
demand immediate repayment. The management
believes that such secured loans will be repaid after
the end of the reporting period in accordance with
the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreement, details of which are set out in the table
below:

e ISR A

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZT-_WE+_A=1+—HIFE

6. IR (&)

b.

cRMEREIEERRBR ()

REBEEER (HE)

EHEREBEERNCEBERD
SFALMBIE DT [REESRKSK—4F
AN]EER - AT _MF+ =
A=+—H EBEFEZRNERTE
H#21,171,0008 T (Z - =4 :
25,063,000 7T) ° &5t R AEEH
BBikn EERBRAZSHRITR
AAJ RS TTE BB Bk BE
EB-ERERE ZSEEERE
R EREBIEE R EATHRE
TEXAHEE FHIIRTR:

Maturity Analysis — Secured loan with a repayment on
tdemand clause hased on scheduled repayments

HEAH — ERBEENAREREBARNCHEAER

Total
Within More than  undiscounted Carrying
1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years Syears  cash flows amount
AERRE
-¥R -ZWE WEIF RBIF RENE RAEME
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TARL TARL TATL TAL TATL TARL
2024 kS }:3 3,870 3,812 10,913 8,185 26,780 21,1
2023 “Z-=F 4,048 4336 13,009 14,093 35,486 25,063

The amounts included above for variable interest
rate instruments are subject to change if changes
in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of
interest rates determined at the end of the reporting
period.

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments

The management considers that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
recognised in the consolidated financial statements
approximate to their fair values.

fie)F B R BB B E IR EE
e | < o e N I M 7 2
ETASHENSHEZS -

EMIAZAREEFE

EEERR  EREMERR AR
RNETREENECRABENREE
HEENEEMRS -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE

7. REVENUE 7. WE
(i) Disaggregation of revenue from (i) EREHWNEZEIF
contracts with customers
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_Z-_NME&E+=-A=+—HL
FE
Hotel Properties Catering

operation  management  management Total
R R MEER ENEE mgt

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TR Ti#n Ti#n

Types of goods or service EmSRBES
Hotel accommodation BIEETE 19,954 — — 19,954
Food and beverage E 28,151 — — 28,151
Spa KB 9,125 — — 9,125
Marina 155 2,496 — — 2,496
Sales of goods in spa and marina  HEEKE RIGHE
Em 728 — — 728
Properties management MEERE — 41,085 — 41,085
Catering management services ERERRS - - 9,237 9,237
Total @it 60,454 41,085 9,237 110,776
Geographical markets i & 3%
The PRC s — 41,085 9,237 50,322
Canada nex 60,454 — — 60,454
Total @it 60,454 41,085 9,237 110,776

Timing of revenue recognition RS 2 RE
A point in time R 28,879 — — 28,879
Over time e BF 31,575 41,085 9,237 81,897

Total @t 60,454 41,085 9,237 110,776
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZT-_WE+_A=1+—HIFE

7. REVENUE (Continued) 7. Wi (48)
(i) Disaggregation of revenue from (i) BEREAWEZBEF(E
contracts with customers (Continued)
Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from TXHEHIRKRERFE a5 3
contracts with customers with the amounts disclosed ERTIEE SR R
in the segment information:
Segment
revenue
2 2B Uk
HK$’000
FExT
Hotel operation B 48 60,454
Properties management M E IR 41,085
Catering management EREE 9,237
Revenue from contracts with customers and EFAHWER AW
total revenue 110,776
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE

7. REVENUE (Continued) 7. Wz (48)
(i) Disaggregation of revenue from (i) BEREAWEZBEF(E
contracts with customers (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-_ZT-_=F+-A=+—8H1t
G
Hotel Properties Catering

operation  management  management Total
BEEE MEER EHER st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR

Types of goods or service EmdRBER
Hotel accommodation BIEETE 19,411 — — 19,411
Food and beverage 8 26,305 = = 26,305
Spa IKIE 8,150 — — 8,150
Marina L 1,693 — — 1,693
Sales of goods in spa and marina  HEEKE RIGHE
Em 641 — — 641
Properties management WMEERE — 38,802 — 38,802
Catering management services BHREBRS — — 6,558 6,558
Total st 56,200 38,802 6,558 101,560
Geographical markets RS
The PRC H — 38,802 6,558 45,360
Canada nex 56,200 — — 56,200
Total mEt 56,200 38,802 6,558 101,560
Timing of revenue recognition R e 2 B [
A point in time EE R 26,946 — — 26,946
Over time BE B 29,254 38,802 6,558 74,614

Total st 56,200 38,802 6,558 101,560
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7. REVENUE (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Disaggregation of revenue from
contracts with customers (Continued)

e ISR A

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_WNF+_A=+—HILFE

W & (48)

B H Z iR ()

Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from TXHEHIRKRERFE LW a5 5
contracts with customers with the amounts disclosed ERTIEZE SR R
in the segment information:
Segment
revenue
7B =
HK$'000
FET
Hotel operation BERE 56,200
Properties management M E IR 38,802
Catering management EREE 6,558
Revenue from contracts with customers and R &GS MBS
total revenue 101,560

Performance obligations for contracts
with customers

Hotel accommodation

For hotel accommodation income is recognised over
time in the accounting period in which the services
are rendered because all of the benefits are received
and consumed simultaneously by the customer as
the Group performs. The payment is due immediately
after service provided.

Sale of food and beverage

The revenue from sales of food and beverage is
recognised at a point in time and payment is due
when the food and beverage are served. The payment
is due immediately after the food and beverage are
served and accepted by customers.

Spa services

Spa service income is recognised over time in which
the services are rendered because all of the benefits
are received and consumed simultaneously by the
customer as the Group performs. The payment is due
immediately after service provided.

(i) TRPEHMZEBHER

BIEERE
BEEBERAREERRSE NS5
FpER E R - RERMANES
H 2 P AN 5 B R A0 i (R i O ER B
ZH o RERB KRB -

ERHERARNKE —REHMER
I e 1R S8 BRSS9 5K - IR BE TR
HERRERARKZERNR -

7k 7% R 7%

HREFPRAEERHERG RS
W B ROEREFT A Fl & - BUKE RS
W A BE AR 75 12 44 BF P 7 i 3R o B2 A
BR75 18 FESZ BDASF 3K o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE
7. REVENUE (Continued) 7. Wz (48)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts (i) BEREAZEASEE(E

with customers (Continued)
Marina

Revenue from marina which represents income from
moorage and kayak rentals is recognised over time
in which the services are rendered because all of the
benefits are received and consumed simultaneously
by the customer as the Group performs. The payment
is due immediately after service provided.

Sales of goods

Sales of goods are recognised when customer obtains
control of the promised goods in the contract. This is
usually taken to be the point in time when the goods
are delivered and the customer has accepted the
goods. The payment is due immediately after the
goods delivered and accepted by customers.

Properties management services

Revenue relating to properties management services
is recognised over time. The Group bills a fixed
amount for services provided on a monthly basis
and recognised as revenue in the amount to which
the Group has right to invoice and that corresponds
directly with the value of performance completed.
Advance consideration allocated to the properties
management services is recognised as a contract
liability and is released over the period of service. The
normal credit term is 30 days upon service provided.

Catering management services

Revenue relating to catering management services
is recognised over time. The Group bills its customer
on a monthly basis and recognised as revenue in
the amount to which the Group has right to invoice
and that corresponds directly with the value of
performance completed. The normal credit term is 90
days upon service provided.

5EE

HREPRAKERHEREER T
WE MOBFERA M et - sRIBBAMA
(BME R REEBARAUN) BE AR 7%
TR A R M RERR - IR ARAF 1R B AL
BIfI3R -

HERY

EEPERFANRNERBEDOE
B EREVEE BERES
MRXNREFEXEM IR -8
RN FEPBARWIR BB -

WEEERT

B 5% B TR AR A5 AE B 2 WA BE s
R NEET AREHENREFH
HEFTEMEE YA AEEER
MAZRZEHEETKEBENEERR
HENSRER/NE - NEEEY
EEERBHANKEEZR/ED
BE URREHEER - —RIE
EMARERBEENI0A

BEEHER%

2 8RB 7 AR 7S AR B 2 U A BB B T
BR-AEBEESEAMNEEFHAAR
B UK ASEAEEMAZERS
EEKENEEEEZEBNSERE
RERZE —REEHARRERERK
£H90H -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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7. REVENUE (Continued) 7. Wz (48)
(iii) Transaction price allocated to the (ili) "HEZERPELARTREAEX
remaining performance obligation for ZXR5E
contracts with customers
The transaction price allocated to the remaining REBEEHR PEEZEHTEOERME
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially (KRBT B KRBT IR ZER
unsatisfied) as at the end of the reporting period and MR SRR RER T
the expected timing of recognising revenue are as
follows:
Hotel Properties
operation management
B JE R MEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
2024 —ENEF
Within two years A A 5,275 -
Within one year —F N -~ 1,473
2023 —E=F
Within two years M A 4,829 =
Within one year —F R = 1,566
The customer gift cards of the hotel operation have HIERLE T P12 MR & A S
no expiration and can be redeemed anytime at BB AIHER N LTk ER
customers’ discretion. The amounts disclosed above NEEENEEHERTETLRY
represent the Group’s expectation on the timing RHEMER LA EEN BT
of redemption made by customers. The amounts TEEEMERERSIZEKE R
disclosed above do not include transaction price AERZOIBEERBYETNRFZE
allocated to performance obligations have been 1% o
satisfied but not yet recognised due to variable
consideration constraint.
The Group receives an one-month service income in AEBEGRREHDEEERBEK—
advance for the provision of properties management BARRBKRA - BEREFERFAE
service, Management expects that all the remaining B THREHNETERIRE B REET
performance obligations will be recognised as —FAERBIA o

revenue within one year from the end of the reporting
period.



TIMES UNIVERSAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=R E B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE

8. OPERATING SEGMENTS
Information reported to the board of Directors (the “Board”),
being the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”"), for
the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance focuses on types of goods or services

delivered or provided.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments under
HKFRS 8 Operating Segments are as follows:

(i)  Hotel operation — Operation of a resort in Canada

(i)  Properties management — Properties management
in the PRC

(ii) Catering management — Catering management in

RERDEEDHRAFEMAESTS
(EFg)(MEXBLERRE ([XBE
BRRE])ERZEMBERARMNK

R EM S MRE 2B -
AfEms *ETJ”‘;%/%EM%# = AR Al 58 85k
BEDE AEBE 2®mO AT -

0

(ii)

(iii)

BERE — KE—HURMERZ

B REE

MEEE —aTERE‘RMEERE

BEREE —ETERHEREER

the PRC %
(@) Segment revenues and results (@ BN ERESR
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue REBRAESmMOHE D 2 WA K
and results by reportable segments: ¥ESWEHWT :
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_ZFE-_ME+=-A=+—HL
FE
Hotel Properties Catering
operation  management  management Total
BRERE NEER ERER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TET TR T TET
Revenue &= 60,454 41,085 9,237 110,776
Segment profit (loss) 2BEF (FE) 239 (798) (543) (1,102)
Unallocated other loss, net ﬂiﬁﬁﬂﬁ‘r@%% Pk 125
Unallocated corporate expenses AABRRAIAYT (5,386)
Finance costs BEMK (352)
Loss hefore tax BREAIER (6,715)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 8. ZEENH (&)
(@) Segment revenues and results (@) oAUz RES (F)
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-_ZT-_=F+-A=+—8H1t
FE
Hotel Properties Catering
operation  management  management Total
BELE MEER EHRER @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET TET TET
Revenue g 56,200 38,802 6,558 101,560
Segment profit (loss) AEEF (BE) 1,754 (393) 839 2,250
Unallocated other income FAREAMMEA 1,267
Unallocated corporate expenses N WNGIEE (5,166)
Impairment loss reversed on interest  FL7A — & B & 4 ]
in an associate BERBERERRE 1,115
Share of loss of an associate SMo—EHE
RRZER (1,115)
Finance costs BEMA (436)
Loss before tax BRE R EE (2,085)

The accounting policies of the operating segments
are the same as the Group’s accounting policies
described in Note 3.2. Segment results represent
the profit earned by/loss from each segment without
allocation of certain administration costs, certain
other income, gains and losses, net, impairment loss
reversed on interest in an associate, certain finance
costs, share of results of an associate, and directors’
emoluments. This is the measure reported to the
CODM for the purposes of resources allocation and
performance assessment.

REDE 2 BUREN E3.20
MAREE 2 @FFBRMER - 5 EBE
BERDES TITBRAAN  HTH
A~ s R EEFRE N —F
Bt 2 A RO R B 0 OB (ELES 1R
ETREXAK - 21— E QA
ZERENREEWNE A BB A
MEZEANEEZEBE - thRA
TEEERREZBRNMERERDE
KRG ZTTE °
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 8. ZEENH (&)
(b) Segment assets and liabilities (b) *HBEERARE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and AEERAZERIHBEID Z2EER
liabilities by reportable segments: BESTHOT :
As at 31 December 2024 R-E-_NE+=-A=+—H
Hotel Properties Catering
operation  management  management Total
BERE MEER EHER s
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TER TER TET TET
ASSETS EE
Segment assets NHEE 71,147 14,992 4,032 96,171
Unallocated corporate assets AARRAIEE 13,808
Consolidated assets BABE 109,979
LIABILITIES a1
Segment liabilities nNMaE 28,880 29,734 2,527 61,141
Unallocated corporate liabilities AABRRAIAE 84,516
Consolidated liabilities LEaf 145,657
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRk M

8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE-_ZE-_NE+-_A=+—HIFE

8. ZENH ()

(b) Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) (b) *HBEERARE (&
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZE-=F+=-A=+—H
Hotel Properties Catering
operation  management  management Total
BELE MEEE EHRER @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FAET THT TET
ASSETS BE
Segment assets SHEE 86,343 17,174 3,758 107,275
Unallocated corporate assets AABMRAIEE 13,105
Consalidated assets GREE 120,380
LIABILITIES =0}
Segment liabilities SHEE 32,243 30,640 1,797 64,680
Unallocated corporate liabilities Nl WNCIN=L 79,153
Consalidated liabilities LeaR 143,833
For the purposes of monitoring segment MERDBRAEERD HBEDEE

performances and allocating resources between
segments:

° all assets are allocated to operating segments
other than certain other receivables, cash and
cash equivalents, interest in an associate,
certain property, plant and equipment; and

o all liabilities are allocated to operating segments
other than certain other payables and accruals,
bonds, loans from the immediate holding
company, bank overdraft and deferred tax
liabilities.

RME

BRE T HMEYRIRR  Re Kk
ReEEY N—HEBEEQR
ZHEm B TYE  HE kK
wI FREESRELED
=3

R & T A 8 A RR X N B 5T
ER Er EEERAAE
R RITEXRBEERABE
SN FAERBEDRELZEDE o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 8. ZEENH (&)
(c) Other segment information (c) HitpEIMER
Year ended 31 December 2024 BEZ-Z-_ME&E+=-A=+—HL
FE
Amounts included in the measure of segment result AENHEEXDEEERTAZ
or segment assets: T
Hotel Properties Catering
operation management management  Unallocated Total
BELE N¥EE  BYEE KAE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FHET FAEL FAL FEL
Additions of property, plantand ~ AEWE « HERRE
equipment 921 n 22 - 1,014
Addition of right-of-use assets ~ AEFFREE — 22 - - 22
Amortisation of intangible assets T/ & ZE # 1 — (1,658) - - (1,658)
Depreciation of property, mE - BRRRETE
plant and equipment (3,330) (156) (33) (171) (3,690)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets #FEEENE — (1,165) - - (1,165)
Finance costs MEKA (1,949) (463) - (352) (2,764)
Impairment loss recognised on LB SREUER
trade receivables, net EARESSE
FE - (1,881) (1,536) - (3,417)
Impairment loss recognised on~ FLE M EUUR ER
other receivables, net REFEETE — 9) (320) - (329)
Loss on disposal of property HEME  BRK
plant and equipment REER (128) - - - (128)
Amounts regularly provided to the CODM but not TEHREZEEERKERBEBNET
included in the measure of segment result: ENPEERUEFTAZLE
Hotel Properties Catering
operation management management  Unallocated Total
BEERE  NEEE  EHEER KB M@t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKD'000
TER TER TR TR TiEn

Interest income from financial KRB S EEE 2 8
institutions LN 13 3 1 — 17
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8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)

8. ZENH ()

(c) Other segment information (Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2023

(c) HihmrEEHR (48)
Hz—_Z2_-_=F+_-_HA=+—81t

FE
Amounts included in the measure of segment result AENHEEXDEEERTAZ
or segment assets: T
Hotel Properties Catering
operation management management  Unallocated Total
BERE MEEE  ZHEE Kol Foh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FEL FAT FHEL FAL
Additions of property, plantand ~ AEWE - BERRRE
equipment 4909 79 3 398 5,389
Addition of right-of-use assets ~ AEEBEEE — 142 — — 142
Amortisation of intangible assets £ & & # 1 — (1,775) — — (1,775)
Depreciation of property, plant 1% - ERRENE
and equipment (1,809) (184) (25) (395) (2,413)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ff A ENE = (1,191) — (181) (1,372)
Finance costs BEMA (2,163) (515) = (436) (3,114)
Impairment loss reversed HE SRR ERE
(recognised) on trade (BR)AEER
receivables, net B8 — 578 (444) — 134
Impairment loss reversed SEMEYRTER (:R)
(recognised) on other REBETE
receivables, net — 1,267 ©)] = 1,264
Impairment loss recognised on~~ FLEFEERAL
intangible assets REEBE — (165) — — (165)
Impairment loss recognised on ~ FLEERER 2 BEFA
goodwill = (1,155) = = (1,155)
Loss on written-off of property ~ MisE#%  BHRK
plant and equipment B (187) — = — (187)
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8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)

(c) Other segment information (Continued)

Amounts regularly provided to the CODM but not
included in the measure of segment result:

operation
BEELS
HK$'000

8 l#é'géi’d-ls(n,ﬁ)

(c) Hissra&r (&)
EHREEEERKERB|ERG
EDMEERL B|EFAZERE

Properties Catering

management management  Unallocated Total
NEER  EHER AAR a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKD'000

TET TR TBT T

Interest income from financial KBS BERE ZH 2

institutions WA 7 = = 7
Gain on settlement of bond HEREENS — — 1,000 1,000
Geographical information E &R

The Group’s operations are principally located in Hong
Kong, Canada, and the PRC.

Information about the Group’s revenue from external
customers is presented based on the location of the
customers. Information about the Group’s non-current
assets (excluding deferred tax assets) is presented based
on the geographical location of the assets.

AEBEBTBUREL - MEARGTHE -

BRASERBINEES ZWSERT
REEFPEMZR -AHEANEEIFR
HEEEN (TEREEHBREE) ER
BEMRED -

Revenue from

external customers

Non-current assets

RENBEFE 2 W ERBEE
2024 2023 2024 2023
TECNE | ZE-=F | ZEWF | ZE-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Canada meEx 60,454 56,200 73,918 83,175
Hong Kong B — — — 170
The PRC [ 50,322 45,360 10,700 13,996
110,776 101,560 84,618 97,341
Information about major customers FRFTEEZRAHEN

None of the customers contributed over 10% of the total
revenue of the Group for both years ended 31 December
2024 and 31 December 2023.

BE_T_MF+_A=+—RAK=
=+t A=t—HLHFE" ﬁi,ﬂﬁi%:
FERMASBEAKDBEB1I0% °
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OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, 9. Hit N WHEREGHEFH
NET
2024 2023
—E-ME —F-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBT FET
Interest income from bank deposits RITERZFBIA 17 7
Gain on settlement of bond (Note (a)) HEEHFWE (@) — 1,000
Exchange gain, net M 3 U &5 0F BE 60 1,165
Rental income el A 72 32
Loss on disposal of property, MEWE  HeS Rk
plant and equipment HEEE (128) -
Loss on written-off of property, plantand #5403 - #2E MR EE B
equipment - (187)
Others Hf 42 488
63 2,505
Note: BdaE -

(a)  During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company
entered into a settlement deed with a bondholder to settle
the aggregated principal amount of HK$10,000,000 and the
aggregated outstanding interest of HK$800,000, recognised
as other payable, at an aggregated cash consideration of
HK$9,800,000. Gain on settlement of bond of HK$1,000,000
has been recognised in the profit or loss for the year ended 31

December 2023.

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES RECOGNISED

(REVERSED) UNDER EXPECTED CREDIT

LOSS MODEL, NET

(a) REE=Z=

=F+-A=+—HIEFE "

ARRBE-BEHFFE AR LAEN R

LAIR & X {8 42%89,800,000 % T 4

REMEMNS

BN R

S IE B 728 6 4258 10,000,000 7

TC 48 K5 A B 42 5E 800,000 T - RELE
—E_=F+-_A=+—BHULFERER
HERR 45 f& %5 Uk 2% 1,000,000 7T »

MR (#m) FH

10. BMERBERXT ZEERR

2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Net impairment losses recognised THIFRIERER (FEE) BE

(reversed) on: B HEFRE
— Trade receivables — B RWER 3,417 (134)
— Other receivables — H b Ut BR X 329 (1,264)
3,746 (1,398)

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 6(b).

BAERHE 2 FBER M E6(D)
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11. FINANCE COSTS

11. B E R K

2024 2023
—EMmEF ZEZ=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Interests on: &
— Secured loan — EWER 1,949 2,163
— Bonds — &% 265 347
— Lease liabilities —HEaE 463 518
— Long service payments — RHR% S 3 4
— Other — Hf 84 82
2,764 3,114
12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 12. FiIBHRAX
2024 2023
—E-mEF —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current tax BN HAFR 18
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) R EEFTS
(TEEMSHD 856 1,018
Deferred tax IEEF IR
Current year (Note 33) AEE (K7E33) (75) 5,187
781 6,205
Notes: MI5E
(@)  Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% on the estimated (@ ZMEFENTBMNEHR R ERD

assessable profit for both years. No provision for taxation in
Hong Kong has been made as the Group’s income neither
arises in nor is derived from Hong Kong.

(b)  Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT (b)
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years. Certain
subsidiaries operating in the PRC enjoy a preferential income
tax rate of 5% to 15% (2023: 5% to 15%) of their assessable

income.

KEFRE °

£15%) °

M Z16.5% 1 H - WML FEB BB
BE REARSAEEZBALIFEERRK

RIEBEFBECEMGEE ([REMERED
REEMBBEBREESD - BB AR
RZMEFEE 2 HEEB25% - HTRF
HEENMNBARZAEERBRAZE
EEHEESSREL% (ZE-=F 5%
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 12. FR{5 8B 32 (4F)

Notes: (Continued) ik« (&)

(c)  Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulation in the PRC, () MREBHPEMBEEERRER PEBH B
small low-profit enterprises enjoyed a preferential tax rate of ZH20%EBEHE  MBEPBEERBG
20%, with a tax concession to reduce the original required ERERN(ERE—FTERNREER
annual taxable profit by 75% given the annual taxable profit is fﬁ%ﬁfﬁﬁlﬁlﬁﬁﬂ’l"tw FEEATGE
less than or equal to RMB3,000,000 in accordance with the R R AR ¥ 3,000,0007T (&) I
“Announcement on Further implementation on Preferential ] 2 45 75% K0 & 40 B P (S BB RLOR % - B
Income Tax Policies Applicable to Small Low-profit Enterprises” BT NOFR T —FF+ZA=1—
issued by State Taxat|on Admlmstratlon of the PRC. EE ™ ALEFE AEEETHERREEMSR
SHWEEEEFREF 2 A (“Chongging Haotai”), one of EYMEEBEREALAR ([EEZFE]))
the subsidiary of the Group, is qualified as small low-profit HENRBAEEER HE_T_MF
enterprises for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. +ZA=+—HLEFE AEEETHEB
EEXERMAR A A, one of the subsidiary of the Group, ANEEERERMARABFTE DA A
is qualified as small low-profit enterprises for the year 31 EER -

December 2024.

(d)  Canadian Corporation Tax is calculated at Federal Tax rate of (d HEZZF-_OFRZTZ=F+=A
15% and British Columbia Provincial Tax rate of 12% on the =t+T—HIEFE  MERBEMERTIA
estimated assessable profits for the years ended 31 December HETERB R PR R 15% R EB
2024 and 2023. No provision for taxation has been made as TR EERERI2HAE -ARMEX
the Canada subsidiary has sufficient tax loss brought forward to WEBARERANGEERIBEBERERSE
offset the estimated assessable profits for the years ended 31 ZE N+ A=+—HRZT==F
December 2024 and 31 December 2023. T A=+ —HIEFENMGEERBER -

It I fE E TR BT o

(e)  Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates (e) REMELRAERESZHBIRIBERLE
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions. B2RITREHE -

*  For identification purpose only * EHER

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled REEFMEHATHGEERREMS

from the loss before tax per the consolidated statement of EH&ZET%E’%Z%TRH EEEERNT

profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2024 2023
—E-EF T =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

Loss before tax MR AIE B (6,715) (2,085)

Income tax at applicable tax rates RBEAMEFENMEH (1,476) (260)

Tax effect of expenses not deductible AN RS2

for tax purpose 2,655 6,602

Tax effect of income not taxable for tax BEMBUA BT 2

purpose (731) (753)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERMIEBENTETE 1,120 588
Utilisation of tax losses previously not FABEARERORIEEE

recognised (660) =
Tax effect of temporary difference not RERERFMEENH BT L

recognised (5) =
Tax effect of preferential tax BERMENH B E (122) 28
Income tax expense for the year RTEERBSHEX 781 6,205
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE

13. LOSS BEFORE TAX 13. R FH A &8

Loss before tax has been arrived at after charging: BRERATEEE MR T SEEEDS

2024 2023
—E-ME —_E =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Auditors’ remuneration: ZERETEN £
— audit services — ZERT 1,350 1,325
Staff costs (including directors’ BINA(BIEEEH B
emolument (Note 14)) (FzE14))
— salaries, wages, allowance and — e I8 2HE
other benefits in kind H i E Y iE A 44,761 44,297
— retirement schemes contributions — RREEIZ K 2,870 2,796
— service cost of long service payments — R EIIR TS S &9 IR 7S A A 18 102
Total staff costs (Note) B TR A 4258 (k) 47,649 47,195
Cost of inventories recognised as expense #7245 Sz #7175 Ak K 14,267 12,280
Depreciation of: e -
— Property, plant and equipment — W RN 3,690 2,413
— Right-of-use assets — FREEE 1,165 1,372
Total depreciation JrEMRE 4,855 3,785
Depreciation included in direct costs BERFAEREBERAZITE (2,013) (2,132)
Depreciation included in administrative ~ D Ef AfTH RS 2T E
expenses 2,842 1,653
Electricity, water and gas fee KERE 11,155 12,772
Electricity, water and gas fee included in Bt ABER A Z KEEE
direct costs (9,978) (11,532)
Electricity, water and gas fee included in Bt ATTHASX 2 KEEE
administrative expenses 1,177 1,240
Repairs and maintenance HERRE 3,783 3,681
Repairs and maintenance included in BEEFABER A2 #ERRE
direct costs (2,897) (2,907)
Repairs and maintenance included in EEATHAZ 2#ERRE
administrative expenses 886 774
Cleaning included in direct costs EEARERARZERE 4,109 3,627
Amortisation of intangible assets | B EEH
(included in administrative expenses) (Bt ATTHFAX) 1,658 1,775
Legal and professional fee FRRBEEXER 3,408 4,034
Note: Staff costs amounted to approximately HK$37,917,000 (2023: Bt : B TRZAR4937,917,0008 T (Z T =4 :

37,640,000 7T) % 9,732,000 7T (= &
— =% : 9,555,000/ L) B D BIFF AR
RARITHRAS ©

HK$37,640,000) and HK$9,732,000 (2023: HK$9,555,000)
have been included in direct costs and administrative expenses
respectively.
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EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments, disclosed
pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and the CO, are as

follows:

14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

For the year ended 31 December 2024

14. EXERITHAERNME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZT-_WE+_A=1+—HIFE

REER ETRARARGAREES
RITHREEHOMEIT -

BE-E-_NE+-_A=+-HLEFE

Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefits
and benefits schemes
Fees in kind contributions Total
g& 2ER BREANGFE
ok ENEF H®3 @t
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TER TER TER TER
Executive directors HTEE
Mr. Choi Yun Chor (Chairman) EENLE (ER) — 120 6 126
Mr. Chen Jian BRig s — 120 — 120
Mr. Tai Kwok Keung Kenny B E — 120 6 126
Ms. Hung Wang Kai Grace R ET L — — - -
Independent non-executive directors BYFHITES
Ms. Lai Cheuk Yu Cherrie REmit 120 — — 120
Mr. Huang Xiang Yang BERBEE 120 — — 120
Mr. Ngok Ho Wai AR5 A 120 - - 120
360 360 12 132
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE

14. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

14. SERTHARNME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_T-_=F+-HA=+—HLEFE
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefits benefits schemes
Fees in kind contributions Total
e 2MRk  BRAENEE
we EMER R @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AT AT AT
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Choi Yun Chor (Chairman) ERNEE(ER) — 120 6 126
Mr. Chen Jian BRfg & — 120 — 120
Mr. Tai Kwok Keung Kenny BB Lt — 120 6 126
Ms. Hung Wang Kai Grace rERELT — — — —
Independent non-executive directors BV FHITES
Ms. Lai Cheuk Yu Cherrie Remi+ 120 — — 120
Mr. Huang Xiang Yang BERBEE 120 — — 120
Mr. Ngok Ho Wai #oaks 120 — — 120
360 360 12 732
Notes: FTEE -
(@)  The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for (@) LEXFRHTESFSIZMEHAREERR
their services in connection with the management of the affairs NEIRANEBER AT -
of the Company and the Group.
(b)  The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown (b) EXFRBIERTESCHMEDARSE
above were for their services as directors of the Company. NEZFGHRERE M -
(c)  No chief executive of the Company was appointed for the years © ARIRBEZZT-_HNFER=_TZ=

ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the
chief executive waived or agreed to waive any emoluments
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

TTA=ST-HIEFEIEEZEEES

AB -

=4
1T

REE-_ZE-_NWFER-_T-_=F+_H
=t HIEFE WESERITHRAER
BESREREZTANE 2 ZHE -



RRRREEEZERERA A

—E-mER

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRk M

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_WNF+_A=+—HILFE

15. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 15. AEEEHMES
The five highest paid employees of the Group during the AEEBEFRNAERRTMEELTBE
year did not include any Directors (2023: No director), FRMES (ZTEZ=F:8FF) FF

details of whose remuneration are set out in Note 14 to
the consolidated financial statements above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the five (2023: five) highest
paid employees who are neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company are as follows:

ZEHEMFEBER EXERE

l4-HEBpA% (ZF

B 15 R MY R
T_-—F:RB)AIF
RRAREERITTHARZ
RAFEZFHMEBNT

= 2

RaFMEER

2024 2023
—E-NF —ET-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥ & « 8L X E W& T 3,078 3,068
Retirement benefits schemes contributions & /K18 Fl&t 2 4 7% 115 109
3,193 3,177
The number of the highest paid employees who are not the FMNFUATHE 2 FESH T UE

Directors whose remuneration fell within the following band BABMT :
is as follows:
Number of individuals
EBEA™Y
2024 2023
—E-MEF —T_=F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = % 1,000,000 7T 5 3

There was no arrangement during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023, under which the Directors or
the five highest paid individuals waived or agreed to waive
any remuneration, and no emoluments were paid by the
Group to the Directors or the five highest paid individuals
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as
compensation for loss of office.

REBEZZE-_NER_ZT-_=F+=A
=+ BUEFE - EERAERE T M
AT EBIRE ML RESRBNE
RS BEAEBITERNESHAA
EoFHEMA T HERBE - 1EA
BAREBEINMBEAREB RS HIE
REEREE -



TIMES UNIVERSAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=R E B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE

16. DIVIDENDS 16.

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders
of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2024,
nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of the
reporting period (2023: HK$Nil).

17. LOSS PER SHARE 17.

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

iz 2

BE— Ei-i— A=+—HIFE "
I?ﬂfﬂ$ B RIR SRR
HQ?&%E@XM%D‘H&%%{E@H&%(:

TI=F THET) -
BhEH

ARAREBANEREERERNREEER
TIERIATBIEAE

2024 2023
—E-mE —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Loss for the year attributable to owners of A Q BB AEIEFRER
the Company (7,496) (8,290)
2024 2023
—E-MEF —E =
'000 ‘000
TR F A&
Number of shares ROEE
Weighted average number of ordinary AEERERK
shares for the purpose of basic and BEEBBMEZ
diluted loss per share B AR N I8 1,092,878 1,092,878

No diluted loss per share for both years ended 31
December 2024 and 31 December 2023 were presented
as there were no potential ordinary shares in issue for both
years.

HRMEFETEEEND HTERRK
BHE-T -_MF+_A=+t—BEZ
E_=F+-_A=t—BHIMEFER
BHIIGREEER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZT-_WE+_A=1+—HIFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

18. W% - B RR

Freehold
land and Other
buildings property,
held for Leasehold Motor plant and
own use improvements vehicles equipment Total
KAERE
TREE  HENE =t/ E
BRNET £ RE BERRE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TAET TET TET
COST RA
At 1 January 2023 R-Z-=%—A—H 93,038 326 564 9,837 103,765
Exchange adjustments fE & 2,124 — (12) 229 2,341
Additions NE 1,658 397 = 3,334 5,389
Written-off HisE = — — (677) (677)
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+=A
=+—-H 96,820 723 552 12,723 110,818
Exchange adjustments i & (7,953) = (22) (1,030) (9,005)
Additions NE 637 = 4 373 1,014
Disposal & = — — (860) (860)
Written-off iG] = — — (630) (680)
At 31 December 2024 R-ZBE-NE+=F
=t—-H 89,504 123 534 10,526 101,287
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ~ RHTERFEE
AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2023 R-ZZE-=%—A—H 15,172 206 384 8,948 24,710
Exchange adjustments i 5 AR 370 — @) 175 538
Provided for the year AEERE 1,765 371 110 167 2413
Written-off i sH = — — (490) (490)
At 31 December 2023 RZZ-=%+-H
=+—H 17,307 577 487 8,800 27,171
Exchange adjustments BHBE (1,517) = (21) (790) (2,328)
Provided for the year AEERE 1,932 146 64 1,548 3,690
Disposal HeE = — — (685) (685)
Written-off i sH = — — (680) (680)
At 31 December 2024 R-ZE-MFE+ZA
Er=0 17,7122 723 530 8,193 27,168
CARRYING VALUES BEE
At 31 December 2024 R-E-mE+=A
Er=F 71,7182 — 4 2,333 74,119
At 31 December 2023 RZE-_=F+=A
=ET=E 79,513 146 65 3,923 83,647
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s freehold land
and buildings held for own use situated in Canada with
carrying amount of approximately HK$71,782,000 (2023:
HK$79,513,000) were pledged to the secured loan granted
to the Group (Notes 30 and 37).

The above items of property, plant and equipment, are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated

useful lives as follows:

18. W% - B RR

R-ZE-_NWFE+_-_A=+—H ' £A&£H
RNMEARKAEE I EFEERN
EFHEmMELNA71,782,0008 T (ZF
— =4 :79,513,000F 7T) * B F A

SEMERER (HE30K37) -

A EWE - #ERREEBEBRIA NS
AERFHANABERETEINE -

Freehold land Not depreciated KAFERELH TFITE
Buildings held for own use 25 years REERMETF
Leasehold improvements 3 years or over the lease HMEMERE 34 sk 1% 0 Bf
term
Motor vehicles 5 years T
Other property, plant and 3-5 years Hmyz - es il 3E5F
equipment
19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 19. ERHESE
Office
premises Car parks Total
WAEYE FHE5 et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHET FHET
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-_=F—HF—H 9,978 79 10,057
Additions hE — 142 142
Depreciation charges TEER (1,288) (84) (1,372)
Exchange adjustments bE 5 3 (268) 3) (271)
At 31 December 2023 RZE-=F
+=ZA=+—H 8,422 134 8,556
Additions NE — 22 22
Depreciation charges HEER (1,084) (81) (1,165)
Exchange adjustments bE W A (255) (3) (258)
At 31 December 2024 R-FE-mF
+=-A=+-—8H 7,083 72 7,155
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZT-_NFE+_A=+—HBILFE

19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 19. EHEEE (&)
2024 2023
—E-F —T=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Expense relating to short-term leases G B SRR A X 644 469
Total cash outflow for leases HERS R R
(including short-term leases) (RIEEEEE) 2,086 2,112

Note: Amount includes right-of use assets resulting from new leases
entered.

For both years, the Group leases office premises and car
parks for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for
fixed term ranging from 2 to 10 years (2023: from 2 to 10
years) but may have termination option as describe below.
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the
non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of
a contract and determines the period for which the contract
is enforceable.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
the Group entered into several short-term leases for
carparks and an office premise. As at 31 December 2024,
the outstanding lease commitments relating to these
carparks and an office premise are HK$377,000 (2023:
HK$320,000).

The Group has termination option in a lease for office.
This is used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of
managing the assets used in the Group’s operations. The
termination option held is exercisable only by the Group
and not by the respective lessor.

The Group assesses at lease commencement date whether
it is reasonably certain not to exercise the termination
option.

In addition, the Group reassesses whether it is reasonably
not certain to exercise a termination option upon the
occurrence of either a significant event or a significant
change in circumstances that is within the control of the
lessee. During the year, there is no such triggering event
(2023: Nil).

M eReRRICHEEMELNERES
=

RABREE AEBEHESTEMER
FESIELERR IV ZHEANE
FHNT22108 (ZE=-=F:2£10
F) NI EERERE-HE
G IR E R EERER - NEEH IR
A HEEBRE  ASERAEHOZ
EEWETE S X2 0] B HIENFTHARR o

BHE_ZT_NFAR_FT_ZF+=
=+—HLEFE- $EIJ¢TyEH
BHEERBRAEMERPHE - R =-F
“ME+-_A=+—H FHE%EEE
BERBRAEVMENREELRERIES
377,000/% 7t (Z & — =4 : 320,000/8
JT) °

AEERERIENAETHE -ZWE

%#ﬁﬁ$ﬁl%@%%M§F’M%
SEMEFEEM - KRIEREERA

m$%lﬁﬁﬁmﬁﬁﬁAﬁﬁ°

AEBREHERKAHFERESSIEMR
FETITIERAAR ILIRIZHE -

AN R EABAEHSEE 2 AHIRE
AEHREREHNEBER AEEHE
EHTERETEERRETFERIEEE
Bo-NAFE SEFEERSEH(CE
T ) o
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20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20. BELEE

Customers
relationship
EFEBE
HK$'000
FET
CoST A
At 1 January 2023 RZE-=F—HF—H 43,390
Exchange adjustment PE 5 & (1,227)
At 31 December 2023 RZEBE_=ZF+=-_A=+—8H 42,163
Exchange adjustment M 3 B (1,389)
At 31 December 2024 R-ZE-_NFE+=ZA=1+—H 40,774
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT 2N EBERRE
At 1 January 2023 R-E-_=F—H—H 37,956
Charge for the year REE T 1,775
Impairment loss recognised in the year RARFE R EEE 165
Exchange adjustment ME 5 F & (1,090)
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+=-A=+—8H 38,806
Charge for the year RFEEXH 1,658
Exchange adjustment BE 5 3 & (1,313)
At 31 December 2024 R-ZE-_NmME+=-A=+-—H 39,151
CARRYING VALUES AREE
At 31 December 2024 R-E-_NFE+=-A=+—H 1,623
At 31 December 2023 R-ZE-_=F+-"A=+—H 3,357

The customers relationship was acquired from third parties
through business combination. It was amortised on a
straight-line basis over 10 years. The remaining useful life
of the intangible assets, customers relationship, was 1 year
(2023: 2 years).

REBENEBEBAHEFE=ZFWE
HFEAEQREELZIOFNEHY EFE
EEPBR ZHGAERFHALF
(ZE-_=F :2%F) o




20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Impairment assessment of intangible assets

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, one
of the cash-generating units, comprising Nuofute Property
Management Co., Ltld.*(EE#ERVEEREBR A A)
(the “Nuofute CGU”) in the property management segment
has been underperformed. The management of the
Group concluded there was indication for impairment and
conducted impairment assessment on intangible assets,
customers relationship, attributable to the Nuofute CGU.

The recoverable amount of the intangible assets has been
determined based on their value in use. That calculation
uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by the management of the Group covering the
remaining one-year period (2023: two-year period) with
a pre-tax discount rate of 41.83% (2023: 38.57%) and
the cash flow within the one-year period (2023: two-year
period) is extrapolated using a steady growth rate of 2.00%
(2023: 2.00%) per annum. Another key assumption for
the value in use calculation is the budgeted gross margin
of 26.20% (2023: 25.38%), which is determined based
on the Nuofute CGU'’s past performance and management
expectations for the market development.

The discount rate reflects specific risks related to the
Nuofute CGU. The retention rates within the remaining
one-year period (2023: two-year period) have been based
on the past experience and management’s expectation of
market development.

Intangible assets were impaired to their recoverable amount
of approximately HK$3,357,000 as at 31 December 2023,
which is their carrying values at year end and impairment
loss of approximately HK$165,000 has been recognised
in profit or loss during the year ended 31 December 2023.
As at 31 December 2024, based on the result of the
assessment, management of the Group determined that the
recoverable amount is approximate to the carrying amount
of the intangible assets and thus management of the Group
determines that there is no impairment recognised on
intangible assets.

* For identification purpose only
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZT-_NFE+_A=+—HBILFE

0. BEEE (&)

B EERRERMS

BE_Z_NEFER-_FT-_=F1+_H
Zt—HLEFE - MEEESHOES

—EREELBU(BREEAEEDE

ERARAR((HRERREELEM]))
—ERATE-AEEERERRFE
BMEDR - W E%%F?ﬁ?&%ﬁi?i
BUMBLEE  BEPBERETRERSE -

B BEZAREDESBNRIEEFERE
BEET ZAEERARBASEEERE
HEMNBEENRE S REN  REHK
T—FH(ZTEZ=F : WFH)  HA
AR R 541.83% (Z B - =4 :3857%)
F—FH(CE-_=ZF WEH) ANIER
EREEBTF200% (ZE=-=4:
2.00%) B L R REITHEE - (£ B
B EMNES —EHEERKE26.20% (=
T =F :2538%)MTBEERNE AT
BELAEFRSCELBENNBAERRER
EREBYMBRENTARET -

EEEET&59%,\?**%5%1?&%&%?51
ZEE BTN —FH(ZT_=%F:
WE%)WZ% AR BERRLE
BESMSERCARREE -

RZBE_=F+_RA=+—H EFEE&
R EZE H Al [ & 8 493,357,000 %
7T BMERFERNEEE MBERRSRE
4)165,000 TERBE_E-_=F+=
A=+t—BIEFERBRARER - K=
Z_MEFT_A=+T—0 RETHE
R AEBEEREETETLEENATI
OeRmEAFRTIERS BHAEEE
BEETRETLEELBEERME -

MRELN %l
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21. GOODWILL 21. B8
Property
management
— Acquisition of
Chonggqing Ailuojia
MEEE —
KBEEERR
HK$'000
FET
COST 5
At 1 January 2023 R-ZTEZ=F—H—H 3,010
Exchange adjustment bE 78 & (85)
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+=-A=+—8H 2,925
Exchange adjustment bE 5, 78 B (96)
At 31 December 2024 R-E-_NE+=-A=+—H 2,829
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT 2R E
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-_=F—H—H —
Impairment loss for the year FRBEEE 1,155
Exchange adjustment bE 2 (11)
At 31 December 2023 RZZT-_=F+=-A=+—8 1,144
Exchange adjustment (R (36)
At 31 December 2024 R-ZE-_NME+=-A=+-—H 1,108
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2024 R-B-_mME+=-A=+—8 1,721
At 31 December 2023 R_E_=F+_-_A=+—8H 1,781
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21.

GOODWILL (Continued)
Note:

For the purpose of impairment testing, the goodwill in relation
to property management above has been allocated to one cash-
generating unit, comprising Chongging Ailuojia Technology Service
Limited* (EE E 8 KB RB AR 2 al) (“Chongging Ailuojia”)
and its subsidiaries in the property management segment (the
“Chongging Ailuojia CGU") with reference to a valuation.

The recoverable amount of the Chongging Ailuojia CGU has been
determined based on a value in use calculation. That calculation
uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
the management of the Group covering a five-year period with a pre-
tax discount rate of 18.20% (2023: 18.49%) and cash flow during
and beyond the five-year period is extrapolated using a steady growth
rate of 2.00% (2023: 2.00%) per annum. The growth rate used
does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the relevant
industry. Another key assumption for the value in use calculation
is the budgeted gross margin of 25.60% (2023: 17.65%), which is
determined based on the Chongging Ailuojia CGU'’s past performance
and management expectations for the market development.

As at 31 December 2024, the recoverable amount of the Chongging
Ailuojia CGU exceeds its carrying amount by approximately
RMB2,920,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$3,096,000) (2023:
recoverable amount less then carrying amount by approximately
RMB1,045,000) (equivalent to approximately HK$1,155,000)).
Accordingly, no impairment loss (2023: impairment loss of
HK$1,155,000) has been recognised against the carrying amount of
the Chongquing Ailuojia CGU. Management of the Group believes that
any reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions would not
cause the carrying amount of the Chongging Ailuojia CGU to exceed
its recoverable amount.

* For identification purpose only

21.

e ISR A

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_ZT-_WNFE+_A=1+—HILFE

& ()
GEE

SBEARNE - L EYEERFHNHEL
S2EHERENEE—BARSELEM - 88D
XERESB((EEERARACELEN] NE
EERZMXRBERAR(EEERR]) K
HMB AR -

ERERARUCELBMN A KE S EILER
EBEAEMEE - R EEEAERAERE
EEMENRERFHMBREMELNR S
METR (RATRRIRER1820%) (—E - =%
18.49%) - WHE hFHARBRAFHNES
REDEAREFEEE200% (ZE =4
2.00%) FH B/ - FIERARIER R HEBAMR
TENRMFHERX -FHEAEENS A
BRI /5 25.60% (Z T = =4 : 17.656%) B8
BENZ W HRBEEERFATELEMD
BERBLEEEHMSERNBHMET -

R-ZZ-_ME+-_A=+—H EEESRR
CELABEUNATRESESRNEREAENAR
# 2,920,000 7t (#H & M 493,096,000 7t) (=
T-ZF AlOcERREAENARE
1,045,0007T) (FH& R #91,155,0007 L)) °
I WEREERSRBSELEMNNREER
RBEEE (T Z=F : FIEEIE 1,155,000
L) c AKBEEREMRE  AWZEBRENEMA

B EREEER L E AT O S -

MERERN: %
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22.

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT OF
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Hotel operation

At 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, the
hotel operation segment continued to underperform,
the management of the Group concluded there was
indication for impairment and conducted impairment
assessment by determining the recoverable amounts of
freehold land and resort hotel included in property, plant
and equipment with an aggregated carrying amounts of
approximately HK$5,680,000 (2023: HK$6,188,000) and
HK$68,240,000 (2023: HK$76,985,000) respectively.

The recoverable amount of the freehold land has been
determined based on its fair value less costs of disposal.
The Group uses direct comparison approach to estimate
the fair value less costs of disposal by assuming sale of
the property in its existing status with the benefit of vacant
possession and by making reference to comparable sales
transactions as available in the relevant market. The fair
value measurement is categorised into Level 3 fair value
hierarchy. That calculation uses indicated value per unit of
CAD150 (2023: CAD117.5) as at 31 December 2024.

The recoverable amount of the resort hotel has been
determined with reference to a value in use calculation
based on discounted cash flow approach. That calculation
uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by the management of the Group covering a
b-year period. The pre-tax discount rate and terminal
capitalisation rate applied to cash flow projection is 15.40%
(2023: 12.63%) and 13.4% (2023: 10.63%) respectively.

As at 31 December 2024, based on the result of the
assessment, management of the Group determined
that the recoverable amounts of the freehold land
and resort hotel exceed their carrying amounts by
approximately HK$11,360,000 (2023: HK$2,298,000)
and HK$2,295,000 (2023: HK$1,280,000) respectively.
Accordingly, no impairment loss would be recognised
against the carrying amount of the freehold land and resort
hotel included in property, plant and equipment.

22. ME - HBR[BURERESE

ER{E T

;E }E ll‘w %

RZZE-_NWF+_A=+—HBk=_F
=+ -AZ=Z+—8 BAELEDI
FERBETE ASEEEERARTRE
BERS  TEAETHRmMAED L
5,680,000 7t (= Z = = 4 : 6,188,000
7 7T) 568,240,000/ T (Z T =4 :
76,985,000 7T) B T AW - #ES Rk
R K A SR 3 % fERIB R 89 AT Y [
SR NETRERRE -

%K%%immT%@ B ERF
BERHENAMEE AEBHAEREL
f&IEF“%¥&ﬁR§ HE I
E2ZHEEMSENANELREER
SUANBEATFERLEEXNAN - 2 FER
EFRERE-EBATEER ZTEF
BAHzE-_Z-_NMF+-_A=+—HNE
BUNBERAEEISOMT (ZE =4
117.5007T)

ERBENAIKEeEINELEFERE
BE:tE  ERUMRREREFTEETE ° %
AEERARAEEEEENENTFR
EWEQ?E% ﬁﬁ’]fﬁé‘&/fﬁ;%ﬁ E‘J Eﬁﬂ'z//lu
EFERMAANTAIRIR X RHRERL
KN R R15.40% (ZF =4 : 12.63%)
F13.4%(ZF =% : 10.63%) °

RZZE-_NWF+=—A=+—H " BEF
HER AEETEEETKAERELT
HEEBBEMNIKEDSESRERE
5 BI#111,360,0008 L (ZE = =4 :
2,298,000 7t ) } 2,295,000 7T (=&
— =4 :1,280,000/87T) ° Bt - &R
Bt AYE  HEBERREARAERLT
R ERBENERERRRERSSE -
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22.

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT OF
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

Property management

At 31 December 2024, the Nuofute CGU of property
management segment continued to underperform, the
management of the Group concluded there was indication
for impairment and conducted impairment assessment on
the property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
of the Nuofute CGU with carrying amounts of approximately
HK$100,000 and HK$7,155,000 (2023: HK$208,000 and
HK$8,556,000) respectively.

The Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
Nuofute CGU to which the asset belongs when it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually,
including allocation of corporate assets when reasonable
and consistent basis can be established.

The recoverable amount of the Nuofute CGU has been
determined based on a value in use calculation. That
calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by the management of the Group
covering the remaining lease term of the office premises
of approximately 6.7 years (2023: 7.7 years) with a pre-
tax discount rate of 23.50% (2023: 22.83%) as at 31
December 2024. The annual growth rate used for the
coming 5-year period is 2.00% (2023: 2.00%) and the
cash flows beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated using
a steady 2% (2023: 2%) long-term growth rate. The long
term growth rate is based on the general inflation rate for
the year 2024 and the management of the Group believe
that it is reasonable. Another key assumption for the
value in use calculation is the budgeted gross margin of
26.20% (2023: 25.38%), which is determined based on
the Nuofute CGU’s past performance and management
expectations for the market development.

As at 31 December 2024, based on the result of the
assessment, management of the Group determined that
the recoverable amount of the Nuofute CGU exceed its
carrying amount by approximately HK$11,127,000 (2023:
HK$5,715,000). Accordingly, no impairment loss has been
recognised against the carrying amount of those property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets.

e ISR A

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZT-_NFE+_A=+—HBILFE

22. ME -HBERRBURERESE

ER{E R4 (4)

MEERE
RZZE-_NF+—_A=+—H #HEH
ReELBEMNNMEETESHDFERR
ﬂi AEEERERATERENS
VTHEEFReELEMEERES AL
7,%100,000,%75&7,155,000,%75 (=%
— =4 : 208,000 7T M 8,556,000 Jr.)
METYE ERERJBEURFEARE
EEITREG -

AEBAEEZEBMEFAIRLESENE
AT A EEMBERERASELEEN
MAKRE SR BREERNELISE—
BHERESROEEE -

HEFREEEBMMAIKE R EZE
REEAEMETE %t EAEERE
RAEEERERENRERLNEDE
RAKTF(ZE_=ZF:77F)HE
%m%%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁmﬁﬁmiﬁﬂ’
M-_ZE M+ _A=+—HHOBAM
WEE2350% (ZFE =4 : 22.83%) °
RKSFEMEANFIERER2.00% (=
T_=F:200%) MAFHENRE
MEFABERRERR2% (T ==
F:2%) REEEREDERZ-_ZT MO
E MBERE AEBEREERRE

CFTEFABEN S —HERBERAR
2620%(7;7—@ 25.38%) MTBEE
ME - HIREBEREFEREEEEMLDN
BEXRREEBEHMSEENESRM
B -

E’\f7fﬂi+ A=1—H8 " REF
HER AEEEEEETRERA2
EEE LLE’JTH&Z@E:%EmE(\H\ﬁEETEﬂ]
11,127,000 7T (ZF = =4 : 5,715,000
BIT) o Bt WEHZFWE  Hm R
AR DA Ko (5 PR HE B EE HO R T (B R RRURL (B
B8 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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23. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 23. R—REBE R ZER

2024 2023

—EMmEF —EI=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Cost of investment in an associate 15 E —EE & 2 R — 6,235

Share of post-acquisition loss (Note (a))  FE/(GUREE1& E5 18 (M5 (a)) — (6,036)

Exchange adjustments RN — (199)

Less: Accumulated impairment (Note (a)) & : Z&HRE (M3 (@) — —

Amount due from an associate JfE L — FE1 B 2 R0 — 13,808

Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEEEE — (13,808)
Amount due from an associate, net JE UG — el B 2 R R SR IEDFRE

(Note (b)) (B 5E (b)) — =

Details of the Group’s associate at the end of the reporting AEEBEQNRNRERRNFBOT :

period are as follows:

Place of incorporation/

principal place of Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting rights Principal
Name of entities operation interest held by the Group held by the Group activities
B3I HAKEREZ AEERE
EREE TELEHH FERER L HEPR 14! TEXEH
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZBRI@E | ZToZF | ZBCD@E | ZT-=F
Total Blossom Sdn Bhd Malaysia/Malaysia Nil 49% Nil 49%  Properties
(“Total Blossom”) investment
for rental
Total Blossom SdnBhd B A/ HRAD: & & MERE
([Total Blossom ) GizhiiEes




23. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the Group holds 49% equity
interest in Total Blossom. As major operating decisions
are made by another shareholder which holds 51%
equity interest, the Directors consider that the Group has
significant influence in Total Blossom and Total Blossom
was accounted for as an associate of the Group using the
equity method.

On 20 March 2024, the Group has acquired the remaining
51% equity interest in Total Blossom at a consideration
of Ringgit Malaysia 10,000 (the “Acquisition”) and Total
Blossom has become a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group upon completion of the Acquisition on 20 March
2024.

Notes:

(@) As at 31 December 2023, the management of the Group
considered, based on legal opinion from an independent
lawyer, that the associate did not have the (1) ownership on an
investment property under construction located in Malaysia and
(2) obligation on the consideration payable associated with the
investment property, such that the associate has a net liability
position as at 31 December 2023. As a results, the Group
reversed impairment loss recognised on interest in an associate
amounted to approximately HK$1,115,000 and recognised
share of post-acquisition loss of an associate amounted to
approximately HK$1,115,000 during the year ended 31
December 2023.

(b)  Asat 31 December 2023, the amount due from an associate is
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. As
at 31 December 2024, the amount due from an associate is nil
as the amount was written-off during the year.

RRRREEEZERERAR | —F-NFRH

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR A

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZT-_NFE+_A=+—HBILFE

23. R —REBE R Z#E & (E)

R-ZZE-_=€+-_A=+—H0 &2
&) ¥ A Total Blossom #)49% & & % -
HRERKCEARAKRAIFTALIN LT BR
MEMKREEDL EERELAEEEH
Total Blossom BB E K7 2 1) + # Total
Blossom J3 PA#E #i )%4 1E /2 2 52 [ Bl & /R A
AR ©

RZZE-_NMF=ZA=-+H AEBEE K
i Total Blossom#t T51% & - KB 7%
10,0005 KA ESEH ([WEEIE]) -
Total Blossomaﬁé_q_ﬂifﬂ_ﬂ'
ARBEEERERNAREENZER
=N

PsE

(@) RZE_=F+-_A=t+—8H" $’i@m
BERL BREBIEMAERER
M"TIH(I)ME"EXEEEE’]EE&QW
ENBEARRQREMENBBEMNR
BOEME BBERRR_T_=F+=
A=Z+—HERBEFHMNR - Fit - B
ECTC=FF_A=F+-HLEFE &
El%‘%@?ﬁﬁA*F‘EJH?%%QTZ% & RERR Y
B 18 491,115,000 % 7T & B3R FE 4G —
2 AR U IB1E BT840 1,115,000 87T

b) R-E-=F+-"A=+—0 BhE—H
BERBRASERR 2B REERE
B E’\\fgfﬂiﬂL A=+—H8" E¥
—MEERRFIARE  TDRRZKER
FRME -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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23. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

The summarised financial information below represents

23. W—EBE AR ZEE ()

LA B 75 & KB 2 & Total Blossom 3% B

amounts shown in the Total Blossom’s financial statements ERVBREENRRE 2 W BERERFIT
prepared in accordance with HKFRS: - I
2023
HK$'000
FHET
Current assets mENEE 1
Non-current assets EmMBEE —
Current liabilities mENaE (2,672)
Current financial liabilities (excluding trade ﬁ@ﬂﬁﬁ?@%( “BIEE SR
and other payables and provisions) Hh FE TR R R B 4) (2,672)
2023
—T=F
HK$'000
FHET
Revenue g —
Loss for the year RFEEBHIE (4,948)
Other comprehensive income for the year REZEMPEKE 1
Total comprehensive expense for the year AEEEME T4 (4,947)

Dividends received from Total Blossom during
the year

ZN4F JZ 8 Total Blossom

WBR 2 B B
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BE_ZT_NFE+_A=1+—HLFE

23. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 23. N—RBE AT Z R (F)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial TR BERNMEEGE B RER AR
information to the carrying amount of the interest in .2 Total Blossom # % 2 BREI{E 2 ¥78K :
Total Blossom recognised in the consolidated financial
statements:
2023
T =F
HK$'000
FHET
Net liabilities of Total Blossom Total Blossom H)/F & & (2,671)
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in AREBE R Total Blossom K]
Total Blossom HEHEEER O 49%
The Group’s share of net liabilities of Total Blossom 7N £ [ & {h Total Blossom K% & & (1,309)
2023
HK$'000
FET

Total unrecognised share of loss of an associate RNFEARMERIEN —H

for the year R al/NE ol apis Fo b (1,309)

24. INVENTORIES 24. &
2024 2023
—EmEF —ECZF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Food and beverages B & ERR 143 —
Hotel merchandise B JE T G 27 73
Consumables SHFE M 95 —
265 73




TIMES UNIVERSAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=R E B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_WE+_A=+—HIFE

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

25. B 5 R H it BULER X

2024 2023
—EMmEF ZEZ=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Trade receivables — contracts with B5RWER —BFAH
customers 23,299 18,050
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEEEE (14,943) (12,478)
Trade receivables, net (Note a) B SRR FEE (ita) 8,356 5,572
Other receivables (Note b) H bR BRER (M aEDb) 4,274 4,435
Deposits Ze 1,052 930
Prepayments FER A 258 1,013
5,584 6,378
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEEEE (3,979) (3,781)
1,605 2,597
Trade and other receivables, net ESLEMEVRRRER 9,961 8,169
Notes: M 5E
(@) As at 1 January 2023, trade receivables from contracts with (@ MRZZTZ=F—HA—H REEFPE4H

customers amounted to approximately HK$4,468,000, net of
allowance for credit losses of approximately HK$19,444,000.

2 5 AR R4 54,468,000 7T (B H1k
EEEREE 19,444,000/ 7T) °
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25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25. B5 REMBEWER (4
(Continued)
Notes: (Continued) FisE - (48)
(@)  (Continued) @@ (&)
The Group allows an average credit period of O to 90 days to AEEBTHESEFPZFHEERHAO
its trade customers. The following is an aged analysis of trade F90H - U TAREBRNERA B HANIRE
receivables, net of allowance for credit losses, presented based ARG R B A (BRER W= HEEE) 2
on the date of delivery of goods or date of rendering of services FIMINKREEBBREENE 5 EUERZER
which approximated the respective dates on which revenue was e DT o
recognised.
2024 2023
ZEZWF —TZ=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHET
Within 90 days 90HA 8,197 4418
91 to 180 days 91&180H 159 480
181 to 365 days 181 £365H — 571
1to 2 years —EWF — 103
8,356 5572
As at 31 December 2024, included in the Group’s trade RZB_NE+ZA=+—H8  FXEEH
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount B S RRKBRIAA 68 R A REE 41,615,000
of approximately HK$1,615,000 (2023: HK$1,639,000) which B (ZZF - =% :1,639,000/% ) & /&
are past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past due WHRTE - MABRIENRE B e 8-
balances, approximately HK$49,000 (2023: approximately AT R BRAE #R R - 4949,000% T (=&
HK$108,000) has been past due 90 days or more are not Z =% :49108,000/ T) B HI90 A 3%
considered as default by considering repayment history. The REETHEREDN  RERABTNE
Group does not hold any collateral over these balances. Ntk - AEBYERZEEHBRITBETMA
IR o
(b)  As at 31 December 2021, the gross amount of other receivables (b) RZZTEZ—F+=ZA=+—8 HmEK
included an amount due from a third party of RMB5,000,000 IERAERERRN—ZE = ARBARE
(equivalent to approximately HK$6,118,000), which is 5,000,000 7T (4 & M £96,118,000/%8 7T)
unsecured, interest bearing at 8% per annum and repayable on ZRERERT RFR X8 ERA
demand. The amount has been considered as default and has REKER ZeBHORERELN YD
been fully impaired during the year ended 31 December 2021. REBEE-T=-_—F+A=+—RHLFE

The Group has taken legal action against the debtor to recover BERE - AEEE HESARBUERET
the amount. U BRI o
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25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

26.

(Continued)
Notes: (Continued)
(b)  (Continued)

On 27 December 2021, Yuzhong District People’s Court of
Chongging Municipality* (EE M A+ & A RZEBT) has
made a civil judgement in favour of the Group. On 11 October
2022, the Group and the debtor has reached a settlement
that the amount will be settled by 36 installments from 14
October 2022 to 10 August 2025. During the year ended 31
December 2023, RMB1,400,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,535,000)) has been settled and resulted in an equivalent
amount of a reversal of impairment loss being recognised on
other receivables. As at 31 December 2024, the gross amount
of amount due from a third party before impairment amounted
to RMB3,100,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$3,286,000)
(2023: RMB3,100,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$3,398,000)). Considered the creditworthiness of the debtor,
the Directors consider that the balance of the amount due from
the third-party was credit-impaired and was fully impaired as at
31 December 2023 and 2024.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables are set out in Note 6(b).

* For identification purpose only

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS/BANK
OVERDRAFT

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits and
short-term deposits for the purpose of meeting the Group’s
short-term cash commitments, which carry interest at
market rates range from 0.1% to 3.55% (2023: from
0.010% to 0.875%) per annum.

Included in bank balances and cash are the following
amounts denominated in currencies other than the group
entities’ functional currencies:

25. B 5 R H B AR ()

26.

B &E :

(b)

B

(%)
(8

R-BE-_—F+-A=-++B EETH
FREARZR TENAEBEEINRER
Mo R T —F+A+—H AEBHHE
BEAERME  BRREER =T
F+A+WNBEBE-_ZET-_HAFENA+HH
Mo36HEE BHE_T-_=41+_A
—+—HLFE  AR¥1,400,0007T (4
BER#1,5350008 L) B&E  YERHR
HihEWERERESSHEZRERSIE
R - RZZEZWFF+=A=+—8 &
BEREK —RZEZ A RBRAEAARE
3,100,000 7T (& 7 43,286,000 7T ) (=
T =4 : AR¥3,100,0007T (HHERL
3,398,000 7)) - EEFEHANEE -
EERARUFE - FFEEBRECHBE
BERE WHERZZEZ=ZFR-_T-_NF
+—A=+—HBEENE -

B 5 & H A & W AR S RUE FY 14 R

IBE P FE6(D) ©

*

(EXAE Rl

RERBREEEY RITEX

ReRBETEHEEY

Be

B

;B FENEREEHEFRNEY
PAJm e AN 2 B e 7 B 3R © AREE

HRTSFHR0IESISSE (-

R1T
PN

BE B

F :0.010EZE0875E)5t & o

HEMASBRETINEEERD)
BN EB RBEN 2 28 ¢

2024 2023

—E-MEF —Eo=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FE T FET

Amounts denominated in USD AETTFHERNSE 52 49
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26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS/BANK

27.

OVERDRAFT (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents (Continued)

Included in the bank balances and cash are the following
amounts which are subject to foreign exchange control

regulations and not freely transferable:

26 RERBRELEY RITEX

Amounts denominated in RMB

NAREFENSE

(#8)
RERBREEEY (B
RITERERSBIETIXINEE HIIR
ERBRERTAIERLHB 5 :
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
3,502 4618

Details of impairment assessment of bank balances are set

out in Note 6(b).

Bank overdraft

Bank overdraft carries interest at market rates which
range from 7.125% to 9.625% during the year ended 31

December 2023.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

RITHEBRZBEFAFBHIINME

6(b) °

RITEX

HE_Z_=F+-_A=+—HLEFE"
RTBEYEMBFERAE  NT7.125F

F9625F -

27. B 5 B H i FE 1 BR 5K

2024 2023
—EmEF —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Trade payables B 5 R BRK 2,878 1,759
Accruals (Note a) st ER (Mfsa) 1,925 2312
Other taxes payables H A P8 B3R 3,721 3,920
Bond interest payable ERHESHF B 3,016 2,751
Other payables (Note b) HEb SRR (HiEb) 15,394 15,296
26,934 26,038

Analysed for reporting purpose as: FEFROWTHOT :
Non-current liability ERBEE — 64
Current liabilities mENBE 26,934 25,974
26,934 26,038
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27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
(Continued)

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables

27. E5 R HEMEMNRN ()

NTIRERBEZEREIN ZEHRNE

presented based on the invoice date: R BRER AT -
2024 2023
—E-MEF —T_=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHBT
Within 90 days 90H K 1,375 1,081
91 to 180 days 91 180H 1,111 595
181 to 365 days 181 365 H 239 69
Over 365 days 365 B 153 14
2,878 1,759

The average credit period on purchases of goods or
provision of services is O to 90 days.

Notes:

a) Accruals mainly included legal and professional fee payable of
approximately HK$695,000 (2023: HK$903,000).

b) Other payables mainly include the followings:

(i) Approximately HK$2,871,000 (2023: HK$2,927,000)
represented properties maintenance fund collected from
customers for the payment on behalf of the customers
for the properties maintenance fee.

(i) Approximately HK$6,701,000 (2023: HK$6,267,000)
represented the amounts due to third parties, which are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(iii)  Approximately HK$3,160,000 (2023: HK$3,076,000)
represented the amount due to Mr. Shen Yong, the
former director, former chairman and former ultimate
controlling party of the Company, which was unsecured,
interest bearing at 2.7% (2023: 2.7%) per annum and
repayable on 30 June 2021.

BESIRERE 2 FIOEERR0E90A -

GEE

a)

b)

A EMAEEZM®IEA695000F T (ZF
— =% :903,000&7C) B EERE R EHE

B2

Hit BNBRREZBENATEIE

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

#)2,871,000 B T (Z T - =% :
2,927,000 7T) B[R E P YWEH Y
XueEs BERKREPXND
ESACE

#96,701,000 T (Z T == :
6267000/%77:)7%4E$E£# TEHE
BIRESREENENE=F5E -

7

#73,160,000 T (Z T = =4 :
3,076,000% 7T) & BT AN A R AT &
£ HMEEF&W%%%%’E‘H&E&HE
SERIE  ZREEER  RF
%IJT27J_<_7__¢ 27E)F
&/E_ﬁ/\fgifi/\ﬂ +B8

)ﬁ.?} rl]]}
iﬂﬁ
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28. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

8. HIERE

2024 2023
—E-F —T=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Contract liabilities AHAaE
— related to hotel operation — BERBELE 5,275 4,829
— related to properties management — FEMEER 1,473 1,566
6,748 6,395
As at 1 January 2023, contract liabilities amounted to RZEZ=F—F—HB A4808EHE

approximately HK$5,650,000.

Contract liabilities, that are not expected to be settled
within the Group’s normal operating cycle, are classified
as current and non-current liabilities based on the Group’s
earliest obligation to transfer goods or services to the
customers.

The following table shows how much of the revenue

5,650,000/& 7T, ©

BHAERAEEEELERMALS
ZAERNBERASERNEFEZEERX
RGH s &NEESBRRBEERIE
mEAE-

TRITEEREEPEEBEANEE

recognised relates to carried-forward contract liabilities and EAUERRBTHRABRTCBHOEESE
how much relates to performance obligations that were ek 10
satisfied in prior periods.
Hotel Properties
operation management Total
B IR R MEEE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
For the year ended BE-ZT_-_MF
31 December 2024 +TZA=+—HLEE
Revenue recognised that was FFAEIEHNBESHRZ
included in the contract liability 2R =
balance at the beginning of the year 2,366 1,566 3,932
For the year ended BE-ZT_=F
31 December 2023 TZA=T—BILFE
Revenue recognised that was FFAFUIEHEBEH®RZ
included in the contract liability B R
balance at the beginning of the year 2,394 1,340 3,734
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28.

29.

30.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of
contract liabilities recognised are as follows:

Hotel operation

The Group receives 100% of the face value of gift cards
and these gift cards are non-refundable and have no expiry
date.

Properties management

In general, the Group receives an one-month service
income in advance for the provision of properties
management service, this gives rise to contract liabilities
upon receipt of the advance.

LOANS FROM THE IMMEDIATE HOLDING
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, the
loans from the immediate holding company are unsecured,
non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

29.

ﬁ:lqé%( )

TECHASHNABS R Z — RN UK
T

I A

ARE B W 100% EEME MK - MzF
R R TAERREERERAS -

MEEE
— R &
Bts > — 18 A T BR A5 A RS
BRI B -

CEASBERRREHEMEEE
BHE

EEERAAEN

:_$+ A= —1— g - ET%T /N
ERREEMR  RERRARERER -

SECURED LOAN 30. IRIMEFK
Maturity date Effective interest rate 2024 2023
E#A BERER= —E-mE ZE-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Variable-rate secured
bank loan:
FEHRAREFRTER
Canada prime rate + 1.2% 15 March 2032 6.65% 21,171 25,063

(2023: Canada prime rate

+1.5%)
MERZEREMNEMI2E —E=—_F=A+HH
—E-=F:NM&XK

=EREFENISE)

(2023: 8.70%)

(ZFE=_=%:

6.65 2

8.70E)




30. SECURED LOAN (Continued)

The secured bank loan is a commercial mortgage loan (the
“Loan”) granted by Industrial and Commercial Bank of
China (Canada) Limited (the “ICBC”). The banking facility
would be reviewed by ICBC periodically.

As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, the
Loan is repayable by quarterly instalments up to 15 March
2032, bears an interest rate of prime rate of ICBC plus
1.2% per annum (2023: prime rate of ICBC plus 1.5%
per annum), and secured by Group’s freehold land and
buildings held for own use with a carrying amount of
approximately HK$71,782,000 (2023: HK$79,513,000)
(Note 18) and personal guarantee for CAD5,000,000 by
Mr. Choi Yun Chor.

As the Loan is subject to bank’s overriding right to demand
repayment even though the scheduled repayment dates
are twelve months after the date of the reporting period, the
Loan is classified as a current liability for the years ended
31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023.

The Loan is subject to the fulfilment of covenants relating
to certain of the Group’s financial statement ratios, as are
commonly found in lending arrangements with financial
institutions. If the Group were to breach the covenants, the
drawn down facility would become payable on demand.
The Group regularly monitors its compliance with these
covenants. During the years ended 31 December 2024
and 31 December 2023, the Group is required to comply
with the financial covenants throughout the continuance of
the Loan and/or as long as the Loan is outstanding which
the ratio of debt coverage shall not be less than 1.25. The
Group has complied with the covenants throughout the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023.
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30. IIME K (&)

BHBTERAEPRELIERT (IMEKX)
BRA TUIﬁM;kDW%%@%E
BEZXTER]D - TRMNEXBFEHE
EIR1THE o

R_E-_WNFE+_A=+—HEK=-F
—ZH+T-_A=+—8 BEREEEH
HERE _T=-_FF=A+HHB &I
BMEAKERFEMI2ERNFHEX

TEC=F RIRNERKEERFE

MISEMEFRR) G E - WAKREEEK
E{EXA71,782,0008 T (ZE =4 :
79,513,000/ 70) Bk A EELH RIFE
BAMET (M18) A REEIEARN
1& A #& 1% 5,000,000 Hn T VEHK R -

BEERNBAEERAHARSHE
HER+ @A  HEEABTRITENR
ERNZBEMEEN BBEE-_T _F
TZA=+—RAR-ZFE_=%+_AH
ZST—RALEFE ZFEEFGOEAR
HaE-

ERABTERBEAEERE THBERE
hEREBRE  RERBT—RYHB
KEEBEZHEPEANEZE - HAKE
ERBEBRFH RREDRIRESXAIE
ERERE ASBTHEZARZS
BZBTBER REBEE_T-_NF+=
B=+—BR-_ZBE-_=%F+-A=+—
BEFE AEBERERZEEAEE
%ﬁ&/&&% A AEE(HBEERS
S1ER1.25) BIM BT B RHE - &
%lﬁﬁﬁ_?_m$+ A=+—8H
;=B -=F+=-RAR=+—HILFEH
—EBHEBTHBERE -
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31. BONDS 31. &H
2024 2023
—E-EFE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
Current portion: BIEREE 5 -

Bond carried at fixed coupon REFIEEEE@F N E
rate of 3% per annum (Note a) FENES (Mita) 10,000 10,000

Bond carried at fixed coupon EEFIEEEEBEFHE
rate of 3% per annum (Note b) FFEMES (FisEb) 10,181 10,181
20,181 20,181

Notes:

(b)

The Company issued a 3% coupon unlisted and unsecured
bond with the principal amount of HK$10,000,000 on 1
December 2017 to Mr. Shen Ke, a former director of the
Company. The amount is repayable within 84 months from
the date of issue, which is 16 November 2024. On 3 February
2025, the Group received a statutory demand requesting the
redemption of this bond, which claimed for the amount due
of HK$12,100,000 as at the date of the statutory demand,
inclusive of interest of HK$2,100,000.

Up to the date of this report, the Company is negotiating the
extension of repayment and settlement terms of the bond with
the bond holder.

The Company issued an unlisted bond with the principal
amount of HK$10,181,000 to the vendor as part of the
consideration in respect of the acquisition of the joint ventures
on 6 March 2018. The bond bears interest rate at 3% per
annum and is unsecured. The amount is repayable on 5 March
2021 within 36 months from the date of issue.

Fa

(a)

(b)

ARRRZZE—+FE+-A—BET—H
K4 %8 /410,000,000/8 ¢ - ZmE A X A3
EMFELETRERBES FARR—RA
BEAMLE - 2SS BEARET BB
S4EANERE A A-T_NFE+—
A+XRB-R-_E-_RAE-_A=0 K&
BB ERERZESEZAEER  RE
FAE Z3k A H#i 2 2 H3 € %8 12,100,000 7%
7t (B ¥EF|E 2,100,000 JT) °

BEAREAY  ARAREEBRIFAA
EERERES 2ERRBEEGRR -

ARRRZE-NFE=ZARNHREET
— M AE /10,181,000 L 2 3F FH &
5 ERUBEELEZHORE -ZE
FHNEER3% BEM ZEER_-F
“—H=-ARAMEER ABTHER36
[EPA K



HARBEEZRERAA | —F_MFH
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MRk M

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_WNF+_A=+—HILFE

32. LEASE LIABILITIES 32. tHE&E
2024 2023
—EBE-OF —T_=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHET
Lease liabilities payable: ERTIHEZNHERE
Within one year —F R 1,044 981
Within a period of more than one year —FRERMEA
but not exceeding two years 1,039 1,069
Within a period of more than two years WEBERAEFA
but not exceeding five years 3,667 3,513
With a period of more than five years hF% 2,338 3,770
8,088 9,333
Less: Amount due for settlement within -~ &l - RBIBEE AR
12 months shown under R12{8 A RE| E&EE
current liabilities ZFRIA (1,044) (981)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months 3E & & B8 T iR~
shown under non-current liabilities RI12{E RE R B E 2 I 7,044 8,352
The incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities HMEBEMER Zi EEEMNENT
range from 5.45% to 7.12% (2023: 4.65% to 7.12%). 5.45%E7.12% (ZE_=F 1 465% =&

7.12%) o
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33. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (LIABILITIES) 3B EEHEEE (BR)
The following is the deferred tax assets (liabilities) ATARRESMEREHARREGS B
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial MEAERZBEEHBEE (BE) :
position at the end of each financial reporting period:
2024 2023
—E-NE =%
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Balances presented in the consolidated 4R34 B AR LR 2 7| M &5 54
statement of financial position
Deferred tax assets B IRE = 4,946 5,410
Deferred tax liabilities EEBHIBEE (244) (505)
Net balance TR 4,702 4,905

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and

assets recognised and movement thereon during the BELEMEEBEREEREES)

current and prior years:

Loss allowance

ATARAEFERBEFERRZTE

Accelerated of trade and
tax Tax other Intangible
depreciation losses  receivables assets Total
B RHM
mE FE W R AR B
RERE  HEBR BERE EFEE #ct
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FER TEx FER FET FEx
At 1 January 2023 RZE-=F—-A—H 2,182 774 8,072 (816) 10,212
(Charge) credit to (ng)at A&
profit or loss (Note 12) (KzE12) (534) (402) (4,542) 291 (5,187)
Exchange adjustments BHAE 41 11 (192) 20 (120)
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+-A=1+—H 1,689 383 3,338 (505) 4905
(Charge) credit to (f1B) st A B
profit or loss (Note 12) (KzE12) 538 () (707) 249 75
Exchange adjustments X AR (164) (31) (95) 12 (278)
At 31 December 2024 R-Z-MFE+-A=+-H 2,063 347 2,536 (244) 4,702
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33.

34.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (LIABILITIES)
(Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
tax losses of approximately HK$123,163,000 (2023:
HK$120,387,000) available for offset against future profits.
A deferred tax asset has been recognised of approximately
HK$1,285,000 (2023: HK$1,419,000) in respect of such
losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of the tax losses of approximately HK$121,878,000
(2023: HK$118,968,000) due to the unpredictability
of future profit streams. Included in unrecognised
tax losses are losses of (i) HK$117,498,000 (2023:
HK$113,088,000) that may be carried forward indefinitely
and (i) HK$4,380,000 (2023: HK$5,880,000) may be
expired within five years.

e ISR A

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_ZT-_WNFE+_A=1+—HILFE

3. EERFEE (BR) (F)

RREBR ASEE 2R EEBIB
#49123,163,000 L (Z T = = 4 :
120,387,000 7% 7T) A #t K 8 R 2R & F o
Bz EEEY1,2850008 T (ZF
— =4 : 1,419,000 jT) HERIE LT IB
BE BAREZEFRTEFRIR &
I 4 5 B IS B 18 49 121,878,00058 7T (—
T — =4 : 118,968,000 ) HE R IE i
REEE s AXERRBEEEBAGA
48 PR HA A BT 45 88 /9 B5 18 117,498,000 7% 7T
(ZZT = =4 113,088,000/ 7T ) : M (ii)
A]BE A L A JE v AY /B9 18 4,380,000 %8 7T
— T =% :5880,000#7T) °

SHARE CAPITAL 34. I
Number of
shares Amount
BHEEE ok |
‘000 HK$'000
F % FET
Ordinary shares issued and fully paid: ERTRARCEER
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 WH-_ZE-_=F—F—H -
and 31 December 2024 —E-=F+ZA=+—8xK
—E-NFE+=-A=+—H 1,092,878 441,350

In accordance with section 135 of the CO, the ordinary
shares of the Company do not have a par value.

RIBARGDIFE 135§ - AAREBRIL
EmEE -
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35. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES 35. RAREFETE ZHEK

Defined contribution plans
Hong Kong

The Group operates a MPF scheme for all qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. Under the scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions
to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income,
subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.
The assets of the schemes are held separately from those
of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The
Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs to the
Scheme, which contribution is matched by employees.

The PRC

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of the state-managed retirement benefits scheme
operated by the government of PRC. The subsidiaries in
the PRC are required to contribute a certain percentage of
the payroll cost to the retirement benefits scheme to fund
the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect
to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the required
contributions under the scheme.

Canada

Employees in Canada participate in a Canada Pension
Plan (the “Plan”) which is a mandatory scheme under
Canada Pension Plan Regulations. The employer and the
employees are required to make a total contribution of
11.9% (2023: 11.9%) on the pensionable earnings, subject
to a cap of pensionable earnings of CAD68,500 (equivalent
to approximately HK$389,000) (2023: CAD66,600
(equivalent to approximately HK$386,000).

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of
approximately HK$2,870,000 (2023: HK$2,796,000)
represents contributions paid and payable to these plans
by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the plans. As
at 31 December 2024, no contributions (2023: Nil) due
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2024 had not
been paid over to the plans.

SEMEE

&
AEBLSEHAERBAREHRTITR
ExatE - REFE EELEBES
BizEE A M ARKNS%AF S F L #
R ZABRARK LRS30,000E7T
ABCEEREAREZEENF BX
AAZHZESHE - AEERES/IH#
AR TEANDL%  HPHREREE
1E7H

o [

AEEURFEZHEARRE ST E
BT EE 2 BRERRKERETEIKE -
B B A R R AR R AR A AT Bl IR T
BRAETED L ZHR  KEREF
REES -AEEEBREKRBNGEZ
ME— BB RRIETBIEL AR 21K

m=

MERXRZEELANEABRERRKS
E ([Zat8l)) HAE—HEEERR
REEBRIL ZBHIMERBETE - BIEZ
B EBEEREBABRSAKRKAZAHR
119% (Z T =4 : 11.9%) e 3
PR e ZR U A & 68,500 AN 7T (FBE A 49
389,000 7T) (ZZE = =4 : 66,600 17T
(FEZFR#386,00087T)) °

KBz R 2 i X 8 492,870,000 78
TL(ZEZ=%F :2,796,0008TT) BAE
iz Fat 8l 2 RRFTHNE X ERZ
EHEMZER - R_F-_WE+—
A=+—H #MERB=_ZT_MOF
TZA=T—BLEFEINH2HER (=T
—=EF B AR TZRETE -



35. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

(Continued)

Defined contribution plans (Continued)

Obligation to pay LSP under Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57)

For the Group’s subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong,
pursuant to the Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57,
the Group has the obligation to pay LSP to qualifying
employees in Hong Kong under certain circumstances
(e.g. dismissal by employers or upon retirement), subject
to a minimum of 5 years employment period, based on the
following formula:

Last monthly wages (before termination of employment) X
2/3 X Years of service

Last monthly wages are capped at HK$22,500 while
the amount of long service payment shall not exceed
HK$390,000. This obligation is accounted for as a post-
employment defined benefit plan.

Furthermore, the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance passed in 1995 permits the Group to utilise
the Group’s mandatory MPF contributions, plus/minus
any positive/negative returns thereof, for the purpose of
offsetting LSP payable to an employee (the “Offsetting
Arrangement”).

The Amendment Ordinance was gazetted on 17 June
2022, which abolishes the use of the accrued benefits
derived from employers’ mandatory MPF contributions
to offset the LSP. The Abolition will officially take effect
on the Transition Date (i.e. 1 May 2025). Separately, the
Government of the HKSAR is also expected to introduce a
subsidy scheme to assist employers for a period of 25 years
after the Transition Date on the LSP payable by employers
up to a certain amount per employee per year.
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35. BiRwFIHE Z = (&)

FREMKFE (E)

RIZEEBEEIEG (£57F) 21 RH
B 7% & B9 & 7

BB SRR (F575)  HHAE
BEEEELENNBAR  EBEER
T (PlmEERESER) BEBRHA
BHNBEEEISNRARES BE
RRELSEMREIR - WU TAR
HE

RE—EANTE (EREKLZA
X213 x RRFFR

515 —18 7 M TE FMRB22500% 7T -
T 2 83 R 75 4 0 & 38718 4238 390,000
o mBRBHER—BEKEEEF
SR T -

o - REBE— NN B FRBHOCRTIER
SR T BRG]  REE AT AR AAEE
BHMEATES (MPR B ES TN LR
EEFE/BER AREHEERNET
SANHERRB S ((EHELHE]D) -

BEIEAIN T _—FA+tBTFIF -
REBR T {5 FA B 3 58 I 1% MPF 20 4% 1) & 51
BRIREERBARS S OMHOE - BER G
EREHHEI—_E-_RERA—AB)IE
NAEK - BIN BAEFRITHEKFE
SHERE BRI FAHE L — B A
E LEEEIN —TE2ENEM
BISFHNRERSES -
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35. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

35. BiRwFI=HE Z =K (])

(Continued)

Defined contribution plans (Continued)

Obligation to pay LSP under Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57) (Continued)

Under the Amendment Ordinance, the Group’s mandatory
MPF contributions, plus/minus any positive/negative
returns, after the Transition Date can continue to be applied
to offset the pre-Transition Date LSP obligation but are not
eligible to offset the post-Transition Date LSP obligation.
Furthermore, the LSP obligation before the Transition Date
will be grandfathered and calculated based on the last
monthly wages immediately preceding the Transition Date
and the years of service up to that date. The Amendment
Ordinance has impact on the Group’s LSP liability with
respect to employees that participate in MPF Scheme and
the Group has accounted for the offsetting mechanism and
its abolition as disclosed in Note 2 and Note 3.2.

LSP obligation

Movements in the present value of unfunded LSP obligation
in the current year were as follows:

REMKFE (E)

RIZEEBEEIEG (£57F) - 21 RH
B e EF (F

REBERIGE > EBKBHEK AEH
H 58 Gl MEMPFE M &R - LR AE
] IE,/8 Wz AT A& AR 8B E
BRI ERRSEER BETEAR
HEBRBERRNRPBRB R - It
- 8K B R R R IR & & AR
B URBEBEBHINAFNEEZ
BRI FRETE - ERTROIH A
SEMZ2ERBELFINEEMENE
HRBeEKELTE AEEA LK
M I B ELRERR - SFEIB IR BRI RE 2 M Y
#3220

REBEH & &EH

RARFERE  WBETHRABHEEHT
H2 BB :

2024 2023
—EC-NE B =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHBT
Opening unfunded obligation at 1 January »— A — BHEMNER S ET 106 —
Past service cost for prior years B FE 8RB — 78
Current service cost for the year REERBEK AR 18 24
Interest cost F BB A 3 4
Remeasurement recognised P M 2 [ W as P i RR A
in other comprehensive income: EFFE
Actuarial gains and losses arising from B A O R & &)
changes in financial and FIEAMEEER
demographic assumptions (15) -
Closing unfunded obligation at R+ZA=+—H/EX
31 December (Note) mES B (M) 112 106
Less: Closing unfunded obligation B RBBEIE N 2R
shown under current liabilities* ER AL (112) (42)
Closing unfunded obligation shown under JEZRENEEE T 2 BiK
non-current liabilities EREXEAE — 64




35. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

(Continued)

Defined contribution plans (Continued)

LSP obligation (Continued)

Note: The weighted average duration of the LSP obligation at 31
December 2024 is 8.59 years (2023: 9.53 years).

* The balances represent the closing unfunded obligation for
employees completed an employment period of 5 years or more
as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The current service cost of approximately HK$18,000
(2023: HK$24,000) for the year and the past service cost
for prior years of approximately HK$nil (2023: HK$78,000)
have been included in administrative expenses. The
interest expense of approximately HK$3,000 (2023:
HK$4,000) for the year has been included in finance cost.

Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination
of the LSP obligation are discount rate of 3.37% (2023:
3.27%) and expected salary increase of 3% (2023: 2.44%).
The sensitivity analysis below have been determined
based on reasonably possible changes of the respective
assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period,
while holding all other assumptions constant.

° If the discount rate is 100 basis points higher (lower),
the LSP obligation would decrease by approximately
HK$9,000 (increase by approximately HK$10,000)
(2023: decrease by approximately HK$9,000
(increase by approximately HK$9,000)).

° If the expected salary increases (decreases) by 1%,
the LSP obligation would increase by approximately
HK$4,000 (decrease by approximately HK$7,000)
(2023: increase by approximately HK$5,000
(decrease by approximately HK$5,000)).

The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be
representative of the actual change in the LSP obligation as
it is unlikely that the change in assumptions would occur
in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions may
be correlated.
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35. BIREFI =8 < 5K (&)

FREMKFE (E)

RERBEEEHE (&

M - R—_Z-_mME+-_A=+—8 " KHR
BKeEEWNEFLIHR A89F (ZF
T =4 :9534) o

* EHREBEE T _NFER_T_=F+=
A=+ HBZEHMRSFHALENEEN
HRERLET-

FRAENERIER AL 18,000 (ZE ==
F : 24,000 7T) KT FEREAL
THE T (T == 780008 T) it A
TERAS - FRFBFEZ#3,000%8 T (=
T =4 : 4,000/870) s AR E KA o

TERBEREECEBECEABERRA
337%(_5_—¢ 3.27%) BhIR K K T8
FIIEIMN3% (T T -=4F :244%) °
T%?IJ@WWE DT TR FT A R R 4 3
TEZBERT REREBRSBERSE

BB E 2 EHMET -

o fWBRIR X EF (TFE) 10018 £ & -
A & HI AR 7% & & 7% #5 8 4> 499,000
BT (ENA 10,0008 T) (= F
—=F R4 49,0007 TT (38 I 4
9,000/ 7T))

o (HTEEAFTEMIZ N CRA) 1% + BIIRER
PR 75 & 25 75 15 38 hn 494,000 7 7T (Rt
DHIT7,0008TT) (ZE =45 i*j]l]
#75,000 % 7T (8 4> 495,000 % 7T))

HREDRKZAIEE R B - WA AR
RTIRAIEGENER/RTEZBATH
RE  FAit EX25 2HERE DA
PERHRGERG CERED -
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36. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 36. i EFEIFTEEMNEREYHER
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities e E% MR EEMEENAEE
arising from financing activities, including both cash BEEH - @%iﬁi&?kiﬁiﬁﬁ@%@]
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing MEEBFELENA’ED 7%55 EmE K
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future ARBERENALEEGRERERER
cash flows will be classified in the Group’s consolidated FESBEAEOBEAME /E BFTEAR
statement of cash flows from financing activities: ReREmaE:
Loans from third
parties and bond
interest payables Loan from the
included in Secured immediate Lease
other payables loans  holding company Bonds liabilities Total
Bit Aff
EfER2
EZRERR EERR
EfESTE ERER DAER &% fgEE h
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
THL THL THL THL THL THL
(Note 27) (Note 30) (Note 29) (Note 31) (Note 32
(3E27) (F3£30) (Hs20) (F3E31) (3£32)
At 1 January 2023 R-B-=f-F-H 6,198 26,226 38,090 30,181 10,604 111,29
Changes from cash flows: RERERD.
Advance from the immediate holding company B 2R A3 3% - - 3485 - - 3485
Repayment of secured loans ERAREN = (1.727) - - - (1,727)
Repayments of bonds BEES - - - (9,000) - (9,000)
Repayment lease liabilies EEHEEaE - - - - (1,643) (1,643)
Interest paid BRHE (800) (2.163) - > - (2963)
Totel changes from financing cash flows ~—~~ RA B £ 2R E)2%E (800) (3,890) 3485 (9,000) (1,643) (11,848)
Non-cash changes: kL 1R
Finance costs ﬁﬂ'ﬁm 429 2163 - - 518 3110
Additons oflease liabilties g%ﬁ‘*%f - - - - 142 142
Gains on settlement of bond EEERNR - - — (1,000 - (1,000
Exchange adjustments @ﬁﬁ% - 564 - - (288) 276
Total other changes EtEBa% 429 277 - (1,000 372 2508
At 31 December 2023 RZF-=f+-A=1-H 5827 25,063 41575 20,181 9333 101,979
Changes from cash flows: BenERS:
Advance from the immediate holding company B 2R A A = = 6,179 = = 6179
Repayment of secured loans BREAER - (1927) - - - (1.927)
Repayment lease liabilties ERAEEE - - - - (1.442) (1,442)
Interest paid BFIE = (1,949) = - = (1.949)
Totel changes from financing cash flows ~~ RE B £ 2R E2%H - (3,876) 6,179 = (1.442) 81
Non-cash changes: E3ek) L
Finance costs BERA 349 1,949 = = 463 2761
Additions of lease liabilties HERERE = = = = 2 2
Exchange adjustments B % — (1,965) — — (283) (2253)
Total other changes HREes 349 (16) = = 197 530
At 31 December 2024 R-E-ME+ZA=1-A 6,176 21,1M 47,754 20,181 8,088 103,370
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. PLEDGE OF OR RESTRICTIONS ON

38.

ASSETS

Pledge of assets

The Group’s secured loan has been secured by the pledge
of the Group’s assets and the carrying amounts of the

respective assets are as follows:

37.

e ISR A

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZT-_WE+_A=1+—HIFE

& R4 B PR

& E K

AEEEAERAAAEEERZEE
EERA - HEEEZREENT

2024 2023
—E-MEF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Property, plant and equipment (Note 18)  #1% - # 25 & & & (FI5¥ 18) 71,782 79,513
Restrictions on assets BERH
In addition, lease liabilities of approximately HK$8,088,000 ok - FHE A E#8,088000E T (=

(2023: HK$9,333,000) are recognised with related right-
of-use assets of approximately HK$7,155,000 (2023:
HK$8,556,000). The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants other than the security interests in the leased
assets that are held by the lessor and the relevant leased
assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

— =4 :9,333,000%8 Jr) £ AR FE 5 A AE
B E#7,1550008 L (T - =F:
8,556,000/8 7T) — R - Br B AR
HELEEFEZEFEDSI) HEMR
W EEMTMRE ARBEHEHEEE
TEREEEZERR -

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 38. EAXRKIE
2024 2023
—E-MEF ZE=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Contracted for but not provided in the 2T HERR
consolidated financial statements REMBHRERPEE:
in respect of:
Unpaid registered capital for subsidiaries /& /A &) & &4 7 it & 4 16,962 15,346
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39.

40.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
renewed various lease agreements (2023: renewed various
lease agreements) for the use of car parks for lease term at
two years (2023: two years). Upon the lease additions, the
Group recognised right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
of approximately HK$22,000 and HK$22,000 (2023:
HK$142,000 and HK$142,000), respectively.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the
Group entered into the following material related party
transactions:

Key management personnel compensation

The key management of the Group comprises all the
Directors, details of their remuneration are disclosed
in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
The remuneration of the Directors is determined by the
remuneration committee of the Company having regard to
the performance of individuals and market trends.

Other than the related party transactions disclosed
above, no other transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance to which the Company was a party and in
which a director of the Company or a connected entity
of the director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

39.

40.

FTEIRERS

HE-_Z-_W+_-_A=1+—HILFE"
AEEREREESEELZHHEED
B (T -_=F H2EZHBESEHH)
HBAMF (ZEZ=F:MF) -1HA
BNl AEBEERFEAREERA
E B8 E#22,0007T K%22,000% T (ZF
T~ =4 :142,0007T &% 142,000/ 7T) °

BB A R 5

BRABRE M B RAEMU TR E X
5 NSRRI REBRT LA T E AR
RS

TEEEBASZHME

AEBFZTHRAERBEEZBES K
EZHMFBERERE M ERRM T 145
B-BEFEZ2FMIBARRFMNEES
EZREARBRETSEBEMETE -

BREXHWBZHEBOZZIN  RFEREX
RERFANEMERE ARBHBHETER
NRRAEFHAARAEST HEERER
SREREEARBCEARS L
HEH -
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41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 4. AR B EEMBLRAFHR
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by the RBEER ARAREEMNEEREZ
Company at the end of the reporting period are as follows: B ARFIBMT
Particulars of
Place of issued and fully
incorporation/ paid share
establishment/  capital/registered Principal
Name of subsidiaries operation capital Proportion of ownership interest held by the Company Proportion of voting power held by the Company activities

AL/ BRR
Ri/  #RRE/

KEAIER fens  aRERHE HALAER FARREL A HANDEEZ RERLA IEER
Directly Indirectly Dirgctly Indirectly
B [ f Ef B
2024 A3 2024 2023 2024 023 2024 023
“RIRE (ZTCZF |CRORE (ZTCDF |CRORE |ZFCSF |SRCRE (ZTCCF
Times Universal Canada Limited HongKong I share, HK$1 - — 100% 100% - - 100% 100% Investment
BRERMEAERAR) holding
BRERMEAERAR) &8 1k 1B RARR
Times Universal Group Limited HongKong 1 share, HKS1 100% 100% - — 100% 100% - - Investment
BREXEEERAA holding
BREREEERAA IR AR REER
Times Universal Victoria Holdings Limited Canada  1share, CADI - — 100% 100% - — 100% 100%  Hotel operation
Times Universal Victoria Holdings Limited nex O R-1n BELE
Times Universal Enterprise Limited HongKong 1 share, HKS! 100% 100% - = 100% 100% - = Investment
BREREZERAT holding
BREREZERAA B IR i REBR
Times Universal China Limited HongKong I share, HK$1 - - 100% 100% - - 100% 100% Investment
BRERREERAA holding
BREXPEERAA &8 1k 1En RERR
Times Universal Hong Kong Limited (Note d) ~ HongKong 1 share, HK$1 100% 100% - = 100% 100% - - Provision of
BRERERERAA administrative
support to group
companies
BREFERERAA (Hitd) B 1R 1En mEBARREHE
lEE
Ultimate Frontier Limited (Note ¢) BV 1share, US$I - — - 100% - - - 100% Investment
holding
Uttimate Frontier Limted (¥zc) iBRgEE R 1En RAER
Capital Knight Limited BV Ishare, USS1 - — 100% 100% - - 100% 100% Investment
holding
Capital Knight Limited ABRgEE R 1xn RARR
Easy Chase Limited (Note e) Hong Kong 1 share, HKS1 100% 100% - = 100% 100% - — Investment
EERRAA (fire) holding
EEERAF (e &Ik 1En REER
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41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 4. AR B EEWB L AR (E)
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)
Particulars of
Placeof issued and fully
incorporation/ paid share
establishment/  capital/registered Principal
Name of subsidiaries operation capital Proportion of ownership interest held by the Company Proportion of voting power held by the Company activities

AL/ BRR
Ri/  MRRE/

KEARER EEn¥  EREREE BARAREZFEERELH BALAREZREELA IEER
Directly Indirectly Dirgctly Indirectly
B i E% B
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
ZEIME (ZBCZE [ZBCQE (ZBCcE |ZBomE |ZTCZF |CECRF |CRZE
Wanwei (Chongging) Business Management PRC  US$400,000 - = 100% 100% - - 100% 100% Investment
Co, Ltd.* paid-up holding
EE(ZR)LEERERLF registered capital
BE(ER)hEERARAR! BE 400000%T REER
FtRaliivs
Chongaing Wanwei Trading PRC  RMB2,000,000 - - 100% 100% - - 100% 100% Investment
Development Co., Lid.* paid-up holding
ERERRSERARDAS registered capital
EREREDERERAR HE ARE REER
2,000,007
Ry
Nuofute Property Management Co., Ltd. * PRC  RMB5,000,000 - — 100% 100% - — 100% 100% Properties
ERAERNEERERAA’ paid-up management
registered capital
ERRENNEERERAT HE ARE NxER
5,000,007
Eaithan
Freemaster Limited (Note f) BV Ishare, USS1 - 100% - = - 100% - = Investment
holding
Freemaster Limited (P f) iBRgEE R 1En RABR
Cherish Possession Limited (Note f) BV Ishare, USS1 - — - 100% - - - 100% Investment
holding
Cherish Possession Limited (F3£1) ABRzEE R 1xn REBR
Wise Profusion Enterprises Limited BVI Ishare, USS1 100% 100% - = 100% 100% - = Investment
BEALERAR holding
BERRERAR iBRuEE 1Rk 1En REER
Ultimate Well Limited BVl Lshare, USS1 100% 100% - = 100% 100% - = Investment
holding
Uttimate Well Limited iBRgEE 1R 1En RABR
Easy Reward Holdings Limited BVl Ishare, USS1 100% 100% - — 100% 100% - — Investment
holding
Easy Reward Holdings Limited iBrais 1k 1En RARR
Million Goal Limited HongKong 1 share, HKS1 - — 100% 100% - - 100% 100% Inactive
EHERAT
ERERAR & 1k 1B ERZK
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41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 4. AR B EEWB L AR (E)
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)
Particulars of
Placeof issued and fully
incorporation/ paid share
establishment/  capital/registered Principal
Name of subsidiaries operation capital Proportion of ownership interest held by the Company Proportion of voting power held by the Company activities

AL/ BRR
Ri/  HRRE/

KEAAER fens  aREREHE HANAER FARESL A HALDEEZ RERLA IEER
Directly Indirectly Dirgctly Indirectly
B i Ef B
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
ZEIME (ZBCZE [ZBCQE (ZBCcE |ZBomE |ZTCZF |CECRF |CRZE

(Global Winner Development Limited HongKong 1 share, HKS1 - = 100% 100% - = 100% 100% Investment

REERERAE holding

RERRERAA IR 1R REER

Chongging Alluojia® PRC  RMB5,000,000 - — 100% 100% - — 100% 100% Investment

ERFAFHBRBERAA unpaid holding
registered capital

ERFEAFHRBRBERAT HE ARE RAER
5,000,007
REhER

Chongging Haotai* PRC  RMB500,000 - = 100% 100% - - 100% 100% Properties

EETRRNEERERELLR paic-up management
registered capital

ERTRRNEERERRALR k| AE% NEER
5000007
EfihES

Chongaing Jia Duan Technology PRC  RMB2,000,000 - - 100% 100% - - 100% 100% Inactive
Company Limited * Unpaid
EENEERRARELL registered capital

i%ﬁ?%ﬂﬁﬁﬁé&&?” HE ARE Efi 30
2,000,007
AERER

Chongging Qi Chang Technology PRC  RMB5,000,000 - = 100% 100% - — 100% 100% Inactive
Company Limited"* Unpaid
EEREHRERAR registered capital

BROBRRERAA HE ARE LK
5,000,007
REhES

Chongging Allo Foods Limited* PRC  RMBI1,000,000 - = 100% 100% - - 100% 100% Catering
EEERRBBRAMN unpaid
registered capital

ERFARMARAA HE AR® 24
1,000,0007
AEEHER

Chongaing Luofu Foods Limited ™ (Note a) PRC  RMB1,000,000 - — 100% 100% - - 100% 100% Catering
ERRERMBRAT (i) unpaid
registered capital

ERRERRARAR (Hia) i AE® £
1,000,0007
AERER
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41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

A, KRR EEWE 2 RS (8)

(Continued)
Particulars of
Placeof issued and fully
incorporation/ paid share
establishment/  capital/registered Principal
Name of subsidiaries operation capital Proportion of ownership interest held by the Company Proportion of voting power held by the Company activities
HAL/ BEAR
A1/ HERE/
HEATRE Beny HMEAEE BALRBEZ ERRRL S BADRBEZREELA ITER
Directly Indirectly Dirgctly Indirectly
B [ f ER B
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
CRIMF |ZE-CF |ZRCRE (ZFoSF |ZCRE |2FC-F |CRCRF |2E0CF
Chongging Hong Jing Technology Culture PRC  RMB2,000,000 - = 100% = - - 100% S Ingctive
Company Limited* (Note b) Unpaid
EETRMNAUCERR A (HiED) registered capital
BRRRRRULARAR (M b) HE AE% Efi 3
2,000,007
X RAET
* For identification purpose only e E R
# Wholly-owned foreign enterprises # INEEBEE o
Notes: B A

(a)

(b)

(d)

)

None

This subsidiary was newly incorporated during the year ended
31 December 2023.

This subsidiary was newly incorporated during the year ended
31 December 2024.

This subsidiary was dissolved during the year ended 31
December 2024.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Times Universal
Enterprise Limited transferred the entire share capital of Times
Universal Hong Kong Limited to the Company and Times
Universal Hong Kong Limited becomes a direct wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Times Universal
China Limited transferred the entire share capital of Easy Chase
Limited to the Company and Easy Chase Limited becomes a
direct wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.

These subsidiaries and their subsidiary, Total Blossom as

disclosed in Note 23, were disposed during the year ended 31
December 2024.

of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at

the end of both years or during both years.

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

)

ZEMBRARIREBE_T-_=F+=A1
=+—RIEFEHFMELL -

ZEMBRARREBE_T_NF+=A
=+—RHIEFEHFMELL -

ZEMBRARREBE_T_NF+=A
=t+—HBLIEFERE-

REBEZT_=F+-A=+—HLFE -
BARIRERAIEBR AR MARREERA
RERB B AR A AN 2 DA A K& EFRIRER
EEBRABKARNRNANEEEEN B

NG

REBEZT_=F+-A=+—HILFE -
BRRETFBEERAGENANGEZER
ERAANEBRARBEEFRATKRA
ANBWNEEZEWBAR -

ZE M B A 7 R E M B 2 7] Total Blossom
(M 23 B R )VREBE T _UF
+—A=t—HLFEHE -

15 428 {0 AT /BB % A IR0 P 8 6 2 R s
EFEETERMEBES °
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42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

42. 7R R Z BRI R e R

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 7t FExT FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries N NIEVNGIPA - — —
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries AN NGIE S ] 3,755 2,830
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREEEY 290 206
4,045 3,036
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Other payables E’r&TH@ 8,387 8,855
Amounts due to subsidiaries AR NG — 2
Loan from the immediate B ﬁ@ % P
holding company 47,754 41,575
Bonds (E6a 20,181 20,181
Tax liabilities MIBEE 4,000 4,000
80,322 74,613
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REEEFHE (76,277) (71,577)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHBERABER
LIABILITIES (76,277) (71,577)
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY ERBERE
Other payable H A & 5RIB — 64
NET LIABILITIES BEFE (76,277) (71,641)
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BERREHE
Share capital N 441,350 441,350
Reserves L] (a) (517,627) (512,991)
TOTAL DEFICITS 48 155 4 (76,277) (71,641)

The Company’s statement of financial position was

ARAZHBRARNR T _AF=H

approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors

“THARBEESTSHERBEERNE I
on 26 March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by: :

HATALTRERE

Choi Yun Chor Tai Kwok Keung Kenny

=m0 HE R
Director Director

EF EBEF
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42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 42. AR 2 BRI R RFEHE R (E)
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)
Note (a): M (a)
Contribution Exchange Other Accumulated
reserve reserve reserve losses Total
HE G R RE Hip R ZitEER et

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THTT THT THT THT THT

At 1 January 2023 R-_ZE-_=9—H—H 8,478 (12,623) = (502,730) (506,875)
Loss and total comprehensive 74F & E518 &
expense for the year 2HEMY A% — — — (6,116) (6,116)
At 31 December 2023 RZTZ=F
+=-—A=+—H 8,478 (12,623) — (508,846) (512,991)
Loss and total comprehensive Z4F & E518 &
expense for the year 2HEMA B — — 10 (4,646) (4,636)
At 31 December 2024 R-Z-_mF

+=ZA=t+—H 8,478 (12,623) 10 (513,492) (517,627)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR

LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

RRRREEEZERERA A

—EFEHR

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

EFEBEHSE

GARERHEMEEWER

Year ended 31 December
BZE+-A=t-HLEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—ENE| 2= —T--F —T--— —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(FHx) (F%&1) (F&1) (F#&1T) (F%)
Revenue from continuing BELEEREE
operations 110,776 101,560 96,055 77,700 58,803
Loss before tax from continuing # & 48 & £ 7%k
operations HAIEE (6,715) (2,085) (28,313) (24,728) (79,969)
Loss after income tax and BRETGHEARAT
attributable to owner of the e ANELER
Company (7,496) (8,290) (28,348) (20,940) (78,780)
Basic loss per share/(HK cents) EREAREE (B1l)
— From continuing operations — 35 &L &% (0.69) (0.76) (2.21) (1.60) (8.52)
— From discontinued — BRIEERER
operation — S (0.38) (0.32) —
Diluted loss per share/(HK cents) &% 85 &5 18
(1)
— From continuing operations — EFBE L ¥ N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
TEA TEA TEA TERA TEA
— From discontinued — BRIEERER

operation
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AFEMBHRE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL SFaMBRRE
POSITION
As at 31 December
Rt=—A=+-RH
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—ENE| 2= —T--—F —T--— —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(F#Ex) (F%&1) (F%&1) (F%&L) (&L
Non-current assets ERBEE 89,564 102,751 108,584 125,415 129,687
Current assets MBEE 20,415 17,629 28,727 56,294 61,233
Current liabilities EI=RE (138,369) (134,912) (131,382) (131,786) (88,549)
Net current liabilities REBABETFE (117,954) (117,283) (103,155) (75,492) (27,316)
Non-current liabilities ERBEaE (7,288) (8,921) (20,295) (33,649) (66,645)
Net (liabilities) assets (AB)EEFE (35,678) (23,453) (14,866) 16,274 35,726
Share information (HK$) ROBER (Bx)
Highest share price RakE 0.124 $0.088 $0.136 $0.14 $0.26
Lowest share price RIERE 0.021 $0.023 $0.060 $0.07 $0.12
Year end closing share price  F U E 0.028 $0.023 $0.088 $0.07 $0.13
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